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In 2022, Petco once again demonstrated 
our ability to deliver Purpose Driven 
Performance, achieving our 17th 
consecutive quarter of comparable  
sales growth.

We continued to support pet parents with our 
one-of-a-kind health and wellness ecosystem, 
helping them provide exceptional care at every 
stage of their pet’s life through differentiated 
food, merchandise, and services. As we lean 
into our long-term 360-degree care strategy, 
we are positioning ourselves to pull away from 
the pack by best leveraging the macro trends of 
humanization and premiumization.

In a resilient category that continues to grow 
through economic cycles, this year Petco 
delivered comparable sales growth of 5%, 
revenue growth of 4%, and our 16th consecutive 
quarter of customer growth, adding a million 
new customers in the year.  

These results speak to our ability to execute 
against a clear long-term strategy while 
remaining agile to changing environments. And 
we’ve done so because Petco has some of the 
most incredible people in retail, all contributing 
their knowledge, passion, and ideas to taking 
care of our customers and shaping Petco’s 
future as a leader in pet health and wellness.    

TOTAL ACTIVE CUSTOMERS

25 million

FULL YEAR ADJUSTED EBITDA1

$582 million

RECURRING CUSTOMER REVENUE

+$1 billion

FULL YEAR REVENUE

$6 billion
+4% YoY
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SERVICES EXPANSION

The scaling of our services, including veterinary, 
grooming, and training, continued to be a growth driver 
for Petco. For our veterinary services in particular, 
between our full-service veterinary hospitals and Vetco 
clinics, we now have a veterinary presence at 90% of our 
locations. With 247 full-service hospitals and a total of 
almost 58,000 Vetco clinics run in 2022, we were able 
to provide lifesaving prevention, diagnosis, and treatment 
for millions of pets.

Business Growth 
and Delivery 
Against Strategy

Veterinarians added 
to our ecosystem

Vetco clinicsFull-service vet hospitals

247 ~

BY END OF FISCAL 2022, WE REACHED:

58K 1.1K~

The triumvirate of record veterinarian hires and strong 
retention, enhancements in online booking, and innovation 
in medical technology signifi cantly boosted transaction 
volume, translating into double-digit comparable sales 
growth in our veterinary business for the full year.

Our veterinarians love working at Petco. More importantly, 
because of their passion, our industry partnerships, 
training programs, and advances in medicine, including 
AI radiology diagnostics and handheld ultrasound, we are 
redefi ning what a veterinary network looks like.

PETS SEEN 
IN 2022

1.9M
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FURTHERING DIFFERENTIATION

When it comes to merchandise, we continue to 
differentiate with a unique assortment of products,  
the majority of which can’t be found in mass or grocery 
channels, especially as pet parents continue to lean in  
to premiumization and humanization. 

The addition of leading brands including Stella & Chewy’s, 
Backcountry, and Yummers, as well as expansions with 
JustFoodForDogs, not only continue to drive sales but 
also draw in new pet parents. Moreover, our owned brand 
assortment resonates powerfully with customers, both in 
the premium and value-orientated spaces. 

Our owned brands including WholeHearted, Reddy, Youly, 
Leaps & Bounds, and EveryYay are perhaps the clearest 
example of how our health and wellness focus blends with 
our creativity and innovation to provide a differentiated 
merchandise offering for pet families. 

Petco’s footprint also continues to expand. Our number 
one Mexico business continues to strengthen, expanding 
our position in this expanding market. And we launched 
our rural store test pilot, connecting Petco to local 
communities and capturing share of this rapidly growing 
market with a differentiated multi-pet specialty offering 
unmet by competitors.

And through new strategic partnerships with Lowe’s, 
Canadian Tire, Nationwide Insurance, and Marriott,  

11
Consecutive 
quarters of  
B&M growth

5
New rural  
pilot  
locations

we’re creating synergies with combined customer bases, 
furthering our reach and supporting humanization trends 
around pets and their wellbeing.  

MEMBERSHIP LOYALTY

When it comes to growing our customer base through 
data and memberships, 2022 saw us simplify and unify  
all our memberships under the “Vital Care” program. 

As of today, we have over half a million members in our 
paid-for “Vital Care Premier” program, and 24 million 
“Vital Care Core” members, cementing Vital Care as a 
convenient, accessible, and affordable tool for customers 
as they navigate pet parenting.  

In addition to providing tailored benefits, savings, and 
advice to pet parents, Vital Care drives loyalty and brings 
them further into our ecosystem. Premier members have 
a 3.6x higher lifetime value than non-members. Members 
visit more and see a lift in spend across all categories – 
including supplies, consumables, and services.  

Vital Care is the embodiment of how Petco provides the 
full complement of pet care that no one can replicate. 
We’ll continue to innovate the program with an enduring 
focus on growing, engaging, and retaining our health-
conscious customer base.

Vital Care Premier  
memberships

500K+

Double 
Digit 
Digital  
growth

13%
Consumables 
growth  
YOY
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Our Petco partners are, without doubt, our heroes.  
As a company, we have committed that as Petco does 
better, our partners do better, and we have expanded  
our benefits and policies to help our people thrive.

We are happy to acknowledge and reward our partners 
for their passion and dedication. This has included 
performance bonuses to recognize incredible work, 
keeping benefit premiums flat for four consecutive years 
while also evolving them to fit their lives – including 
parental leave, fertility, and adoption coverage – and 
raising our base hourly wage to ensure every non-trainee 
partner makes at least $15 per hour.

Petco is not only an enjoyable place to work, but it’s 
also a place to grow. We continue to evolve our training 
programs to provide our partners with the skills they need 
to provide the best care and support for pets and pet 
parents, and grow in their careers.

2022 saw our first in-person Leadership Summit in three 
years, gathering our pet care center, veterinary, and field 
leadership together to collaborate and inspire each other. 

4

It was the perfect opportunity to remind ourselves that 
the transformations Petco has made in the last few years 
have all been driven by our Petco partners. We also 
celebrated our top performing partners at our 2022  
Epic Achiever event in San Diego.

In particular, I’m most proud of the more than 200 pet 
care center partners now enrolled in our Registered Vet 
Tech program. In collaboration with Penn Foster, we’re 
helping partners become veterinary professionals where 

Whether it’s through efforts from our 
seven partner resource groups, or the 
consistent collaboration between our 
teams, we continue to make Petco an 

appealing and purposeful place to work.

Partners  
As Heroes
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PET CARE CENTER 
PARTNERS 

ENROLLED IN 
REGISTERED VET 
TECH PROGRAM

200+
the costs might have been a barrier, as well as building 
home grown talent for our rapidly growing vet business.

Overall, the impact has been signifi cant, with 2022 seeing 
increased applications and improved overall retention 
year-over-year among our pet care center partners, 
and increased diversity in new hires across our pet care 
centers, support centers, and distribution centers.

I love connecting with our partners during visits to our pet 
care, distribution, and support centers as they consistently 
inspire and challenge us. A sense of community is the glue 
that binds the business together. Whether it’s through 
eff orts from our seven partner resource groups, or the 
consistent collaboration between our teams, we continue 
to make Petco an appealing and purposeful place to work. 
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As we think about the full year, I’m immensely proud of 
the positive impact Petco continues to make on the world 
around us by taking care of pets, people, and preserving 
our planet both now and for years to come.

In sustainability and responsibility, we continued the 
progress made over the last three years. Petco was ranked 
in the top 12% in the retail industry in the S&P Global 
CSA (Dow Jones Sustainability Index Assessment) as of 
December 2022 – our first time ranking on this index. 
This year our efforts on ESG initiatives resulted in year-
over-year improvements across all of Petco’s priority  
ESG ratings. 

Specifically, we convened a sustainability task force 
to support and catalyze sustainability efforts across 
the organization – including energy, water, and plastic 
reduction. We made meaningful progress against our 
sustainability efforts – including programs with our 
local communities and suppliers – and developed 
an environmental dashboard to gauge progress on a 
quarterly basis.
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PETCO LOVE

Through our partnership with Petco Love, we’ve helped 
save nearly 7 million pet lives to date. And through its 
Vaccinated and Loved initiative, Petco Love reached its 
goal of distributing over one million free vaccines to pets 
in under-resourced communities, giving all pets the best 
chance to live long and healthy lives. 

Since that milestone, Petco Love has distributed an 
additional 430,000 free pet vaccines to its partners, 
bringing the total number of free pet vaccines distributed 
as part of its Vaccinated and Loved initiative to more than 
1.4 million to date. 

As part of Petco Love’s Love Lost program more than 
17,000 pets were reunited with their loving families – 
leveraging a searchable database of over 100,000 pets 
in 2,000 shelters and using innovative facial recognition 
technology. 

Purpose  
in Action

in the retail 
industry in the 
S&P Global CSA

12%
PETCO RANKED IN THE TOP
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searchable pets

shelter locations

100K+

2K

LEVERAGING OUR DATABASE OF

ACROSS
pets with their 
loving parents

17K
REUNITED MORE THAN

Both these initiatives are just a small part of the 
incredible work Petco Love does with shelters and foster 
organizations across the country, making meaningful 
impacts to pet and pet parent lives every day.

And speaking personally, I’m grateful for Petco Love 
and Priceless Pet Rescue for helping me fi nd the newest 
member of the Coughlin family and Petco’s new Chief 
Dog Offi  cer, our sweet chocolate lab Yogi. 

Additionally, I’m proud we also established the Yummy 
Memorial Pet Cancer Fund, a fi nancial resource to our 
partners to cover the costly treatment of pet cancer. 

Pet cancer is one of the biggest threats to a pet’s life, 
and unfortunately, many pet families can’t aff ord 
treatment. We’re proud that in partnership with Blue 
Buff alo we can help our partners have many more 
happy and healthy years with their beloved family pets.
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Ron Coughlin
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

1 Non-GAAP financial measure; please refer to the section titled “Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures to GAAP Measures” beginning on page 52 of the 
company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 28, 2023 for definitions and reconciliations of Non-GAAP to GAAP financial metrics, including an 
explanation of updates that the company has made to its calculations of certain Non-GAAP financial measures.

Gratitude and 
Optimism

After almost five years as CEO, I remain in  
awe of how far we’ve come on our health  
and wellness transformation. 

Petco’s future continues to be bright.  
I’m confident that we are heading into 2023 
with a resilient category, a strong operational 
foundation, and the innovation capabilities to 
meet the changing needs of pet parents and 
take the very best care of our partners. 

I want to extend my appreciation for the 
contributions our 29,000 partners make  
every single day, and my thanks to everyone 
who continues to support Petco on its  
purpose-driven growth path.
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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This letter contains “forward-looking statements” 
within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation 
Reform Act of 1995, as contained in Section 27A of the 
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, 
concerning expectations, beliefs, plans, objectives, goals, 
strategies, future events or performance and underlying 
assumptions and other statements that are other than 
statements of historical fact, including statements 
regarding: our expectations with respect to our revenue, 
expenses, profitability, and other operating results; our 
growth plans; our ability to compete effectively in the 
markets in which we participate; and execution on our 
transformation initiatives. Forward-looking and other 
statements in this letter may also address our progress, 
plans, and goals with respect to sustainability initiatives, 
and the inclusion of such statements is not an indication 
that these contents are necessarily material to investors 
or required to be disclosed in Petco’s filings with the 
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Such 
plans and goals may change, and statements regarding 
such plans and goals are not guarantees or promises 
that they will be met. In addition, historical, current, and 
forward-looking sustainability-related statements may be 
based on standards for measuring progress that are still 
developing, internal controls and processes that continue 
to evolve, and assumptions that are subject to change in 
the future.

Such forward-looking statements can generally be 
identified by the use of forward-looking terms such 
as “believes,” “expects,” “may,” “intends,” “will,” “shall,” 
“should,” “anticipates,” “opportunity,” “illustrative”, or 
the negative thereof or other variations thereon or 
comparable terminology. Although we believe that 
the expectations and assumptions reflected in these 
statements are reasonable, there can be no assurance 
that these expectations will prove to be correct or that 
any forward-looking results will occur or be realized. 
Nothing contained in this letter is, or should be relied 
upon as, a promise or representation or warranty as to 
any future matter, including any matter in respect of our 
operations or business or financial condition. All forward-
looking statements are based on current expectations 
and assumptions about future events that may or may 
not be correct or necessarily take place and that are 
by their nature subject to significant uncertainties and 
contingencies, many of which are outside of our control.

Forward-looking statements are subject to many risks, 
uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual 
results or events to differ materially from the potential 
results or events discussed in such forward-looking 
statements, including, without limitation, those identified 
in this letter as well as the following: (i) increased 
competition (including from multi-channel retailers and 
e-Commerce providers); (ii) reduced consumer demand 
for our products and/or services; (iii) our reliance on key 
vendors; (iv) our ability to attract and retain qualified 
employees; (v) risks arising from statutory, regulatory 
and/or legal developments; (vi) macroeconomic 
pressures in the markets in which we operate including 
inflation and prevailing interest rates; (vii) failure to 
effectively manage our costs; (viii) our reliance on our 
information technology systems; (ix) our ability to prevent 
or effectively respond to a privacy or security breach; (x) 
our ability to effectively manage or integrate strategic 
ventures, alliances or acquisitions and realize the 
anticipated benefits of such transactions; (xi) economic 
or regulatory developments that might affect our 
ability to provide attractive promotional financing; (xii) 
business interruptions and other supply chain issues; (xiii) 
catastrophic events, political tensions, conflicts and wars 
(such as the ongoing conflict in Ukraine), health crises, 
and pandemics; (xiv) our ability to maintain positive brand 
perception and recognition; (xv) product safety and 
quality concerns; (xvi) changes to labor or employment 
laws or regulations; (xvii) our ability to effectively manage 
our real estate portfolio; (xviii) constraints in the capital 
markets or our vendor credit terms; (xix) changes in 
our credit ratings; and (xx) the other risks, uncertainties 
and other factors identified under “Risk Factors” and 
elsewhere in our SEC filings. The occurrence of any such 
factors could significantly alter the results set forth in 
these statements.

We caution that the foregoing list of risks, uncertainties 
and other factors is not complete, and forward-looking 
statements speak only as of the date they are made. 
We undertake no duty to update publicly any such 
forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new 
information, future events or otherwise, except as may be 
required by applicable law, regulation or other competent 
legal authority.
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Note on the Presentation

Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, refeff rences in this Annual Report on Form 10-
K to (i) “Petco,” “our company,” “we,” “our,” and “us,” or like terms, refeff r to Petco Health and Wellness Company,
Inc. and/or its subsidiaries, individually and/or collectively, and (ii) “common stock” refeff r to our Class A common
stock, our Class B-1 common stock and our Class B-2 common stock, collectively. Refeff rences to our certififf cate of
incorporr ation and bylaws are to our second amended and restated certififf cate of incorporr ation and our second
amended and restated bylaws, respectively.

We are currently indirectly controlled by certain fundsff (the “CVC Funds”) that are advised and/or managed
by CVC Capia tal Partners (“CVC”) and Canada Pension Plan Investment Board, a Canadian company (together with
its affff iff liates, “CPP Investments” and, together with the CVC Funds, our “Sponsors”). Our Sponsors primarily
exercise their control through Scooby Aggregator, LP (our “Principal Stockholder”).

We report on the basis of a 52- or 53-week fiff scal year, which ends on the Saturt day closest to Januaryrr 31.
Refeff rences to “fiff scal year” mean the year in which that fiff scal year began. For example, refeff rences to fiff scal 2022
refeff r to the fiff scal year beginning Januaryrr 30, 2022 and ending Januaryrr 28, 2023.

Industry and Market Datay

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes market data and forff ecasts with respect to the pet care industry.rr
Although we are responsible forff all of the disclosure contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, in some cases
we rely on and refeff r to market data and certain industryrr forff ecasts that were obtained frff om third-party surveys,
market research, consultant surveys, publicly availabla e inforff mation and industryrr publications and surveys that we
believe to be reliabla e. Unless otherwise indicated, all market and industryrr data and other statistical inforff mation and
forff ecasts contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are based on independent industryrr publications,
government publications, reports by market research fiff rms or other published independent sources, such as
Packaged Facts, and other externally obtained data that we believe to be reliabla e. Some market and industryrr data,
and statistical inforff mation and foff recasts, are also based on management’s estimates, which are derived frff om our
review of internal surveys as well as the independent sources refeff rred to abovea . Any such market data, inforff mation
or forff ecast may prove to be inaccurate because of the method by which we obtain it or because it cannot always be
verififf ed with complete certainty given the limits on the availabia lity and reliabia lity of raw data, the voluntaryrr naturt e
of the data gathering process, and other limitations and uncertainties, including those discussed under the capta ion
“Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. As a result, although we believe that these
sources are reliabla e, we have not independently verififf ed the inforff mation.
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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forff ward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reforff m Act of 1995, as contained in Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended
(the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”),
concerning expectations, beliefsff , plans, objectives, goals, strategies, futff urt e events or perforff mance and underlying
assumptions and other statements that are other than statements of historical faff ct, including statements regarding:
our expectations with respect to our revenue, expenses, profiff tabia lity, and other operating results; our growth plans;
our abia lity to compete effff eff ctively in the markets in which we participate; the execution on our transforff mation
initiatives; and the impact of certain macroeconomic faff ctors, including inflff ationaryrr pressures, global supply chain
constraints and global economic and geopolitical developments, on our business. Forward-looking and other
statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may also address our progress, plans, and goals with respect to
sustainabia lity initiatives, and the inclusion of such statements is not an indication that these contents are necessarily
material to investors or required to be disclosed in our fiff lings with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.
Such plans and goals may change, and statements regarding such plans and goals are not guarantees or promises that
they will be met. In addition, historical, current, and forff ward-looking sustainabia lity-related statements may be based
on standards forff measuring progress that are still developing, internal controls and processes that continue to evolve,
and assumptions that are subject to change in the futff urt e.

Such forff ward-looking statements can generally be identififf ed by the use of forff ward-looking terms such as
“believes,” “expects,” “may,” “intends,” “will,” “shall,” “should,” “anticipates,” “opportunit ty,” “illustrative”, or the
negative thereof or other variations thereon or comparabla e terminology. Although we believe that the expectations
and assumptions reflff ected in these statements are reasonabla e, there can be no assurance that these expectations will
prove to be correct or that any foff rward-looking results will occur or be realized. Nothing contained in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K is, or should be relied upon as, a promise or representation or warranty as to any futff urt e matter,
including any matter in respect of our operations or business or fiff nancial condition. All forff ward-looking statements
are based on current expectations and assumptions abouta futff urt e events that may or may not be correct or necessarily
take place and that are by their naturt e subject to signififf cant uncertainties and contingencies, many of which are
outside of our control.

Forward-looking statements are subject to many risks, uncertainties and other faff ctors that could cause actuat l
results or events to diffff eff r materially frff om the potential results or events discussed in such foff rward-looking
statements, including, without limitation, those identififf ed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K as well as the
folff lowing: (i) increased competition (including frff om multi-channel retailers and e-Commerce providers); (ii)
reduced consumer demand forff our products and/or services; (iii) our reliance on key vendors; (iv) our abia lity to
attract and retain qualififf ed employees; (v) risks arising frff om statutt ory,rr regulatoryrr and/or legal developments; (vi)
macroeconomic pressures in the markets in which we operate, including inflff ation and prevailing interest rates; (vii)
faff ilure to effff eff ctively manage our costs; (viii) our reliance on our inforff mation technology systems; (ix) our abia lity to
prevent or effff eff ctively respond to a privacy or security breach; (x) our abia lity to effff eff ctively manage or integrate
strategic venturt es, alliances or acquisitions and realize the anticipated benefiff ts of such transactions; (xi) economic or
regulatoryrr developments that might affff eff ct our abia lity to provide attractive promotional fiff nancing; (xii) business
interruptr ions and other supply chain issues; (xiii) catastrophic events, political tensions, conflff icts and wars (such as
the ongoing conflff ict in Ukraine), health crises, and pandemics; (xiv) our abia lity to maintain positive brand
perception and recognition; (xv) product safeff ty and quality concerns; (xvi) changes to labora or employment laws or
regulations; (xvii) our abia lity to effff eff ctively manage our real estate portfolff io; (xviii) constraints in the capia tal markets
or our vendor credit terms; (xix) changes in our credit ratings; and (xx) the other risks, uncertainties and other
faff ctors identififf ed herein under “Risk Factors” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations.” The occurrence of any such faff ctors could signififf cantly alter the results set forff th in these
statements.

We caution that the forff egoing list of risks, uncertainties and other faff ctors is not complete, and forff ward-looking
statements speak only as of the date they are made. We undertake no duty to update publicly any such forff ward-
looking statement, whether as a result of new inforff mation, futff urt e events or otherwise, except as may be required by
appla icabla e law, regulation or other competent legal authority.
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In addition, statements such as “we believe” and similar statements reflff ect our beliefsff and opinions on the
relevant subject. These statements are based on inforff mation availabla e to us as of the date of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. While we believe that inforff mation provides a reasonabla e basis forff these statements, that inforff mation
may be limited or incomplete. Our statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive
inquiryrr into, or review of,ff all relevant inforff mation. These statements are inherently uncertain, and investors are
cautioned not to unduly rely on these statements.

Risk Factors Summary

Investing in our securities involves a high degree of risk. The folff lowing is a summaryrr of the principal faff ctors
that make an investment in our securities speculative or risky, all of which are more fulff ly described below in the
section titled “Risk Factors.” This summaryrr should be read in conjunction with the “Risk Factors” section and
should not be relied upon as an exhaustive summaryrr of the material risks faff cing our business. In addition to the
folff lowing summary,rr you should consider the inforff mation set forff th in the “Risk Factors” section and the other
inforff mation contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K beforff e investing in our securities.

Risii ks Relatll ett d tott Our Businii ess

• A decline in consumer spending or a change in consumer prefeff rences or demographia cs could reduce our
sales or profiff tabia lity and adversely affff eff ct our business.

• The growth of our business depends in part on our abia lity to accurately predict consumer trends,
successfulff ly introduce new products and services, improve existing products and services, and expand
into new offff eff rings.

• Competition in the markets in which we operate, including internet-based competition, is strong and if
we are unabla e to compete effff eff ctively, our abia lity to generate sales may suffff eff r and our operating income
and net income could decline.

• We may be unabla e to execute our growth strategies successfulff ly or manage and sustain our growth and,
as a result, our business may be adversely affff eff cted.

• We may experience diffff iff culties recruirr ting and retaining skilled veterinarians due to shortages that could
disruptrr our business.

• We faff ce various risks as an e-commerce retailer.

• If we faff il to generate or obtain suffff iff cient capia tal to fiff nance our growth strategies, we may be unabla e to
sustain our growth and our business may be adversely affff eff cted.

• A disruptrr ion, malfuncff tion, or increased costs in the operation, expansion, or replenishment of our
distribution centers or our supply chain would affff eff ct our abia lity to deliver to our locations and e-
commerce customers or increase our expenses, which could harm our sales and profiff tabia lity.

• We occasionally seek to grow our business through acquisitions of or investments in new or
complementaryrr businesses, products, or services, or through strategic venturt es, and the faff ilure to
successfulff ly identifyff these opportunit ties, manage and integrate these acquisitions, investments, or
alliances, or to achieve an adequate returt n on these investments, could have an adverse effff eff ct on us.

• Negative publicity arising frff om claims that we do not properly care forff animals we handle or sell could
adversely affff eff ct how we are perceived by the public and reduce our sales and profiff tabia lity.

• Our quarterly operating results may flff uctuat te due to the timing of expenses, new pet care center
openings, pet care center closures, and other faff ctors.

• Pet consumabla es safeff ty, quality, and health concerns could adversely affff eff ct our business.

• Failure to attract and retain quality employees and experienced management personnel could adversely
affff eff ct our perforff mance.

• Our results may be adversely affff eff cted by serious disruptr ions or catastrophic events, including public
health issues, geopolitical events, and severe weather.
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Risii ks Relatll ett d tott Legale and Regue latll ortt yr MatMM ttt ett rsrr

• Failure to comply with governmental regulations or the expansion of existing or the enactment of new
laws or regulations appla icabla e to our veterinaryrr services could adversely affff eff ct our business and our
fiff nancial condition or lead to fiff nes, litigation, or our inabia lity to offff eff r veterinaryrr products or services in
certain states.

• Our marketing programs, e-commerce initiatives, and use of consumer inforff mation are governed by an
evolving set of laws and enforff cement trends, and changes in privacy laws or trends, or our faff ilure to
comply with existing or futff urt e laws, could substantially harm our business and results of operations.

• Failure to establa ish, maintain, protect, and enforff ce our intellectuat l property and proprietaryrr rights or
prevent third parties frff om making unauthorized use of our technology or our brand could harm our
competitive position or require us to incur signififf cant expenses to enforff ce our rights.

• We are party to routine litigation arising in the ordinaryrr course of business and may become involved in
additional litigation, all of which could require time and attention frff om certain members of management
and result in signififf cant legal expenses.

• We are subject to environmental, health, and safeff ty laws and regulations that could result in costs to us.

• We may faff il to comply with various state or feff deral regulations covering the dispensing of prescription
pet medications, including controlled substances, through our veterinaryrr services businesses, which may
subject us to reprimands, sanctions, probations, fiff nes, or suspensions.

• Our aspirations, goals, and initiatives related to sustainabia lity, and our public statements and disclosures
regarding them, expose us to numerous risks.

Risii ks Relatll ett d tott Our InII debtett dness

• Our substantial indebtedness could adversely affff eff ct our cash flff ows and prevent us frff om fulff fiff lling our
obligations under existing debt agreements.

• The agreements governing our indebtedness include restrictive covenants that limit our operating
flff exibility, which could harm our long-term interests.

• Our faff ilure to comply with the covenants contained in the credit agreements forff the First Lien Term
Loan and ABL Revolving Credit Facility, including as a result of events beyond our control, could
result in an event of defaff ult that could cause repayment of our debt to be accelerated.

• The amount of borrowings permitted under the ABL Revolving Credit Facility may flff uctuat te
signififf cantly, which may adversely affff eff ct our liquidity, results of operations, and fiff nancial position.

• A ratings downgrade or other negative action by a ratings organization could adversely affff eff ct the
trading price of the shares of our Class A common stock.

Risii ks Relatll ett d tott Our ClCC asll s A ComCC mon StSS octt k

• Our Sponsors have signififf cant inflff uence over us, including control over decisions that require the
appra oval of stockholders, which could limit your abia lity to inflff uence the outcome of matters submitted
to stockholders forff a vote.

• We are a “controlled company” within the meaning of the Nasdaq rulr es and, as a result, qualifyff forff , and
rely on, exemptions frff om certain corporr ate governance requirements. Accordingly, the holders of our
Class A common stock do not have the same protections as those affff orff ded to stockholders of companies
that are subject to such governance requirements.

• We are a holding company with nominal net worth and will depend on dividends and distributions frff om
our subsidiaries to pay any dividends.

GeG neral Risii k FacFF tortt srr

• A signififf cant portion of our total outstanding shares may be sold into the market in the near futff urt e,
which could cause the market price of our Class A common stock to drop signififf cantly, even if our
business is doing well.
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• If our operating and fiff nancial perforff mance in any given period does not meet the guidance that we have
provided to the public or the expectations of our investors and analysts, our Class A common stock price
may decline.
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PART I

Item 1. Business.

Our Company

Founded in 1965, Petco is a category-rr defiff ning health and wellness company focff used on improving the lives of
pets, pet parents, and our own Petco partners. Building on more than 55 years of providing solutions forff pets and the
people who love and care forff them, in recent years, we have transforff med our business frff om a successfulff yet
traditional retailer to a disruptrr ive, fulff ly-integrated, omnichannel provider of holistic pet health and wellness
offff eff rings, including premium products, services, and veterinaryrr care. As a result, we’ve consistently set new
standards in pet care while delivering comprehensive pet wellness products, services, and solutions, and creating
communities that deepen the pet-pet parent bond.

Through our integrated ecosystem, we provide our over 25 million total active customers with a
comprehensive offff eff ring of diffff eff rentiated products and services to fulff fiff ll their pets’ health and wellness needs
through our more than 1,500 pet care centers in the U.S., Mexico, and Puerto Rico, our digital channel, and our
flff exible fulff fiff llment options. To furff ther enhance the reach of our product offff eff ring and expand our customer base,
we’ve implemented partnerships with Lowe’s Companies, Inc. and Canadian Tire Corporr ation to develop innovative
store-in-store concepts at select Lowe’s and Canadian Tire locations that offff eff r a curated assortment of our products.

Additionally, in 2022, we launched our expansion into rurrr al markets with the opening of our fiff rst
Neighborhood Farm & Pet Supply pet care centers, which serve as one-stop shops forff health and wellness solutions
forff pets and faff rm animals in rurr al communities. These brand-new, stand-alone retail locations are strategically and
conveniently situat ted at the heart of rapia dly growing communities, providing us with an opportunit ty to capta urt e
signififf cant incremental market share and share of wallet gains. As of Januaryrr 28, 2023, we had 5 total Neighborhood
Farm & Pet Supply pet care centers across Texas, North Carolina, and Kentuct ky.

Our product offff eff ring leverages a broad, carefulff ly curated assortment of owned and exclusive merchandise,
providing customers with high quality and health-focff used nutrition frff ee frff om artififf cial ingredients, complemented by
a wide variety of premium pet care supplies and companion animals. While we offff eff r pet parents a fulff l spectrumr of
product choices within our high standards of nutrition and quality, our assortment is weighted towards premium
products to address ongoing humanization and premiumization trends in the market.

We integrate our product offff eff ring with our services business, building on the foundaff tion of treating the whole
pet, including their physical, mental and social well-being. Our service offff eff ring includes a broad suite of pet health
services, including veterinaryrr care, grooming, and training. Leveraging our decade of experience in Vetco mobile
clinics, which we operate appra oximately 1,200 of on a weekly basis, we are growing our network of fulff l service,
general practice veterinaryrr hospitals complemented by tele-health, prescription and insurance. As of Januaryrr 28,
2023, we operated 247 fulff l service veterinaryrr hospitals.

Our multichannel, go-to-market strategy integrates our strong digital assets with our nationwide physical
footff prt int to meet the needs of pet parents who are looking forff a single source forff all their pet’s needs. Petco.com, our
e-commerce site, and the Petco app,a our personalized mobile app,a together serve as hubs forff pet parents to book
appoia ntments and manage their pets’ health, wellness, and merchandise needs, while enabla ing them to shop
wherever, whenever, and however they want. By leveraging our extensive physical network of 1,430 pet care
centers across the U.S. and Puerto Rico, we are abla e to offff eff r our comprehensive product and service offff eff ring in a
localized manner with a meaningfulff last-mile advantage over much of our competition. Through our connected
platforff m, we serve our customers in a diffff eff rentiated manner by offff eff ring the convenience of repeat delivery,rr buy
online and pick up in store (“BOPUS”), curbsr ide pick-up, same day delivery,rr and ship frff om store. In addition to
providing diffff eff rentiated products and services, our over 26,000 knowledgeabla e, passionate partners in our pet care
centers provide important high-quality advice to our customers.

The fulff l value of our health and wellness omnichannel ecosystem is realized forff customers through our Vital
Care membership program. In Januaryrr 2023, we unififf ed our over 25 million active customers within a two-tiered
offff eff ring under Vital Care—Vital Care Core, our frff ee membership tier, and Vital Care Premier, our paid membership
tier—trr o provide forff an integrated omnichannel experience. Former members of our Pals Rewards loyalty program,
who accounted forff over 85% of transactions in fiff scal 2022, were transitioned to Vital Care Core, while members of
our existing Vital Care program were transitioned to Vital Care Premier, with both tiers retaining the same benefiff ts,
and paid members, the same feff e. Sitting at the intersection of value and loyalty, Vital Care Premier makes it easier
and more affff orff dabla e forff pet parents to care forff their pet’s whole health all in one place, and provides pet parents with
a seamless connection to our diffff eff rentiated merchandise and services offff eff rings, while Vital Care Core continues to
provide customers with our historic suite of loyalty offff eff rings. Vital Care memberships are the keystone of our
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customer-centric model, serving as a driver of repeat visits and engagement among our customers, and we believe
the unififf cation of our loyalty and membership programs will enhance the overall customer experience by allowing
us to better view and serve our customers through a singular lens.

Industry Dynamics
The U.S. pet care industryrr is large and growing, serving millions of households with pets, and represented a

total addressabla e market of appra oximately $133 billion in 2022. Since 2008, the industryrr has exhibited steady
growth driven by an increase in the underlying pet population coupled with tailwinds associated with trends in pet
humanization and a mix-shiftff towards premiumization. Due to the essential, repeat naturt e of pet care, the industryrr
has demonstrated resilience and continued growth across economic cycles, as evidenced by the strong industryrr
perforff mance during the Great Recession frff om 2008 to 2010.

In addition, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the pet care industryrr experienced a signififf cant increase in
household pets and thereforff e demand. Beginning in fiff scal 2020, U.S. households welcomed millions of incremental
new pets into their homes that will need to be feff d, groomed, vaccinated, and treated during their lives. Importantly,
the maja ority of these new pet parents came frff om Millennial and Gen Z generations, who typically spend more on
their pets. With respect to our business, we are strategically focff used on growing our presence in three of the faff stest-
growing areas of the market: veterinaryrr care; e-commerce; and services.

As pet care demand continues to grow, over the long-term we believe we are well-positioned to expand our
total addressabla e market through new offff eff rings, and to capta urt e share of the growing market as a fulff ly-integrated,
comprehensive pet care provider. Our owned and exclusive merchandise is unique relative to other large players in
the category,rr driving competitive insulation and focff using on long-term growth categories within the pet industry,rr
like frff esh and frff ozen food,ff as well as premium nutrition and supplies more broadly.

The services categories we participate in within the U.S. are highly frff agmented. As consumer expectations
around customer experience, convenience, and technology evolve, we believe that we have a competitive advantage
versus our competition given the integrated digital experience that we provide our customers, including online
booking and customized care reminders, as well as our value offff eff rings like Vital Care Premier.

We believe that we have built competitive advantages through the breadth and depth of assortment of
premium health and wellness products, owned brands, services, and veterinaryrr care that we offff eff r across an
integrated omnichannel platforff m, though we do compete with various peers in individual categories, including both
large and small pet specialty retailers, e-commerce retailers, and mass and groceryrr retailers.

Our Transforff mation

Our transforff mation over the past fiff ve years into the health and wellness company forff pets and pet parents has
been driven by the relentless execution of our team of channel and categoryrr experts with best-in-class experience
frff om Fortunet 100 companies, combined with deep experience in retail led by our CEO and Chairman, Ron
Coughlin. Our highly qualififf ed leadership team has implemented signififf cant operational and culturt al changes in our
business, including a substantial acceleration of our digital capaa bia lities, optimizing the effff eff ctiveness of pet care
center partners through training, enhanced analytics tools and communications, step changing marketing and
customer engagement returt n on investment, launching an owned veterinaryrr hospital network, and scaling our pet
health and wellness offff eff rings. Specififf cally, we have:

Builii tll Leadinii g Omnichannel CapabiCC lii ill tii itt es thtt at Leverage our PhPP yh sical NeNN twtt orkrr . Following decades of the rise
of mega retailers and digital migration, we’ve entered a new era of retail, with consumers seeking fulff ly integrated
physical retail and omnichannel digital offff eff rings, brought together with sticky services and enhanced by continuous
innovation and an exceptional customer experience. Through that lens, we have developed a data-driven go-to-
market platforff m consisting of robust digital capaa bia lities and a strategic physical network of pet care centers woven
together by a singular view of the customer. Our transforff mation was catalyzed by the COVID-19 pandemic as pet
parents became increasingly comforff tabla e with digital interaction, coupled with a tangible returt n of retail traffff iff c in
2021 as consumers demonstrated that physical interaction was a critical way in which they want to interact with
their retailer too.

Through strategic investments, we’ve rebuilt our digital experience frff om the ground up beginning with
relaunching our e-commerce platforff m and building an appa to integrate with our ecosystem. We invested in
improving the speed, navigation, personalization, and services access of our website and appa to drive traffff iff c and
engagement. We focff used on optimizing site merchandising, dynamic pricing capaa bia lities, and leveraging advanced
analytics and precision marketing to drive customer acquisition, monetization, and retention.
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Further diffff eff rentiating our business and creating scale advantages, we leverage our physical footff prt int of pet
care centers as micro-distribution centers forff our digital orders, including BOPUS, curbsr ide pickup, same day
delivery,rr and ship frff om store. Nearly all of our 1,430 pet care centers in the U.S. and Puerto Rico offff eff r grooming
and training services, in addition to our 247 fulff l-service veterinaryrr hospitals and the appra oximately 1,200 Vetco
mobile clinics operated at our pet care centers on a weekly basis. We also operate 120 locations in Mexico through
our joint venturt e with Grupor Gigante.

Launched a FuFF llll -ll S- eSS rvice VeVV tett rinii aryr HosHH pis tii altt NeNN twtt ork,rr and Reinii ventett d GrGG oominii g and TrTT ainii inii g. Pet
services represent the most personalized, sticky, high-touch part of the pet market. In addition to acting as a
profiff tabla e driver of new customer acquisition, we believe our diffff eff rentiated service platforff m helps strengthen our
position by promoting customer retention, driving physical visit frff equency and digital engagement, increasing share
of wallet, and building long-term loyalty.

In veterinaryrr services, we are creating a new paradigm in the indusd tryrr with integrated owned hospitals under
the Vetco Total Care brand. In fiff scal 2017, we embarked on one of the faff stest veterinaryrr hospital build-outs in the
industryrr to address the growing need forff high quality, accessible pet healthcare consistent with our mission to
improve the lives of pets and pet parents. In March 2022, we announced our acquisition of Thrive Pet Healthcare’s
50% stake in our pet hospital joint venturt e (the “Acquisition”), which subsequently closed in the second quarter of
2022. The Acquisition resulted in the transition of nearly 100 locations to our Vetco Total Care hospital brand, as
well as the welcoming of over 750 veterinaryrr care profeff ssionals to our network of appra oximately 29,000 partners.
As of the end of fiff scal 2022, we operated a total of 247 fulff l-service veterinaryrr care hospitals, inclusive of the
hospitals acquired as part of the Acquisition. By integrating these veterinaryrr hospitals into existing pet care centers,
we benefiff t frff om signififf cant strucr turt al advantages compared to stand-alone veterinaryrr care providers, including lower
cost of acquisition and additional basket opportunit ties, driving both incremental service and merchandise sales, and
furff ther unlocking the large and growing prescription foodff and drugr total addressabla e market. In parallel with our
hospital unit growth, we’ve made considerabla e investments in our veterinarian value proposition, both with
enhanced total rewards programs as well unique scheduling opportunit ties that offff eff r the flff exibility to practice
autonomous medicine both in hospitals and in our mobile clinics. We believe this veterinaryrr model enhances
customer lifeff time value, drives retention, attracts talent, and delivers long-term value to our stakeholders.

In grooming, we have invested in digital integration, marketing, staffff compensation, and other operational
improvements, which have resulted in the acquisition of new customers, continued strong sales, and an increase in
both groomer hires and retention. In training, we have led with innovation, and in fiff scal 2021 we launched online
training classes that can be conducted at home.

CrCC eatett d a HiHH ghi lyll Difi fff eff rentitt atett d Owned and ExcEE lusive PrPP oduct OfO fff eff rinii g.We offff eff r a highly diffff eff rentiated
owned and exclusive product assortment that engenders strong customer loyalty and repeat purchasing. We have
focff used on three core product diffff eff rentiating capaa bia lities: nutritional expertise; exclusive partnerships; and a leading
owned brand platforff m. As a testament to our commitment to pet health and wellness, in May 2019 we made the
decision to pivot away frff om dog and cat foodff and treats that contain artififf cial ingredients, making us the only maja or
national retailer in the industryrr to take a stand against artififf cial ingredients in dog and cat food.ff We utilized a best
brands strategy to forff m new partnerships with some of the most highly regarded premium foodff brands in the
industry,rr such as JustFoodForDogs, with whom we expanded our partnership with in March 2022 and created an
exclusive owned brand WholeHearted line of frff ozen meals.

In 2019, we leveraged our establa ished owned brand platforff m and capaa bia lities to launch Reddy, a faff shion-
driven supplies brand, to complement WholeHearted, our owned foodff brand. In fiff scal 2022, we generated
appra oximately 27% of our product sales frff om owned brands—such as WholeHearted, Reddy, and Well & Good.
This not only enhances our merchandise mix, but also helps the Petco ecosystem attract and retain customers, and
offff eff rs an enhanced margin profiff le. The combination of our foodff and supplies strategy, including owned and
exclusive brands, has enabla ed us to offff eff r a diffff eff rentiated assortment of products, many of which are not availabla e via
online, mass, or groceryrr competitors.

ImII plm ell mentett d a PePP rfr orff mrr ance CuCC ltll ure Led by Datatt Analyll titt cs. Our singular view of the customer across
products and services channels, in combination with insights frff om our Vital Care membership program, online
purchasing, surveys, and third party data, provides us with access to some of the richest data in the pet category.rr By
investing in talent and data analytics capaa bia lities, over the past three years we’ve turt ned analytics and data science
into a competitive advantage, including advanced capaa bia lities in dynamic pricing, inventoryrr optimization,
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merchandising, personalization, and precision marketing. With the tools to capta urt e purchase, search, and services
utilization, as well as customer and pet demographia cs and prefeff rences, we generate a 360-degree view of customer
that serves as the foundaff tion of our data ecosystem.

To enhance decision-making, we implemented new capaa bia lities to leverage this data in our pet care centers,
making it availabla e in near real time forff our pet care center general managers and fiff eld leadership teams through
advanced sales reporting. We developed a user-frff iendly, action-focff used dashboard, which enabla es our managers to
track perforff mance across multiple dimensions, identifyff opportunt ities, and execute strategies to drive incremental
sales. We also simplififf ed the key metrics that we utilize to track perforff mance and align incentives against those
metrics by rolling out a revamped incentive strucr turt e across our fiff eld organization.

Marketing and Advertising

Over the last three years, we have signififf cantly elevated our marketing and media strategy, establa ishing
ourselves as a health and wellness leader in the pet category.rr This repositioning started with bold commitments to
pet health and wellness, frff om eliminating certain foodff and treats with artififf cial ingredients, and the removal of
human-operated and bark-activated shock collars and traditional rawhide products frff om our shelves, to becoming the
fiff rst national pet retailer to be certififf ed by American Humane. Underpirr nning our diffff eff rentiated positioning is our
precision marketing engine, which starts with appla ying advanced analytics and data science to our rich fiff rst party
data. We then deliver personalized messages to the highest value customers, enabla ing us to drive customer
acquisition, monetization, and retention across our ecosystem.

For more inforff mation regarding our transforff mative investments, please read “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Innovation and Transforff mation.”

Human Capital

Our ParPP tntt ersrr

Our employees, who we call Petco partners, are our most signififf cant assets, critical to the deliveryrr of our
transforff mation and our continued progress. As of Januaryrr 28, 2023, we had appra oximately 29,000 total partners. Our
over 26,000 pet care center partners offff eff r a level of customer engagement and content that is diffff eff rentiated in retail
and based on a truer passion forff pets. Our partners are primarily employed on an at-will basis and are compensated
through base salaryrr and incentive programs. We strive forff our partners to grow and develop in their careers, and
offff eff r competitive compensation and benefiff ts programs, incentive compensation, and a range of health and wellness
offff eff rings. None of our partners are represented by labora unions or covered by collective bargaining agreements. We
consider our relationship with our partners to be good.

Diversrr itii ytt and InII clusion

Our employees are our partners and we strive to create an environment that embraces diverse backgrounds and
perspectives. Our commitment to fosff tering a diverse, equitabla e, and inclusive environment is key to our mission of
improving the lives of pets, pet parents, and the Petco partners who work forff us. This commitment begins at the top,
where our CEO sets annual people goals related to achieving long term workforff ce diversity, equity, and inclusion
outcomes. Progress on our people goals is tracked and reviewed regularly with our executive team and our board of
directors, and serves as a component of our CEO’s compensation. We are committed to creating a culturt e where
partners feff el as if they can achieve their career goals through ongoing growth and development opportunit ties, and
faff ir and transparent perforff mance management and promotion processes. So that our partners feff el valued and heard,
we gather and respond to our partners’ feff edback, including, but not limited to, anonymous, periodic, forff mal, partner
engagement surveys, round tabla e sessions, and one-on-one interactions. Based on the feff edback received, leaders
review and create action plans in an effff orff t to drive meaningfulff changes in our business. In addition, all Petco leaders
participate in diversity, equity, and inclusion training aimed at building respect in the workplace.

ParPP tntt er ComCC munitii itt es

We believe that building and supporting connections between our partners and our communities creates a more
fulff fiff lling and enjoyabla e workplace experience. We have continued to expand our partner resource groups, which
enabla e partners to build connections among themselves and their communities, as well as our diversity, inclusion
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and belonging programs to encourage partners to bring their “whole selves” to work. Petco currently has seven
Partner Resource Groups that are foundaff tional to our culturt e of inclusion and belonging. Our current partner-led
Partner Resource Groups are: Ability at Petco; Black at Petco; LGBTQ+ at Petco; Pan Asian American at Petco;
Petcontigo (Latinx) at Petco; Militaryrr and Veterans at Petco; and Women at Petco. In partnership with our Diversity,
Equity, and Inclusion team, these seven groups faff cilitate engagement activities to increase culturt al competencies,
educate partners on issues faff cing affff iff nity group members, and deepen our workplace connections.

HeHH altll htt and SafSS eff tytt

The health, safeff ty, and overall well-being of our partners is a top priority. We are focff used on protecting and
supporting our partners, as well as the people and pets in our pet care centers and the communities we serve. The
Petco Partner Assistance Fund has provided over $2 million in fiff nancial support to nearly 2,000 Petco partners who
suffff eff red a hardship, including related to COVID-19, severe weather events, and naturt al disasters.

ComCC pem nsatitt on and Benefe iff tii stt
We provide competitive compensation and benefiff ts programs to help meet the needs of our partners and their

faff milies. In addition to base cash compensation, we offff eff r our partners a mix of annual bonuses, restricted stock
units, various incentive plans, an Employee Stock Purchase Plan, a 401(k) Plan, healthcare and insurance benefiff ts,
health savings and flff exible spending accounts, paid time offff ,ff faff mily leave, and a range of employee assistance
programs. Partners have experienced no increase in their healthcare benefiff t premiums since 2020, and investments
in feff rtility care, medical travel, and mental health benefiff ts were announced in 2022. In addition, we offff eff r a range of
webinars, trainings, and subscriptions to support our partners’ total wellbeing. Finally, in 2022, we announced that
everyrr non-trainee partner at Petco will be paid a base wage of at least $15 an hour. This change, along with other
adjustments, resulted in appra oximately 15% average wage increases forff our pet care center partners.

TalTT ell nt Developmll ent
We invest signififf cant resources to attract, develop, and retain top talent. In recent years, we have streamlined

methods forff setting executional priorities, provided comprehensive sales training, and developed store-level sales
marketing capaa bia lities. In fiff scal 2022, we are proud to have provided more than 400,000 hours of training across our
pet care center partners. In addition, nearly 50% of open General Manager and District General Managers positions
were fiff lled with internal promotions.

Distribution

We currently have seven primaryrr and two regional distribution centers in our network, which are located in
various parts of the United States, that handle almost all distribution forff our company. Our ship-frff om-store, BOPUS,
and curbsr ide programs enhance our distribution network, affff orff ding us the opportunit ty to utilize our pet care centers
as micro-distribution centers to more quickly and cost effff eff ctively serve our customers with a last-mile advantage.
During fiff scal 2022, 74% of our digital orders (including BOPUS, same day delivery,rr and ship-frff om-store) were
fulff fiff lled by pet care centers.

The maja ority of relationships we have with third-party domestic transportation and logistics providers are
governed by non-exclusive agreements that do not obligate us to minimum volume or feff es, and such agreements
may generally be terminated by either party on 45 days’ prior written notice.

Vendor Arrangements

In fiff scal 2022, we purchased merchandise frff om appra oximately 640 vendors. Our top 10 vendors represented
appra oximately 40% of our annual sales, and no single vendor accounted forff more than 8% of our sales. In addition,
we only sell the products we carryrr directly to consumers and primarily purchase our products directly frff om our
vendors rather than through third-party distributors. As such, we do not materially rely on third-party distributors to
conduct our business. We onboard our vendors using a standardized process to confiff rm their adherence to our
appla icabla e standards, policies, and procedures, including those relating to legal compliance, human rights, standard
payment terms, and product quality. These relationships are typically governed by our standard vendor terms and
conditions, under which we submit purchase orders to our vendors specifyiff ng the types, quantities, and agreed prices
forff merchandise that we intend to purchase frff om them. These agreements do not typically have minimum order
requirements or exclusivity obligations forff either party. Our terms and conditions do not have a set term, but instead
allow us to terminate the relationship forff convenience at any time upon written notice to the vendor. Our vendors
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generally may terminate the relationship on 90-days’ written notice but are obligated to fulff fiff ll or perforff m any
purchase order accepted prior to such notice.

Petco Love

Petco Love, forff merly the Petco Foundation, is a nonprofiff t organization changing lives by making communities
and pet faff milies healthier, stronger, and closer. It is a separately incorporrr ated 501(c)(3) nonprofiff t organization
supported both by contributions frff om us and contributions frff om Petco customers and community partners. Since its
foundiff ng in 1999, Petco Love has inspired and empowered animal welfaff re organizations to make a diffff eff rence,
investing more than $346 million in adoption and medical care programs, spay/neuter services, pet cancer research,
service and therapya animals, and numerous other lifeff saving initiatives. Through the Think Adoption First program,
Petco Love partners with our pet care centers and animal welfaff re organizations across the countryrr to increase pet
adoptions, helping nearly 7 million pets to date fiff nd their new loving faff milies.

In April 2021, Petco Love launched Petco Love Lost, a searchabla e databaa se that uses faff cial recognition
technology to help reunite lost pets with their faff milies should they ever go missing. To date, nearly 2,500 animal
welfaff re organizations and pet industryrr partners across the U.S. have adopted the platforff m, and Petco Love Lost has
helped returt n over 17,000 pets to their loving homes.

Launched in August 2021, Petco Love’s VacVV cinated and Loved initiative marked a signififf cant milestone when
it reached its one millionth frff ee pet vaccine distribution in September 2022, and subsequently committed to
distributing another one million frff ee pet vaccines. Since that milestone, Petco Love has distributed an additional
430,000 frff ee pet vaccines to its partners, bringing the total number of frff ee pet vaccines distributed as part of its
VacVV cinated and Loved initiative to more than 1.3 million to date. Distributing these much-needed vaccinations in
under-resourced communities is something Petco Love believes gives all pets the best chance to live long and
healthy lives.

Our Trademarks and Other Intellectual Property

We believe that our rights in our intellectuat l property, including trademarks and domain names, as well as
contractuat l provisions and restrictions on access to our proprietaryrr technology, are important to our marketing
effff orff ts to develop brand recognition and diffff eff rentiate our brand frff om our competitors. We own a number of
trademarks that have been registered, or forff which registration appla ications are pending, in the United States and
certain forff eign jurisdictions. These trademarks include Bond & Co., EveryYrr ay, Good 2 Go, Good Lovin’, Harmony,
Imagitarium, Leapsa & Bounds, Pals Rewards, Petco, Petco Love, PetCoach, PupBox, Reddy, RufRR fff & Mews, So
Phresh, Vetco, Well & Good, WholeHearted, You & Me, Youly, Vital Care Core, and Vital Care Premier. The
current registrations of these trademarks are effff eff ctive forff varyirr ng periods of time and may be renewed periodically,
provided that we, as the registered owner, or our licensees where appla icabla e, comply with all appla icabla e renewal
requirements including, where necessary,rr the continued use of the trademarks in connection with similar goods. We
expect to pursue additional trademark registrations to the extent we believe they would be benefiff cial and cost-
effff eff ctive.

In addition to trademark protection, we own numerous domain names, including petco.com. We also enter
into, and rely on, confiff dentiality and proprietaryrr rights agreements with our employees, consultants, contractors, and
business partners to protect our trade secrets, proprietaryrr technology, and other confiff dential inforff mation. We furff ther
control the use of our proprietaryrr technology and intellectuat l property through provisions in both our customer terms
of use on our website and in our vendor terms and conditions.

Government Regulation

We are subject to a broad range of feff deral, state, local, and forff eign laws and regulations intended to protect
public health, naturt al resources, and the environment. Our operations, including our owned brand manufaff cturt ing
outsourcing partners, are subject to regulation by the Occupational Safeff ty and Health Administration (“OSHA”), the
U.S. Food and Drugr Administration (the “FDA”), the U.S. Department of Agriculturt e (the “USDA”), the Drugr
Enforff cement Administration (the “DEA”), and by various other feff deral, state, local, and forff eign authorities
regarding the processing, packaging, storage, distribution, advertising, labea ling, and import of our products,
including foodff safeff ty standards. For more inforff mation, please read “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Legal and
Regulatoryrr Matters—Our operations are subject to extensive governmental regulation, and we may incur material
liabia lities under, or costs in order to comply with, existing or futff urt e laws and regulations. Our faff ilure to comply with
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such laws and regulations may result in enforff cements, recalls, and other adverse actions that could disruptr our
operations and adversely affff eff ct our fiff nancial results.”

The FDA regulates animal feff ed, including pet food,ff under the Federal Food, Drug,r and Cosmetic Act, (the
“FFDCA”), and its implementing regulations. Although pet foodsff are not required to obtain premarket appra oval
frff om the FDA, the FFDCA requires that all animal foodsff are safeff forff consumption, produced under sanitaryrr
conditions, contain no harmfulff substances, and are trutr hfulff ly laba eled. Most states also require that pet foodsff
distributed in the state be registered or licensed with the appra opriate state regulatoryrr agency. In addition, most
faff cilities that manufaff cturt e, process, pack, or hold foodsff , including pet foodsff , must register with the FDA and renew
their registration everyrr two years, and are subject to periodic FDA inspection. This includes most forff eign, as well as
domestic faff cilities. Registration must occur beforff e the faff cility begins its pet foodff manufaff cturt ing, processing,
packing, or holding operations.

The labea ling of pet foodsff is regulated by both the FDA and some state regulatoryrr authorities. FDA regulations
require proper identififf cation of the product, a net quantity statement, a statement of the name and place of business
of the manufaff cturt er or distributor, and proper listing of all the ingredients in order of predominance by weight. Most
states also enforff ce their own labea ling regulations, many of which are based on model defiff nitions and guidelines
developed by the Association of American Feed Control Offff iff cials (the “AAFCO”). AAFCO is a voluntary,rr non-
governmental membership association of local, state, and feff deral agencies that are charged with regulation of the
sale and distribution of animal feff ed, including pet foodsff . The degree of oversight of the implementation of these
regulations varies by state, but typically includes a state review and appra oval of each product labea l as a condition of
sale in that state.

The FDA also regulates the inclusion of specififf c claims in pet foodff labea ling. For example, pet foodff products
that are labea led or marketed with claims that may suggest that they are intended to treat or prevent disease in pets
would potentially meet the statutt oryrr defiff nitions of both a foodff and a drug.rr The FDA has issued guidance regarding
products that provide nutrients in support of an animal’s daily nutrient needs but which are also labea led as being
intended forff use to diagnose, cure, mitigate, treat, or prevent disease, thereby meeting the statutt oryrr defiff nitions of
both a foodff and a drug.r

Under Section 423 of the FFDCA, the FDA may require the recall of an animal feff ed product if there is a
reasonabla e probabia lity that the product is adulterated or misbranded and the use of or exposure to the product will
cause serious adverse health consequences or death. In addition, pet foodff manufaff cturt ers may voluntarily recall or
withdraw their products frff om the market.

Certain states have laws, rulrr es, and regulations that require that veterinaryrr medical practices be either wholly
owned or maja ority owned by licensed veterinarians and that corporr ations that are not wholly owned or maja ority
owned by licensed veterinarians refrff ain frff om providing, or holding themselves out as providers of,ff veterinaryrr
medical care, or directly employing or otherwise exercising control over veterinarians providing such care. In these
states and jurisdictions, we provide management and other administrative services to veterinaryrr practices rather than
owning such practices or directly employing the veterinarians providing medical care. Although we believe that we
have strucr turt ed our operations to comply with our understanding of the veterinaryrr medicine laws of each state and
jurisdiction in which we operate, interprr etive legal precedent and regulatoryrr guidance varies by jurisdiction and is
oftff en sparse and not fulff ly developed.

In addition, all of the states in which we operate impose various registration permit and/or licensing
requirements. To fulff fiff ll these requirements, we have registered each of our faff cilities with appra opriate governmental
agencies and, where required, have appoia nted a licensed veterinarian to act on behalf of each faff cility. All
veterinarians practicing in our animal wellness centers are required to maintain valid state licenses to practice and
veterinarians practicing in our fulff l-service hospitals are required to maintain valid licenses with the DEA. We are
also required to comply with state laws governing the dispensing of prescription pet medications by our
veterinarians. Additionally, our pet insurance plans must be registered with certain state departments of insurance
and comply with their requirements.

Available Inforff mation

Our website address is petco.com, and our investor relations website is ir.petco.com. We promptly make
availabla e on our investor relations website, frff ee of charge, the reports that we fiff le or furff nish with the U.S. Securities
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and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), corporrr ate governance inforff mation (including our Code of Business Conduct
and Ethics and Principles of Corporrr ate Governance) and select press releases. We fiff le annual reports on Form 10-K,
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy and inforff mation statements and amendments to
reports fiff led or furff nished pursuant to Sections 13(a), 14, and 15(d) of the Exchange Act. The SEC maintains a
website at sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and inforff mation statements and other inforff mation regarding Petco
and other issuers that fiff le electronically with the SEC.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

InvII esting in our securities involves uncertaintytt and risii k due to a varietytt of fff acff torsrr . YouYY shouldl carefe ulff lyll
consider the risii kskk described below with all of the other inforff mation included in thisii Annual Repore t on ForFF m 10-K.KK
FurFF ther,r the risii kskk and uncertainties described below are not the onlyll ones we facff e. Additional risii kskk not presentlyll
knowkk n to us or that we currentlyll deem immaterial may alsll o materiallyll affff eff ct our business. IfII any of the folff lowing
risii kskk were to occur,r our business, fiff nancial condition, and resultstt of operations could be materiallyll adversrr elyll
affff eff cted. InII that case, thett trading price of our Class A common stock could decline, and you could lose all or part of
your investmtt ent. ForFF a summaryr of these risii kskk , please read “R“ isii k FacFF torsrr Summaryr ,”yy which immediatelyll precedes
Part I,II ItII em 1 of thitt sii Annual Repe ort on ForFF m 10-K.KK

Risks Related to Our Business

A declill nii e inii consumer spes ndinii g or a change inii consumer prefe eff rences or demographics couldll reduce our salell s or
profiff tii abitt lii ill tii ytt and adversrr elyll affff eff ct our businii ess.

Our sales depend on consumer spending, which is inflff uenced by faff ctors beyond our control, including general
economic conditions, disruptr ion or volatility in global fiff nancial markets, changes in interest rates, inflff ation, the
availabia lity of discretionaryrr income and credit, weather, consumer confiff dence, and unemployment levels. We have
experienced, and could continue to experience, declines in sales of certain products and changes in the types of
products and services purchased during economic downturt ns. Our business could be harmed by any material decline
in the amount of consumer spending, which could reduce our sales, or a decrease in the sales of higher-margin
products, which could reduce our profiff tabia lity and adversely affff eff ct our business. For instance, a decline in the
amount of discretionaryrr consumer spending due in part to persistent inflff ation has negatively impacted sales of
discretionaryrr items, which has had, and could continue to have, an adverse affff eff ct on our profiff tabia lity.

We have also benefiff ted frff om increasing pet ownership, discretionaryrr spending on pets, and current trends in
humanization and premiumization in the pet industry,rr as well as faff vorabla e pet ownership demographia cs. To the
extent these trends slow or reverse, our sales and profiff tabia lity would be adversely affff eff cted. Specififf cally, though
we’ve experienced signififf cant growth in sales of non-discretionaryrr consumabla es, spending on non-discretionaryrr
items has declined due in part to persistent inflff ation, which has adversely impacted our profiff tabia lity. The success of
our business depends in part on our abia lity to identifyff and respond to evolving trends in demographia cs and consumer
prefeff rences. Failure to timely identifyff or effff eff ctively respond to changing consumer tastes, prefeff rences, spending
patterns, and pet care needs could adversely affff eff ct our relationship with our customers, the demand forff our products
and services, our market share, and our profiff tabia lity.

ThTT e growthtt of our businii ess depee ends inii part on our abilii ill tii ytt tott accuratett lyll predict consumer trtt ends,s successfs uff llll yll
inii trtt oduce new productstt and services,s imii prm ove exiee sii titt nii g productstt and services,s and expanee d inii tott new offff eff rinii gs.

Our growth depends, in part, on our abia lity to successfulff ly introduce, improve, and reposition our products and
services to meet the requirements of pet parents. This, in turt n, depends on our abia lity to predict and respond to
evolving consumer trends, demands, and prefeff rences. Our abia lity to innovate is affff eff cted by the technical capaa bia lity
of our product development staffff and third-party consultants in developing and testing new products, including
complying with governmental regulations, our attractiveness as a partner forff outside research and development
scientists and entrepreneurs, the success of our management and sales team in introducing and marketing new
products and service offff eff rings, and our abia lity to leverage our digital and data capaa bia lities to gather and respond to
consumer feff edback. Additionally, the development and introduction of innovative new products and services and
expansion into new offff eff rings involves considerabla e costs. Any new product, service, or offff eff ring may not generate
suffff iff cient customer interest and sales to become profiff tabla e or to cover the costs of its development and promotion
and, as a result, may adversely impact our results of operations, including our profiff tabia lity. Concern abouta
sustainabia lity and climate change might cause consumer prefeff rences to switch away frff om products or ingredients
considered to have high climate change impact and towards products that are more sustainabla y grown and made, and
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we may incur additional costs as we potentially evolve our portfolff io and engage in due diligence, verififf cation, and
reporting in connection with our environmental, social, and governance and sustainabia lity initiatives.

We may be unabla e to determine with accuracy when or whether any of our products or services now under
development will be launched, and we may be unabla e to develop or otherwise acquire product candidates or
products. Additionally, we cannot predict whether any such products or services, once launched, will be
commercially successfulff . If we are unabla e to successfulff ly develop or otherwise acquire new products or services,
our business, fiff nancial condition, and results of operations may be materially adversely affff eff cted.

Our contitt nii ued success isii substantt titt allll yll depeee ndent on positii itt ve perceptee itt ons of PePP tctt o, inii cludinii g our owned or
excee lusive brands.

We believe that one of the reasons our customers prefeff r to shop at Petco, and that our partners choose Petco as
a place of employment, is the reputation we have built over many years of serving our primaryrr constituet ncies:
customers; partners; and the communities in which we operate. These are core elements of the Petco mission and
brand. To be successfulff in the futff urt e, we must continue to preserve, grow, and leverage the value of our reputation
and our brand. Reputational value is based in large part on perceptions of subjective qualities, and even isolated
incidents (even if based on rumrr or or misunderstanding) that erode trusr t and confiff dence, particularly if they result in
adverse publicity or widespread reaction on social media, governmental investigations, or litigation, can have an
adverse impact on these perceptions and lead to adverse effff eff cts on our business, including decreased comparabla e
sales, consumer boycotts, loss of new pet care center development opportunit ties, lower partner morale and
productivity, or partner recruir ting and retention diffff iff culties.

In addition, we sell many products under our owned or private labea l brands. Maintaining consistent product
quality, competitive pricing, and availabia lity of our branded products forff our customers is essential to developing
and maintaining customer loyalty and brand awareness. These products oftff en have higher margins than national
brand products. If one or more of these brands experience a loss of consumer acceptance or confiff dence, our sales
and gross margin could be adversely affff eff cted.

ComCC pem titt tii itt on inii thtt e markerr tstt inii which we operatett ,e inii cludinii g inii tett rnrr et-tt based compem titt tii itt on, isii strtt ong and ifi we are
unablell tott compem tett efe fff eff ctitt velyll ,yy our abilii ill tii ytt tott generatett salell s may sufu fff eff r and our operatitt nii g inii come and net inii come
couldll declill nii e.ee

The pet care industryrr is highly competitive. We compete with a number of specialty pet store chains and
independent pet stores. We also compete with online retailers, supermarkets, warehouse clubs, and mass merchants.
The pet care industryrr has become increasingly competitive due to the expansion of pet-related product offff eff rings by
certain supermarkets, warehouse clubs, other retail merchandisers, and online retailers, and the entrance of
additional independent pet stores with unique product and service offff eff rings and other pet specialty retailers into the
pet foodff and pet supply market, some of which have developed store forff mats similar to ours. Some competitors are
larger and have access to greater capia tal and the abia lity to invest in more resources than we do.

We have been faff cing greater competition frff om national, regional, local, and online retailers. In particular,
maja or competitors have sought to gain or retain market share by reducing prices or by introducing additional
products or services, which may require us to reduce prices on our key products or services or introduce new
offff eff rings in order to remain competitive, and negatively affff eff ct our profiff tabia lity and require a change in our operating
strategies.

If consumer prefeff rences change and thereby decrease the attractiveness of what we believe to be our
competitive advantages, including our extensive product assortment, premium product offff eff rings, omnichannel
capaa bia lities, high-quality service offff eff rings, and a unique customer experience, or if we faff il to otherwise positively
diffff eff rentiate our customer experience frff om that of our competitors, our business and results of operations could be
adversely affff eff cted.

WeWW may be unablell tott exeee cutett our growthtt strtt atett gie es successfs uff llll yll or manage and sustaitt nii our growthtt and, as a
resultll ,tt our businii ess may be adversrr elyll affff eff ctett d.

Our strategies include, among other things, expanding our veterinaryrr service offff eff rings and building out our
digital and data capaa bia lities, growing our market share in services like grooming and training, enhancing our owned
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brand portfolff io, growing our brick and mortar footff prt int in rurr al communities, and introducing new offff eff rings to
better connect with our customers. However, we may not be abla e to execute on these strategies as effff eff ctively as
anticipated. Our abia lity to execute on these strategies depends on a number of faff ctors, including:

• whether we have adequate capia tal resources to expand our offff eff rings and build out our digital and data
capaa bia lities;

• our abia lity to include veterinaryrr services in our existing pet care centers or in our remodeled or relocated
pet care centers;

• our abia lity to relocate our pet care centers and obtain faff vorabla e sites and negotiate acceptabla e lease
terms;

• our abia lity to hire, train, and retain skilled personnel, including veterinarians, inforff mation technology
profeff ssionals, owned brand merchants, and groomers and trainers;

• our acceptance in new markets, as well as our abia lity to withstand competition in such markets; and

• our abia lity to continue to upgrade our inforff mation and other operating systems and to make use of the
data that we collect through these systems to offff eff r better products and services to our customers.

Our existing locations may not maintain their current levels of sales and profiff tabia lity, and our growth
strategies may not generate sales levels necessaryrr to achieve pet care center level profiff tabia lity comparabla e to that of
our existing locations. To the extent that we are unabla e to execute on our growth strategies in accordance with our
expectations, our sales growth would come primarily frff om the organic growth of existing product and service
offff eff rings.

WeWW may expeee rience difi fff iff cultll itt es recruitii itt nii g and retaitt nii inii g skilii lll ell d vetett rinii arians due tott shortatt ga es thtt at couldll disii ruptu
our businii ess.

The successfulff growth of our veterinaryrr services business depends signififf cantly on our abia lity to recruirr t and
retain skilled veterinarians and other veterinaryrr technical staffff .ff We faff ce competition frff om other veterinaryrr service
providers in the labora market forff veterinarians, and frff om time to time, we have experienced shortages of skilled
veterinarians in markets in which we operate our veterinaryrr service businesses, which has required us or our
affff iff liated veterinaryrr practices to increase wages and enhance benefiff ts to recruirr t and retain enough qualififf ed
veterinarians to adequately staffff our veterinaryrr services operations. If we are unabla e to recruir t and retain qualififf ed
veterinarians, or to control our labora costs, our business, fiff nancial condition, and results of operations may be
materially adversely affff eff cted.

WeWW facff e various risii ks as an e-commerce retaitt lii ell r.rr
As part of our growth strategy, we seek to furff ther integrate our in-store and online operations and have made,

and expect to continue to make, signififf cant investments to integrate and grow our e-commerce business. We may
require additional capia tal in the futff urt e to sustain or grow our e-commerce business. Business risks related to our e-
commerce business include our inabia lity to keep pace with rapia d technological change, faff ilure in our security
procedures or operational controls, faff ilure or inadequacy in our systems or labora resource levels to effff eff ctively
process customer orders in a timely manner, government regulation and legal uncertainties with respect to e-
commerce, and collection of sales or other taxes by one or more states or forff eign jurisdictions. If any of these risks
materialize, they could have an adverse effff eff ct on our business.
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Additionally, customer expectations abouta the methods by which they purchase and receive products or
services are also becoming more demanding. Customers routinely use technology and a variety of electronic devices
and digital platforff ms to rapia dly compare products and prices, read product reviews, determine real-time product
availabia lity, and purchase products. Once products are purchased, customers are seeking alternate options forff
deliveryrr of those products, and they oftff en expect quick, timely, and low-price or frff ee deliveryrr and/or convenient
pickup options. We must continually anticipate and adapta to these changes in the purchasing process.

In some circumstances, increased transactions through our website may result in reduced customer traffff iff c in
our pet care centers, particularly as customers take advantage of buy online and pick up in store, curbsr ide pickup,
and home deliveryrr services availabla e forff online orders when making certain types of purchases, such as forff bulk
orders or heavy pet products. There is a risk that any such reduced customer traffff iff c may reduce the sales of certain
products and services in our pet care centers. The availabia lity of frff ee shipping of online and “extended aisle” orders
increases our costs and could adversely affff eff ct our profiff tabia lity.

In addition, as other internet retailers have increased market share in recent years, we have faff ced increased
competition, and may continue to faff ce increased competition in the futff urt e, frff om internet retailers who enter the
market. Our faff ilure to positively diffff eff rentiate our product and services offff eff rings or customer experience frff om these
internet retailers, including offff eff ring competitive pricing forff our products, could have a material adverse effff eff ct on our
business, fiff nancial condition, and results of operations.

IfII we faiff lii tott generatett or obtaitt nii sufu fff iff cient capitii altt tott fiff nii ance our growthtt strtt atett gie es,s we may be unablell tott sustaitt nii
our growthtt and our businii ess may be adversrr elyll affff eff ctett d.

Our growth rate depends, to a large degree, on the availabia lity of adequate capia tal to fundff the expansion of our
offff eff rings, including veterinaryrr services and digital capaa bia lities, which in turt n will depend in large part on cash flff ow
generated by our business and the availabia lity of equity and debt capia tal. We cannot assure you that we will be abla e
to maintain suffff iff cient cash flff ow or obtain suffff iff cient equity or debt capia tal on acceptabla e terms, or at all, to support
our expansion plans.

Moreover, the credit agreements governing the First Lien Term Loan and ABL Revolving Credit Facility
contain provisions that restrict the amount of debt we may incur in the futff urt e, and certain other covenants that may
restrict or impair our growth plans. If we are not successfulff in generating or obtaining suffff iff cient capia tal, we may be
unabla e to invest in our growth, which may adversely affff eff ct our results of operations.

WeWW depeee nd on keye persrr onnel,ll and ifi we losll e thtt e services of anyn of our exeee cutitt ve offff iff cersrr ,s we may not be ablell tott
run our businii ess efe fff eff ctitt velyll .yy

We are dependent upon the effff orff ts of our key personnel, including our executive offff iff cers. The loss of any of
our key personnel could affff eff ct our abia lity to runr our business effff eff ctively. Our success will depend on our abia lity to
retain our current management and to develop, attract, and retain qualififf ed personnel in the futff urt e. Competition forff
senior management personnel is intense with increasingly aggressive compensation packages, and we cannot assure
you that we can retain our key personnel or that our succession planning will prove effff eff ctive. Furthermore, declines
in our stock price have been reducing the retention value of our share-based awards, which could impact the
competitiveness of our compensation over time. The loss of a member of senior management requires the remaining
executive offff iff cers and our board of directors to divert immediate and substantial attention to seeking a replacement.
The inabia lity to fiff ll vacancies in our key personnel positions, including executive positions, on a timely basis could
adversely affff eff ct our abia lity to implement our business strategy, which would negatively impact our results of
operations.

ThTT e losll s of anyn of our keye merchandisii e vendorsrr ,s or of anyn of our excee lusive disii trtt ibui titt on arrangementstt witii htt
certaitt nii of our vendorsrr ,s couldll negate itt velyll imii pacm t our businii ess.

We purchase signififf cant amounts of products frff om a number of vendors with limited supply capaa bia lities.
There can be no assurance that our current pet foodff or supply vendors will be abla e to accommodate our anticipated
growth and expansion of our business. As a result of the disruptr ions resulting frff om COVID-19, as well as surges in
consumer demand forff certain products, shortages of raw materials and disruptrr ions to the global supply chain
resulting frff om, among other things, lack of carrier capaa city, laboa r shortages, port congestion and /or closures, and
rising fueff l prices, some of our existing vendors have not been abla e to supply us with products in a timely or cost-
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effff eff ctive manner. A continued inabia lity of our existing vendors to provide products or other product supply
disruptr ions that may occur in the futff urt e could impair our business, fiff nancial condition, and results of operations. To
date, vendor-related supply challenges have not had a material effff eff ct on our business or our sales and profiff tabia lity.
We generally do not maintain long-term supply contracts with our merchandise vendors. Thus, most vendors could
discontinue selling to us at any time. Although we do not materially rely on any particular vendor, the loss of any of
our signififf cant vendors of pet food,ff particularly premium or owned brand pet food,ff or pet supplies that we offff eff r
could have a negative impact on our business, fiff nancial condition, and results of operations. For more inforff mation
regarding our vendors, please read “Business—Vendor Arrangements.”

We continually seek to expand our base of pet foodff and supply vendors and to identifyff new pet products. If we
are unabla e to identifyff or enter into distribution relationships with new vendors or to replace the loss of any of our
existing vendors, we may experience a competitive disadvantage, our business may be disruptr ed, and our results of
operations may be adversely affff eff cted.

Most of the premium pet foodff brands that we purchase are not widely carried in supermarkets, warehouse
clubs, or mass merchants. If any premium pet foodff manufaff cturt ers were to make premium pet foodff products widely
availabla e in supermarkets or through mass merchants, or if the premium brands currently availabla e to supermarkets
and mass merchants were to increase their market share at the expense of the premium brands sold only through
specialty pet foodff and supplies retailers, our abia lity to attract and retain customers or our competitive position may
suffff eff r. Further, if supermarkets, warehouse clubs, or mass merchants begin offff eff ring any of these premium pet foodff
brands at lower prices, our sales and gross margin could be adversely affff eff cted.

Several of the pet foodff brands and product lines we currently purchase and offff eff r forff sale to our customers are
not offff eff red by our closest pet specialty competitor. However, in most cases, we have not entered into forff mal
exclusivity agreements with the vendors forff such brands. In certain circumstances, in the event these vendors choose
to enter into distribution arrangements with other specialty pet retailers or other competitors our sales could suffff eff r
and our business could be adversely affff eff cted.

Our principal vendors currently provide us with certain incentives such as volume purchasing, trade discounts,
cooperative advertising, and market development fundsff . A reduction or discontinuance of these incentives would
increase our costs and could reduce our profiff tabia lity.

WeWW facff e various risii ks relatll ett d tott healtll htt epiee demics,s pandemics,s and simii ilii arll outbrtt eaks,s which may matett riallll yll and
adversrr elyll affff eff ct our businii ess,s fiff nii ancial positii itt on, resultll stt of operatitt ons,s and cash flff owll s.

Our business and fiff nancial results have been, and could be in the futff urt e, adversely affff eff cted by health
epidemics, pandemics, and similar outbrt eaks, such as the COVID-19 pandemic. For example, as a result of the
COVID-19 pandemic, we reduced operations in many of our pet care centers in fiff scal 2020, which decreased our pet
care center revenues. Despite our effff orff ts to manage these matters, their ultimate effff eff cts also depend on faff ctors
beyond our knowledge or control, including the duration, severity, and recurrence of any outbrt eak and actions taken
to contain its spread and mitigate its public health effff eff cts. Health epidemics, pandemics, and similar outbrt eaks may
adversely affff eff ct our business, fiff nancial position, results of operations, and cash flff ows, including by resulting in (i)
signififf cant volatility in demand forff our products and services, (ii) changes in consumer behavior and prefeff rences,
(iii) disruptr ions of our manufaff cturt ing and supply chain operations, (iv) disruptr ion of our cost saving programs and
restrucrr turt ing initiatives, (v) limitations on our employees’ abia lity to work and travel, and (vi) changes to economic
or political conditions in markets in which we operate.

A disii ruptu itt on, malfll uff nctitt on, or inii creased coststt inii thtt e operatitt on, expanee sion, or replee ell nisii hment of our disii trtt ibui titt on
centett rsrr or our supplu yll chainii wouldll affff eff ct our abilii ill tii ytt tott delill ver tott our locll atitt ons and e-commerce customtt ersrr or
inii crease our expeee nses,s which couldll harmrr our salell s and profiff tii abitt lii ill tii ytt .yy

Our vendors generally ship merchandise to one or more of our distribution centers, which receive and allocate
merchandise to our locations and e-commerce customers. The success of our pet care centers depends on their
timely receipt of merchandise. If any shipped merchandise were to be delayed because of the impact of severe
weather on transnational shipping, particularly frff om our vendors in Asia, our operations would likely be
signififf cantly disruptr ed. Disruptr ion to shipping and transportation channels due to slowdowns or work stoppages at
ports on the West Coast of the United States have occurred in the past, and to the extent they occur in the futff urt e,
could cause us to rely more heavily on airfrff eight to achieve timely deliveryrr to our customers, resulting in
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signififf cantly higher frff eight costs. Further, increased transportation costs, including increased fueff l costs, have
resulted in, and are expected to continue to result in, higher costs. We may not be abla e to pass all or any portion of
these higher costs on to our customers or adjust our pricing strucr turt e in a timely manner in order to remain
competitive, either of which could have a material adverse effff eff ct on our results of operations.

We have faff ced, and could continue to faff ce, labora shortages at several of our distribution centers due to faff ctors
directly or indirectly related to COVID-19 and related issues such as vaccine mandates, as well as other faff ctors,
which has adversely affff eff cted our results of operations. If any of our distribution centers were to shut down, continue
to suffff eff r substantial labora shortages, or lose signififf cant capaa city forff any reason, our operations would likely be
signififf cantly disruptr ed. We compete with other retailers forff the supply of personnel to staffff our distribution centers,
some of whom are larger than us and have access to greater capia tal resources than we do. If we are unabla e to
successfulff ly recruirr t and retain personnel to staffff our distribution centers, we may faff ce labora shortages or be forff ced to
increase wages and enhance benefiff ts forff such personnel, which may have an adverse effff eff ct on our results of
operations. In addition, any interruptr ion or malfuncff tion in our distribution operations, including, but not limited to,
the loss of a key vendor that provides transportation of merchandise to or frff om our distribution centers, labora
shortages, or regulatoryrr issues with respect to any of our distribution centers, could adversely affff eff ct our sales and
results of operations. Interruptr ions in our inventoryrr supply chain have resulted in certain out-of-ff stock or excess
merchandise inventoryrr levels, and could adversely affff eff ct our abia lity to make timely deliveries to e-commerce
customers, as well as our sales and results of operations.

WeWW occasionallll yll seek tott grow our businii ess thtt roughu acquisii itii itt ons of or inii vestmtt entstt inii new or complm ell mentartt yr
businii esses,s productstt ,s or services,s or thtt roughu strtt atett gie c ventures,s and thtt e faiff lii ure tott successfs uff llll yll identitt fi yff thtt ese
opportunitii itt es,s manage and inii tett gre atett thtt ese acquisii itii itt ons,s inii vestmtt entstt ,s or allll ill ances,s or tott achieve an adequatett
return on thtt ese inii vestmtt entstt ,s couldll have an adversrr e efe fff eff ct on us.

The pet care industryrr is highly frff agmented. We have completed acquisitions in the past and may pursue
expansion and acquisition opportunit ties in the futff urt e. If we are unabla e to manage acquisitions, investments, or
strategic venturt es, or integrate any acquired businesses, services, or technologies effff eff ctively, we may not realize the
expected benefiff ts frff om the transaction relative to the consideration paid, and our business, fiff nancial condition, and
results of operations may be adversely affff eff cted. To be successfulff , the integration process requires us to achieve the
benefiff ts of combining the companies, including generating operating effff iff ciencies and synergies, successfulff ly
integrating personnel, and eliminating or reducing redundant costs. This integration process involves inherent
uncertainties, and we cannot assure you that the anticipated benefiff ts of these acquisitions will be fulff ly realized
without incurring unanticipated costs or diverting management’s attention frff om our core operations.

From time to time we also make strategic investments. These investments typically involve many of the same
risks posed by acquisitions, particularly those risks associated with the diversion of our resources, the inabia lity of the
new venturt e to generate suffff iff cient revenues, the management of relationships with third parties, and potential
expenses. Strategic venturt es have the added risk that the other strategic venturt e partners may have economic,
business, or legal interests or objectives that are inconsistent with our interests and objectives.

Further, we may be unsuccessfulff in identifyiff ng and evaluating business, legal, or fiff nancial risks as part of the
due diligence process associated with a particular transaction. Furthermore, acquired entities may have diffff eff ring or
inadequate controls, procedures, or policies, including those related to fiff nancial reporting, disclosure, and cyber and
inforff mation security, which could expose us to additional risks and potentially increase anticipated costs or time to
integrate the business. In addition, some investments may result in the incurrence of debt or may have contingent
consideration components that may require us to pay additional amounts in the futff urt e in relation to futff urt e
perforff mance results of the subject business. If we do enter into agreements with respect to these transactions, we
may faff il to complete them due to faff ctors such as faff ilure to obtain regulatoryrr or other appra ovals. We may be unabla e
to realize the fulff l benefiff ts frff om these transactions, such as increased net sales or enhanced effff iff ciencies, within the
timefrff ames that we expect, or at all. These events could divert attention frff om our other businesses and adversely
affff eff ct our business, fiff nancial condition, and results of operations. Any futff urt e acquisitions also could result in
potentially dilutive issuances of equity securities, the incurrence of additional debt, or the assumption of contingent
liabia lities.
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Our repuee tattt itt on and businii ess maya be harmrr ed ifi our or our vendorsrr ’ compum tett r netwtt orkrr securitii ytt or anyn of thtt e
databastt es contaitt nii inii g customtt er,r emplm oyll ee,e or othtt er persrr onal inii fn orff mrr atitt on mainii taitt nii ed by us or our thtt iri d-par- tytt
providersrr isii comprm omisii ed, which couldll matett riallll yll adversrr elyll affff eff ct our resultll stt of operatitt ons.

We collect, store, and transmit proprietaryrr or confiff dential inforff mation regarding our customers, employees,
job appla icants, and others, including credit card inforff mation and personally identififf abla e inforff mation. We also collect,
store, and transmit employees’ health inforff mation in order to administer employee benefiff ts, accommodate
disabia lities and injuries, and to comply with public health requirements. The protection of customer, employee, and
company data in the inforff mation technology systems we use (including those maintained by third-party providers) is
critical. In the normal course of business, we are and have been the target of malicious cyber-attack attempts and
have experienced other security incidents.

While to date, we do not believe such identififf ed security events have been material or signififf cant to us,
including to our reputation or business operations, or had a material fiff nancial impact, we cannot assure you that such
incidents or futff urt e cyber-attacks will not expose us to material liabia lity. Security could be compromised and
confiff dential inforff mation, such as customer credit card numbers or account inforff mation, employee inforff mation, or
other personally identififf abla e infoff rmation that we or our vendors collect, transmit, or store, could be misappra opriated
or system disruptrr ions could occur. In addition, cyber-attacks such as ransomware or phishing attacks, could lock us
out of our inforff mation systems and disruptr our operations. We may not have the resources or technical
sophistication to anticipate or prevent rapia dly evolving types of cyber-attacks. Attacks may be targeted at us, our
customers, our employees, or others who have entrusr ted us with inforff mation. Actuat l or anticipated attacks may
cause us to incur increasing costs, including costs to deploy additional personnel and protection technologies, train
employees, and engage third-party experts and consultants. Advances in computer capaa bia lities, new technological
discoveries, or other developments may result in the breach or compromise of the technology used by us to protect
transactions or other sensitive data. In addition, data and security breaches could also occur as a result of non-
technical issues, including intentional or inadvertent breaches by our employees or by persons with whom we have
commercial relationships, that result in the unauthorized release of personal or confiff dential inforff mation. Any
compromise or breach of our or our vendors’ computer network security could result in a violation of appla icabla e
privacy and other laws, costly investigations, litigation, including class actions, and notififf cation, as well as potential
regulatoryrr or other actions by governmental agencies and harm to our brand, business, and results of operations. As
a result of any of the forff egoing, we could experience adverse publicity, loss of sales, the cost of remedial measures,
and signififf cant expenditurt es to reimburse third parties forff damages, each of which could adversely impact our
results of operations. Any insurance we maintain against the risk of this type of loss may not be suffff iff cient to cover
actuat l losses, may not appla y to the circumstances relating to any particular loss, or may become materially more
costly.

The techniques used by criminals to obtain unauthorized access to sensitive data change frff equently and oftff en
cannot be recognized until launched against a target. Accordingly, we or our vendors may not be abla e to anticipate
these frff equently changing techniques or implement adequate preventive measures forff all of them. Failure by us or
our vendors to comply with data security requirements, including the CCPA’s (as modififf ed by the CPRARR )
“reasonabla e security” requirement in light of the private right of action, or rectifyff a security issue may result in class
action litigation, fiff nes, and the imposition of restrictions on our abia lity to accept payment cards, which could
adversely affff eff ct our operations. We cannot assure you that we or our vendors will be abla e to satisfyff the Payment
Card Industryrr (“PCI”) Data Security Standard (“PCI DSS”). In addition, PCI is controlled by a limited number of
vendors that have the abia lity to impose changes in feff e strucr turt es and operational requirements without negotiation.
Such changes in feff es and operational requirements may result in our faff ilure to comply with PCI DSS, as well as
signififf cant unanticipated expenses. Any unauthorized access into our customers’ or employees’ sensitive
inforff mation, or other data handled by or on behalf of us, even if we are compliant with industryrr security standards,
could put us at a competitive disadvantage, result in deterioration of our customers’ or employees’ confiff dence in us,
and subject us to potential litigation, liabia lity, fiff nes, and penalties and consent decrees, which could require us to
expend signififf cant resources related to remediation or result in a disruptr ion of our operations, any of which could
have a material adverse effff eff ct on our business, fiff nancial condition, and results of operations.

IfII our inii fn orff mrr atitt on sys stett ms or inii fn rff astrtt ucture or thtt ose of our vendorsrr faiff lii tott perfr orff mrr as designi ed or are inii tett rruptu ett d
forff a signi ifi iff cant period of titt mii e,e our businii ess couldll be adversrr elyll affff eff ctett d.

The effff iff cient operation of our business is dependent on our inforff mation systems and those of our vendors. In
particular, we rely on our inforff mation systems to effff eff ctively manage our fiff nancial and operational data, to maintain
our in-stock positions, and to transact the sale of our products in our pet care centers and online. The faff ilure of our
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inforff mation systems or those of our vendors to perforff m as designed, the loss of data, or any interruptrr ion of our
inforff mation systems or those of our vendors forff a signififf cant period of time could disruptr our business.

Our operations also depend on our abia lity to maintain and protect the computer systems we use to manage our
purchase orders, pet care center inventoryrr levels, web appla ications, accounting funcff tions, and other critical aspects
of our business. Our systems and those of our vendors are vulnerabla e to damage frff om fiff re, flff oods, earthquakes,
power loss, telecommunications faff ilures, terrorist and cyber-attacks, and similar events. Our disaster recoveryrr
planning and those of our vendors may not be suffff iff cient to adequately respond to any such events. In addition, we
may have inadequate insurance coverage to compensate forff any related losses and expenses. Any of these events
could damage our reputation, disruptrr our business, and be expensive to remedy.

We continue to invest in our inforff mation systems and IT infrff astrucrr turt e. Enhancement to or replacement of our
maja or fiff nancial or operational inforff mation systems could have a signififf cant impact on our abia lity to conduct our
business operations and increase our risk of loss resulting frff om disruptr ions of normal operating processes and
procedures that may occur during the implementation of new inforff mation systems. It may also require us to divest
resources to ensure that implementation is successfulff . We can make no assurances that the costs of investments in
our inforff mation systems will not exceed estimates, that the systems will be implemented without material disruptr ion,
or that the systems will be as benefiff cial as predicted. If any of these events occur, our results of operations could be
adversely affff eff cted.

NeNN gate itt ve publill citii ytt arisii inii g frff om claill mii s thtt at we do not properlyll care forff animii alsll we handlell or sellll couldll adversrr elyll
affff eff ct how we are perceived by thtt e publill c and reduce our salell s and profiff tii abitt lii ill tii ytt .yy

From time to time we receive claims or complaints alleging that we do not properly care forff some of the pets
we handle or forff companion animals we handle and sell, which may include dogs, cats, birds, fiff sh, reptiles, and other
small animals. Deaths or injuries sometimes occur while animals are in our care. As a result, we may be subject to
claims that our animal care practices, including grooming, training, veterinary,rr and other services, or the related
training of our associates or handling of animals by them, do not provide the proper level of care. Our effff orff ts to
establa ish our reputation as a health and wellness company increase the risk of claims or complaints regarding our
practices. Any such claims or complaints, as well as any related news reports or reports on social media, even if
inaccurate or untruer , could cause negative publicity, which in turt n could harm our business and have a material
adverse effff eff ct on our results of operations.

Our inii tett rnrr atitt onal operatitt ons and evolvll inii g forff eigni trtt ade polill cyc may resultll inii additii itt onal markerr t risii ks,s which may
adversrr elyll affff eff ct our businii ess.

As our international operations grow, they may require greater management and fiff nancial resources.
International operations require the integration of personnel with varyirr ng culturt al and business backgrounds and an
understanding of the relevant diffff eff rences in the culturt al, legal, and regulatoryrr environments. Our results may be
increasingly affff eff cted by the risks of our international activities, including:

• challenges anticipating or responding to the impact that local culturt e and market forff ces may have on
local consumer prefeff rences and trends;

• flff uctuat tions in currency exchanges rates;

• changes in international staffff iff ng and employment issues;

• the imposition of taxes, duties, tariffff sff , or other trade barriers;

• shipping or customs delays;

• greater diffff iff culty in utilizing and enforff cing our intellectuat l property rights;

• the burden of complying with forff eign laws, including regulatoryrr regimes, tax laws, privacy laws, and
fiff nancial accounting standards;

• political and economic instabia lity and developments;

• issues or disputes arising with our joint venturt e partners, if any, in such operations; and
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• the risk that a health epidemic, pandemic or similar outbrt eak, or naturt al disaster or extreme weather
event causes disruptr ions in any countryrr where we have signififf cant employee presence, faff cilities, or
critical operations, thereby impairing our abia lity to manage day-to-day operations and service our
customers, increasing our costs of operations, and resulting in potential losses in revenue.

Moreover, our products are sourced frff om a wide variety of vendors, including frff om vendors overseas,
particularly in China. In addition, some of the products that we purchase frff om vendors in the United States also
depend, in whole or in part, on vendors located outside the U.S. There continues to be uncertainty regarding the
futff urt e of international trade agreements and ultimately the United States’ position on international trade. For
example, the U.S. government has previously threatened to undertake a number of actions relating to trade with
Mexico, including the closure of the border and the imposition of escalating tariffff sff on goods imported into the
United States frff om Mexico. In addition, the U.S. government has previously issued sanctions on Chinese companies,
raised tariffff sff , and imposed new tariffff sff on a wide range of imports of Chinese products. Additional trade restrictions,
including sanctions, tariffff sff , quotas, embargoes, safeff guards, border shutdowns, and customs restrictions, could
increase the cost or reduce the supply of products availabla e to us and to our vendors based in the United States and
may require us to modifyff our supply chain organization or other current business practices or raise prices, any of
which could harm our business, fiff nancial condition, and results of operations.

Our quartett rlyll operatitt nii g resultll stt may flff uctuatett due tott thtt e titt mii inii g ofo expeee nses,s new pet care centett r openinii gs,s pet
care centett r closll ures,s and othtt er facff tortt srr .

Our expansion plans, including the timing of new and remodeled pet care centers and veterinaryrr hospitals, and
related pre-opening costs, the amount of net sales contributed by new and existing pet care centers, and the timing of
and estimated costs associated with pet care center closings or relocations, may cause our quarterly results of
operations to flff uctuat te. Further, new pet care centers and service offff eff rings tend to experience higher payroll,
advertising, and other store-level expenses as a percentage of net sales than more maturt e pet care centers, and such
openings also oftff en contribute to lower pet care center operating margins until those pet care centers become
establa ished, which may result in quarterly flff uctuat tions in operating results. Quarterly operating results are not
necessarily accurate predictors of perforff mance.

Quarterly operating results may also varyrr depending on a number of faff ctors, many of which are outside of our
control, including:

• changes in our pricing policies or those of our competitors;

• our sales and channels mix and the relevant gross margins of the products and services sold;

• the hiring and retention of key personnel;

• wage, cost, and inflff ationaryrr pressures;

• changes in fueff l prices or electrical rates;

• costs related to acquisitions of businesses; and

• general economic faff ctors.

PePP t consumablell s safeff tytt ,yy qualill tii ytt ,yy and healtll htt concerns couldll adversrr elyll affff eff ct our businii ess.

We could be adversely affff eff cted if consumers lose confiff dence in the safeff ty and quality of our owned brand or
vendor-supplied consumabla e pet products and supplies. Adverse publicity abouta these types of concerns, whether
valid or not, may discourage consumers frff om buying the products in our locations or cause vendor production and
deliveryrr disruptrr ions. The actuat l or perceived sale of contaminated pet consumabla es by our vendors or us could result
in product liabia lity claims against our vendors or us and a loss of consumer confiff dence, which could have an adverse
effff eff ct on our sales and operations. In addition, if our products are alleged to pose a risk of injuryrr or illness, or if they
are alleged to have been mislabea led, misbranded, or adulterated, or to otherwise be in violation of governmental
regulations, we may need to fiff nd alternate ingredients forff our products, delay production of our products, or discard
or otherwise dispose of our products, which could adversely affff eff ct our results of operations. If this occurs aftff er the
affff eff cted product has been distributed, we may need to withdraw or recall the affff eff cted product. Given the diffff iff culty
in converting pet foodff customers, if we lose customers due to a loss of confiff dence in safeff ty or quality, it may be
diffff iff cult to reacquire such customers.
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Restrtt ictitt ons imii posm ed inii reactitt on tott outbrtt eaks of animii al disii eases or healtll htt epiee demics,s pandemics,s and simii ilii arll
outbrtt eaks,s such as thtt e COC VIVV DII -19 pandemic,c couldll have a matett rial adversrr e efe fff eff ct on our businii ess,s fiff nii ancial
conditii itt on, and resultll stt of operatitt ons.

If animal diseases, such as mad cow disease, footff -and-mouth disease, or highly pathogenic avian inflff uenza,
also known as “bird flff u,” impact the availabia lity of the protein-based ingredients our vendors use in products, our
vendors may be required to locate alternative sources forff protein-based ingredients. Those sources may not be
availabla e to sustain our sales volumes, may be costlier, and may affff eff ct the quality and nutritional value of our
products. If outbrt eaks of mad cow disease, footff -and-mouth disease, bird flff u, or any other animal disease, or the
regulation or publicity resulting therefrff om impacts the cost of the protein-based ingredients we have in our products,
or the cost of the alternative protein-based ingredients necessaryrr forff our products as compared to our current costs,
we may be required to increase the prices of our products to avoid margin deterioration. However, we may not be
abla e to charge higher prices forff our products without negatively impacting futff urt e sales volumes.

As a result of the disruptr ions resulting frff om COVID-19, some manufaff cturt ers of pork and other protein-based
ingredients we use in our products were forff ced to shut down processing plants or take other adverse actions. While
our supply chain was not disruptr ed, similar disruptr ions in the futff urt e due to COVID-19 variants or other outbrt eaks
could potentially limit the supply of,ff or increase prices forff , certain of meat proteins used in our pet foodff products,
adversely affff eff cting our business and results of operations.

FlFF uctuatitt ons inii thtt e prices and availii abill lii ill tii ytt of certaitt nii commoditii itt es,s such as grainii s and meat protett inii , couldll
matett riallll yll adversrr elyll affff eff ct our operatitt nii g resultll stt .

The pet foodff and supplies industryrr is subject to risks related to increases in the prices and availabia lity of
certain commodities used in the production of certain pet foodff and other pet-related products, specififf cally seed,
wheat, and rice, as well as other materials that are used in the production of certain pet accessories. Additionally,
increased human and/or pet consumption or population increases may potentially limit the supply of or increase
prices forff certain meat proteins, many of which are used in animal feff ed. Throughout 2022, costs of certain
commodities increased signififf cantly due to supply chain disruptr ions, the COVID-19 pandemic, increased fueff l prices,
increased demand, transportation and labora shortages, and general inflff ationaryrr pressures, and we have resultingly
observed increases in the costs we pay forff certain vendor-supplied products. To help mitigate the impact of these
cost increases, we have implemented select price increases, which is consistent with our historical practice and in the
aggregate have not impacted our salves volume to date. However, our abia lity to continue to pass on increased
purchase costs in the futff urt e will be signififf cantly impacted by market conditions and competitive faff ctors. If we are
unabla e to continue to pass on any increased purchase costs to customers, we would experience decreased demand forff
or products and services and reduced margins, which could have a material adverse effff eff ct on our business, fiff nancial
condition, and results of operations.

Our real estattt ett lell ases generallll yll oblill gati ett us forff lonll g periods,s which subjectstt us tott various fiff nii ancial risii ks.
We lease all of our pet care center and distribution center locations generally forff long terms. While we have

the right to terminate some of our leases under specififf ed conditions by making specififf ed payments, we may not be
abla e to terminate a particular lease if or when we would like to do so. If we decide to close pet care centers, we are
generally required to continue paying rent and operating expenses forff the balance of the lease term, or to pay to
exercise rights to terminate, and the perforff mance of any of these obligations may be expensive. When we assign or
sublease vacated locations, we may remain liabla e forff the lease obligations if the assignee or sublessee does not
perforff m. In addition, when leases forff the pet care centers in our ongoing operations expire, we may be unabla e to
negotiate renewals, either on commercially acceptabla e terms, or at all, which could cause us to close pet care
centers. Accordingly, we are subjb ect to the risks associated with leasing real estate, which could have a material
adverse effff eff ct on our operating results.

Further, the success of our pet care centers depends on a number of faff ctors, including the sustained success of
the commercial area where the pet care center is located, consumer demographia cs, and consumer shopping habia ts
and patterns. Changes in consumer shopping habia ts and patterns, reduced customer traffff iff c in the commercial areas
where our pet care centers are located, fiff nancial diffff iff culties of our landlords, anchor tenants, or a signififf cant number
of other retailers, and shopping center vacancies or closures could impact the profiff tabia lity of our pet care centers and
increase the likelihood that our landlords faff il to fulff fiff ll their obligations and conditions under our lease agreements.
While we have certain remedies and protections under our lease agreements, the loss of business that could result if
a shopping center should close or if customer traffff iff c were to signififf cantly decline as a result of lost tenants or
improper care of the faff cilities or due to macroeconomic effff eff cts could have a material adverse effff eff ct on our business,
fiff nancial condition, and results of operations.
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FaiFF lii ure tott atttt rtt act and retaitt nii qualill tii ytt emplm oyll ees and expeee rienced management persrr onnel couldll adversrr elyll affff eff ct
our perfr orff mrr ance.ee

Our perforff mance depends on recruir ting, developing, training, and retaining top talent in our support centers,
partners who are capaa bla e sales associates in large numbers in our pet care centers, and experienced management
personnel. Our abia lity to meet our labora needs while controlling labora costs is subject to external faff ctors such as
unemployment levels, prevailing wage rates, minimum wage legislation, inflff ationaryrr pressures, the availabia lity of
qualififf ed persons in the markets where we operate, changing demographia cs, behavioral changes, health and other
insurance costs, and governmental labora and employment requirements. We have faff ced, and could continue to faff ce,
labora shortages at several of our distribution centers due to faff ctors directly or indirectly related to COVID-19 and
related issues such as vaccine mandates, as well as other faff ctors, which has adversely affff eff cted our operations. We
have also faff ced, and could continue to faff ce, increased wage competition and costs across our business in recruir ting
and retaining top talent. Recently, various legislative movements have sought to increase the feff deral minimum wage
in the United States and the minimum wage in a number of individual states, some of which have been successfulff at
the state level. As feff deral or state minimum wage rates increase, we may need to increase not only the wage rates of
our minimum wage partners but also the wages paid to our other hourly partners. If we faff il to increase our wages
competitively, we could faff il to recruirr t and retain top talent and faff ce labora shortages or staffff iff ng issues, and the quality
of our workforff ce could decline, causing our customer service to suffff eff r, while increasing our wages could cause our
earnings to decrease. Moreover, faff ilure to achieve and maintain a diverse workforff ce and leadership team, maintain a
safeff and inclusive environment or promote the well-being of our employees could affff eff ct our reputation and also
result in lower perforff mance and an inabia lity to retain valuabla e employees. If we do not continue to attract, train, and
retain quality associates and management personnel, our perforff mance could be adversely affff eff cted.

Labor disii pus tett s may have an adversrr e efe fff eff ct on our operatitt ons.

We are not currently party to a collective bargaining agreement with any of our employees. We have
experienced an attempted union organizing campaign, and may continue to experience union organizing campaigns,
which can be disruptr ive to our operations, increase our labora costs and decrease our operational flff exibility. We
cannot assure you that some or all of our employees will not become covered by a collective bargaining agreement
or that we will not encounter labora conflff icts or strikes. In addition, organized labora may benefiff t frff om new legislation
or legal interprr etations by the current presidential administration, as well as current or futff urt e unionization effff orff ts
among other large employers. Particularly, in light of current support forff changes to feff deral and state labora laws, we
cannot provide any assurance that we will not experience additional and/or successfulff union organization activity in
the futff urt e. Any labora disruptr ions could have an adverse effff eff ct on our business or results of operations and could
cause us to lose customers. Further, our responses to any union organizing effff orff ts could negatively impact our
reputation and have adverse effff eff cts on our business, including on our fiff nancial results.

ClCC aill mii s under our inii surance planll s and polill cies may difi fff eff r frff om our estitt mii atett s,s which couldll adversrr elyll affff eff ct our
resultll stt of operatitt ons.

We use a combination of insurance and self-ff insurance plans to provide coverage forff potential liabia lities forff
workers’ compensation, general liabia lity, business interruptr ion, property damage, directors’ and offff iff cers’ liabia lity,
vehicle liabia lity, cybersecurity incidents, and employee health-care benefiff ts. Our insurance coverage may not be
suffff iff cient, and any insurance proceeds may not be timely paid to us. Moreover, as insurance premiums continue to
increase, we cannot be certain that insurance will continue to be availabla e to us on economically reasonabla e terms,
or at all. In addition, liabia lities associated with the risks that are retained by us are estimated, in part, by considering
historical claims experience, demographia c faff ctors, severity faff ctors, and other actuat rial assumptions, and our
business, fiff nancial condition, and results of operations may be adversely affff eff cted if these assumptions are incorrect.

Resisii tantt ce frff om vetett rinii arians tott authtt orizii e prescriptii itt ons or atttt ett mptm stt /ss e// fe fff orff tstt on thtt eirii part tott disii courage pet ownersrr
frff om purchasinii g frff om us couldll cause our salell s tott decrease and couldll adversrr elyll affff eff ct our fiff nii ancial conditii itt on
and resultll stt of operatitt ons.

The laws and regulations relating to the sale and deliveryrr of prescription pet medications varyrr frff om state to
state, but generally require that prescription pet medications be dispensed with authorization frff om a prescribing
veterinarian. Some veterinarians may decide to resist providing our customers with a copy of their pet’s prescription
or resist authorizing the prescription to the pharmacy staffff of our fulff fiff llment vendor, thereby effff eff ctively preventing
us frff om fiff lling such prescriptions under appla icabla e law. Certain veterinarians may decide to discourage pet owners
frff om purchasing frff om internet mail order pharmacies. If the number of veterinarians who refusff e to authorize
prescriptions to the pharmacy staffff of our fulff fiff llment vendor increases, or if veterinarians are successfulff in
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discouraging pet owners frff om purchasing frff om us, our sales could decrease and our fiff nancial condition and results
of operations may be materially adversely affff eff cted.

Our resultll stt may be adversrr elyll affff eff ctett d by serious disii ruptu itt ons or catastt trtt ophic eventstt ,s inii cludinii g publill c healtll htt
isii sues,s geopolill tii itt cal eventstt ,s and severe weathtt er.rr

Geopolitical events, such as war or civil unrest in a countryrr in which our vendors are located or dependent
upon, or terrorist or militaryrr activities disruptr ing transportation, communication, or utility systems, local protests,
and unrest and naturt al disasters, such as hurricanes, tornadoes, flff oods, earthquakes, and other severe weather and
climate conditions (including those resulting frff om climate change), whether occurring in the United States or
abra oad, particularly during peak seasonal periods, could disruptr our operations or the operations of one or more of
our vendors, severely damage or destroy one or more of our pet care centers or distribution centers located in the
affff eff cted areas, result in temporaryrr or long-term supply chain disruptr ions or cause increased transportation costs
(whether due to fueff l prices, fueff l supply, or otherwise). For example, the ongoing conflff ict in Ukraine has resulted,
and could continue to result, in volatile commodity markets, supply chain disruptr ions, and increased costs forff
transportation, energy, packaging and raw materials and other input costs. As a result of any such events, day-to-day
operations, particularly our abia lity to receive products frff om our vendors or transport products to our pet care centers,
could be adversely affff eff cted, or we could be required to close pet care centers or distribution centers in the affff eff cted
areas or in areas served by the affff eff cted distribution center. These faff ctors could also cause consumer confiff dence and
spending to decrease or result in increased volatility in the United States and global fiff nancial markets and economy.
These or other occurrences could signififf cantly impact our operating results and fiff nancial perforff mance.

A potential result of climate change is more frff equent or more severe weather events or naturt al disasters. To
the extent such weather events or naturt al disasters do become more frff equent or severe, disruptrr ions to our business,
including store closures, and our vendors and costs to repair damaged faff cilities or maintain or resume operations
could increase. The long-term impacts of climate change, whether involving physical risks (such as extreme weather
conditions or rising sea levels) or transition risks (such as regulatoryrr or technology changes or increased operating
costs, including the cost of insurance) are expected to be widespread and unpredictabla e. These changes over time
could also affff eff ct, forff example, the availabia lity and cost of certain products, insurance, commodities and energy
(including utilities), which in turt n may impact our abia lity to procure those certain goods or services required forff the
operation of our business at the quantities and levels we require or on otherwise commercially reasonabla e terms.

InII fn lff atll itt on has adversrr elyll imii pacm tett d, and isii expeee ctett d tott contitt nii ue tott adversrr elyll imii pacm t,tt our fiff nii ancial conditii itt on and
resultll stt of operatitt ons.

Inflff ation in the United States remained elevated throughout fiff scal 2022. This is primarily believed to be the
result of a multitudet of faff ctors, including the COVID-19 pandemic, global supply chain disruptrr ions, the ongoing
conflff ict in Ukraine and the impact on transportation costs (including increased fueff l costs), increased labora costs,
spending of excess savings, elevated demand forff goods, and government stimulus packages, among other faff ctors.
For instance, global supply chain disruptrr ions have resulted in shortages in certain materials and services. Such
shortages have resulted in inflff ationaryrr cost increases forff labora and such materials and services, and could continue to
cause costs to increase as well as scarcity of certain products. We are experiencing inflff ationaryrr pressures in certain
areas of our business, including with respect to employee wages and the cost of merchandise, although, to date, we
have largely been abla e to mitigate such pressures through price increases and other measures. We cannot, however,
predict any futff urt e trends in the rate of inflff ation or associated increases in our operating costs and how that may
impact our business. To the extent we are unabla e to recover higher operating costs resulting frff om inflff ation or
otherwise mitigate the impact of such costs on our business, our revenues and gross margins could decrease, and our
fiff nancial condition and results of operations could be adversely affff eff cted.
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Risks Related to Legal and Regulatory Matters

Our operatitt ons are subject tott extee ett nsive governrr mentaltt regue latll itt on, and we may inii cur matett rial lill abilii ill tii itt es under,r or
coststt inii order tott complm yll witii htt , exee isii titt nii g or fuff ture lawll sw and regue latll itt ons. Our faiff lii ure tott complm yll witii htt such lawll s and
regue latll itt ons may resultll inii enfn orff cementstt ,s recallll sll ,s and othtt er adversrr e actitt ons thtt at couldll disii ruptu our operatitt ons and
adversrr elyll affff eff ct our fiff nii ancial resultll stt .

Our operations, including those of some of our vendors, are subject to feff deral, state, and local laws and
regulations establa ished by the OSHA, the FDA, the USDA, the DEA, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency,
the EEOC, the National Labora Relations Board, and by various other feff deral, state, local, and forff eign authorities.
These laws and regulations govern, among other things: our relationships with employees, including minimum wage
requirements, overtime, terms and conditions of employment, working conditions, and citizenship requirements; the
weights and measures of our products; the manufaff cturt ing and distribution of foodsff , drugsr , and controlled substances
intended forff animal use; our businesses that provide veterinaryrr services and pet insurance plans; the transportation,
handling, and sale of small pets; emissions to air and water and the generation, handling, storage, discharge,
transportation, disposal, and remediation of waste and hazardous materials; the processing, storage, distribution,
safeff ty, advertising, labea ling, promotion, and import or export of our products; providing services to our customers;
contracted services with various third-party providers; credit and debit card processing; the handling, security,
protection, and use of customer and associate inforff mation; and the licensing and certififf cation of services. In
addition, we have been, and may again the futff urt e be, subject to a wide range of state and local regulations relating to
COVID-19, which frff equently changed. For more inforff mation regarding laws and regulations that we are subject to,
please read “Business—Government Regulation.”

Violations of or liabia lity under appla icabla e laws and regulations may result in administrative, civil or criminal
fiff nes, penalties, or sanctions against us, revocation or modififf cation of appla icabla e permits, licenses, or authorizations,
environmental, health and safeff ty investigations or remedial activities, voluntaryrr or involuntaryrr product recalls,
warning or untitled letters or cease and desist orders against operations that are not in compliance, or third-party
liabia lity claims against us, among other things. Such laws and regulations generally have become more stringent
over time and may become more so in the futff urt e, and we may incur (directly, or indirectly through our outsourced
private brand manufaff cturt ing partners) material costs to comply with current or futff urt e laws and regulations or in any
required product recalls. Some of these laws and regulations are subject to varyirr ng and uncertain interprr etations,
appla ication, and enforff cement by courts and regulatoryrr authorities with broad discretion, which can mean that our
effff orff ts to maintain compliance in all jurisdictions are not always successfulff . Liabia lities under, costs of compliance
with, and the impacts on us of any alleged or determined non-compliance with any such laws and regulations could
materially and adversely affff eff ct our business, reputation, fiff nancial condition, and results of operations. In addition,
changes in the laws and regulations to which we are subject could impose signififf cant limitations and require changes
to our business, which may increase our compliance expenses, make our business costlier and less effff iff cient to
conduct, and compromise our growth strategy. Although we routinely obtain broad indemnities frff om our vendors in
respect of their products, we could be adversely affff eff cted if we were foundff not to be in compliance with appla icabla e
regulations and we were not made whole by our vendors.

Among other regulatoryrr requirements, the FDA regulates the inclusion of specififf c claims in pet product
labea ling. For example, pet foodff products that are labea led or marketed with claims that may suggest that they are
intended to treat or prevent disease in pets would potentially meet the statutt oryrr defiff nitions of both a foodff and a drug.r
The FDA has issued guidance containing a list of specififf c faff ctors it will consider in determining whether to initiate
enforff cement action against such products if they do not comply with the regulatoryrr requirements appla icabla e to
drugsr . These faff ctors include, among other things, whether the product is only made availabla e through or under the
direction of a veterinarian and does not present a known safeff ty risk when used as labea led. While we believe that we
market our products in compliance with the policy articulated in the FDA’s guidance and in other claim-specififf c
guidance, the FDA may disagree or may classifyff some of our products diffff eff rently than we do, and may impose more
stringent regulations which could lead to alleged regulatoryrr violations, enforff cement actions, and/or product recalls.
In addition, we may produce new products in the futff urt e that may be subject to FDA pre-market review beforff e we
can market and sell such products. Our distribution centers are also subject to periodic inspection by the FDA and
other governmental authorities.

Currently, many states in the United States have adopted the AAFCO’s defiff nition of the term “naturt al” with
respect to the pet foodff industry,rr which means a feff ed or feff ed ingredient derived solely frff om plant, animal, or mined
sources not having been produced by or subject to a chemically synthetic process and not containing any additives
or processing aids that are chemically synthetic except in amounts as might occur in good manufaff cturt ing practices.
Certain of our pet foodff products use the term “naturt al” in their labea lling or marketing materials. As a result, we may
incur material costs to comply with any new labea ling requirements relating to the term “naturt al” and could be
subject to liabia lities if we faff il to timely comply with such requirements, which could have a material adverse effff eff ct
on our business, fiff nancial condition, and results of operations.
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FaiFF lii ure tott complm yll witii htt governmentaltt regue latll itt ons or thtt e expanee sion of exiee sii titt nii g or thtt e enactmtt ent of new lawll s or
regue latll itt ons applill cablell tott our vetett rinii aryr services couldll adversrr elyll affff eff ct our businii ess and our fiff nii ancial conditii itt on
or lell ad tott fiff nii es,s lill tii itt gati itt on, or our inii abilii ill tii ytt tott offff eff r vetett rinii aryr productstt or services inii certaitt nii stattt ett s.

All of the states in which we operate impose various registration, permit, and/or licensing requirements
relating to the provision of veterinaryrr products and services. To fulff fiff ll these requirements, we believe that we have
registered with appra opriate governmental agencies and, where required, have appoia nted a licensed veterinarian to act
on behalf of each faff cility. All veterinarians practicing in our veterinaryrr service businesses are required to maintain
valid state licenses to practice.

In addition, certain states have laws, rulr es, and regulations which require that veterinaryrr medical practices be
owned by licensed veterinarians and that corporrr ations which are not owned by licensed veterinarians refrff ain frff om
providing, or holding themselves out as providers of,ff veterinaryrr medical care, or directly employing or otherwise
exercising control over veterinarians providing such care. We may experience diffff iff culty in expanding our operations
into other states or jurisdictions with similar laws, rulrr es, and regulations. Our provision of veterinaryrr services
through tele-veterinarian offff eff rings is also subject to an evolving set of laws, rulr es, and regulations. Although we
believe that we have strucr turt ed our operations to comply with our understanding of the veterinaryrr medicine laws of
each state or jurisdiction in which we operate, interprr etive legal precedent and regulatoryrr guidance varies by
jurisdiction and is oftff en sparse and not fulff ly developed. A determination that we are in violation of appla icabla e
restrictions on the practice of veterinaryrr medicine in any jurisdiction in which we operate could have a material
adverse effff eff ct on us, particularly if we are unabla e to restrucrr turt e our operations to comply with the requirements of
that jurisdiction.

We strive to comply with all appla icabla e laws, regulations and other legal obligations appla icabla e to any
veterinaryrr services we provide. It is possible, however, that these requirements may be interprrr eted and appla ied in a
manner that is inconsistent frff om one jurisdiction to another or may conflff ict with other rulrr es or our practices. We
cannot guarantee that our practices have complied, comply, or will comply fulff ly with all such laws, regulations,
requirements, and obligations. Any faff ilure, or perceived faff ilure, by us to comply with our fiff led permits and licenses
with any appla icabla e feff deral-, state-, or international-related laws, industryrr standards or codes of conduct, regulatoryrr
guidance, orders to which we may be subject, or other legal obligations relating to privacy or consumer protection
could adversely affff eff ct our reputation, brand, and business, and may result in claims, proceedings or actions against
us by governmental entities or others or other liabia lities. Any such claim, proceeding, or action could hurt our
reputation, brand and business, forff ce us to incur signififf cant expenses in defeff nding such proceedings, distract our
management, increase our costs of doing business, result in a loss of customers and vendors, and may result in the
imposition of monetaryrr liabia lity. We may also be contractuat lly liabla e to indemnifyff and hold harmless third parties
frff om the costs or consequences of non-compliance with any laws or regulations appla icabla e to our veterinaryrr
services. In addition, various feff deral, state, and forff eign legislative and regulatoryrr bodies may expand existing laws
or regulations, enact new laws or regulations, or issue revised rulr es or guidance appla icabla e to our veterinaryrr services.
Any such changes may forff ce us to incur substantial costs or require us to change our business practices. This could
compromise our abia lity to pursue our growth strategy effff eff ctively and may adversely affff eff ct our abia lity to acquire
customers or otherwise harm our business, fiff nancial condition, and results of operations.

Regue latll itt on of thtt e salell of peff t inii surance isii subject tott change,e and fuff ture regue latll itt ons couldll harmrr our businii ess,s
operatitt nii g resultll stt ,s and fiff nii ancial conditii itt on.

Our business operates in the pet insurance market. The laws and regulations governing the offff eff r, sale, and
purchase of pet insurance are subject to change, and futff urt e changes may be adverse to our business. For example, if
a jurisdiction were to alter the requirements forff obtaining or maintaining an agent’s license in connection with the
enrollment of a member, it could have a material adverse effff eff ct on our operations. Some states in the U.S. have
adopted, and others are expected to adopt, new laws and regulations related to the pet insurance industry.rr It is
diffff iff cult to predict how these or any other new laws and regulations will impact our business, but, in some cases,
changes in insurance laws, regulations, and guidelines may require that we make signififf cant modififf cations to our
practices, which may be costly and diffff iff cult to implement, could harm our abia lity to effff eff ctively grow our pet
insurance offff eff rings, and could also harm business, operating results and fiff nancial condition.
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WeWW are subject tott risii ks relatll ett d tott onlill nii e payment methtt ods and our PePP tctt o PayPP promotitt onal fiff nii ancinii g program.

We currently accept payments using a variety of methods, including credit cards, debit cards, Paypal, Klarna,
and giftff cards. As we offff eff r new payment options to consumers, we may be subject to additional regulations,
compliance requirements, frff aud, and other risks. For certain payment methods, we pay interchange and other feff es,
which may increase over time and raise our operating costs and lower profiff tabia lity. As a merchant that accepts debit
and credit cards forff payment, we are subject to PCI DSS, which contains compliance guidelines and standards with
regard to our security surrounding the physical administrative and technical storage, processing, and transmission of
individual cardholder data. By accepting debit cards forff payment, we are also subject to compliance with American
National Standards Institutt e data encryptrr ion standards and payment network security operating guidelines.

Failure to be PCI compliant or to meet other payment card standards may result in the imposition of fiff nancial
penalties or the allocation by the card brands of the costs of frff audulent charges to us. Additionally, the Fair and
Accurate Credit Transactions Act requires systems that print payment card receipts to employ personal account
number truncrr ation so that the customer’s fulff l account number is not viewabla e on the slip.

As our business changes, we may be subject to diffff eff rent rulrr es under existing standards, which may require
new assessments that involve costs abovea what we currently pay forff compliance. In the futff urt e, as we offff eff r new
payment options to consumers, including by way of integrating emerging mobile and other payment methods, we
may be subject to additional regulations, compliance requirements, and frff aud. If we faff il to comply with the rulrr es or
requirements of any provider of a payment method we accept, if the volume of frff aud in our transactions limits or
terminates our rights to use payment methods we currently accept, or if a data breach occurs relating to our payment
systems, we may, among other things, be subject to fiff nes, legal proceedings, or higher transaction feff es and may lose,
or faff ce restrictions placed upon, our abia lity to accept credit card payments frff om consumers or faff cilitate other types
of online payments. If any of these events were to occur, our business, fiff nancial condition, and results of operations
could be materially and adversely affff eff cted.

We also occasionally receive orders placed with frff audulent data. Although we have measures in place to
detect and reduce the occurrence of such frff audulent activity, those measures are not always effff eff ctive, and we have
incurred, and could in the futff urt e incur, losses forff such frff audulent transactions, which could harm our business,
fiff nancial condition, and results of operations.

We offff eff r promotional fiff nancing and credit cards issued by third-party banks that manage and directly extend
credit to our customers through our Petco Pay program. Customers using Petco Pay can earn rewards forff making
purchases on the Petco-branded credit cards or receive extended payment terms and low interest fiff nancing on
qualifyiff ng purchases. Petco Pay has generated incremental revenue frff om customers who prefeff r the fiff nancing terms
to other availabla e forff ms of payment or otherwise need access to fiff nancing in order to make purchases. In addition,
we earn profiff t share income and share in any losses frff om certain of our banking partners based on the perforff mance
of the programs. The income or loss we earn in this regard is subject to numerous faff ctors, including the volume and
value of transactions, the terms of promotional fiff nancing offff eff rs, bad debt rates, interest rates, the macroeconomic,
regulatoryrr and competitive environment, and expenses of operating the program. Adverse changes to any of these
faff ctors could impair our abia lity to offff eff r Petco Pay to customers, reduce customer purchases, or impair our abia lity to
earn income frff om sharing in the profiff ts of the program.

Our markerr titt nii g programs,s e-commerce inii itii itt atitt ves,s and use of consumer inii fn orff mrr atitt on are governed by an evolvll inii g
set of lawll s and enfn orff cement trtt ends,s and changes inii privacyc lawll s or trtt ends,s or our faff ilii ure tott complm yll witii htt exiee sii titt nii g
or fuff ture lawll s,s couldll substantt titt allll yll harmrr our businii ess and resultll stt of operatitt ons.

We collect, maintain, use, and share personal inforff mation provided to us through online activities and other
consumer, employee, and business-to-business interactions in order to provide a better experience forff our customers,
employees, and vendors. Our current and futff urt e marketing programs depend on our abia lity to collect, maintain, use,
and share this personal inforff mation with service providers and other third-party vendors, and our abia lity to do so
depends on the trusrr t that our customers place in us and our abia lity to maintain that trusr t. Additionally, our use of
consumer data is subject to the terms of our privacy policies and certain contractuat l restrictions in third-party
contracts as well as evolving feff deral, state, and international laws and enforff cement trends. While we strive to
comply with all such regulatoryrr and contractuat l obligations and believe that we are good stewards of our customers’
data, this area is rapia dly evolving, and it is possible that these requirements may be interprr eted and appla ied in a
manner that is inconsistent frff om one jurisdiction to another, may conflff ict with other rulr es, or may conflff ict with our
practices. If so, we may suffff eff r damage to our reputation and be subject to proceedings or actions against us by
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governmental entities or others. Due to the rapia dly evolving natut re of this area of the law, we have seen an increase
in claims fiff led against us and others by plaintiffff sff alleging violations of various data privacy laws. Although we
believe many such proceedings are fiff led without merit, and no such proceeding fiff led against us has subjected us to
material liabia lity to date, any such proceeding or action could hurt our reputation, forff ce us to spend signififf cant
amounts to defeff nd our practices, distract our management, increase our costs of doing business, and result in
monetaryrr liabia lity.

One of the ways we track consumer data and interactions forff marketing purposr es, as well as advertise certain
employment opportunit ties, is through the use of third-party “cookies” and similar online tracking technologies.
Federal and state governmental authorities continue to evaluate the privacy implications inherent in the use of third-
party cookies and other methods of online tracking (such as pixels, tags, and beacons) forff behavioral advertising and
other purposr es. The U.S. government and various states have enacted, have considered, or are considering
legislation or regulations that signififf cantly restrict the abia lity of companies and individuals to engage in these
activities, such as by regulating the level of consumer notice and consent required beforff e a company can employ
cookies or other electronic tracking tools or the use of data gathered with such tools. In addition, private litigants
may claim the use of these tracking technologies invades their privacy, violates privacy or other laws, or constitutt es
an unfaff ir business practice. Additionally, some providers of consumer devices and web browsers have implemented,
or announced plans to implement, means to make it easier forff internet users to prevent the placement of cookies or
to block other tracking technologies, which could, if widely adopted, result in the use of third-party cookies and
other methods of online tracking becoming signififf cantly less effff eff ctive, including forff recruir ting purposr es. The
regulation of the use of these cookies and other current online tracking, recruir ting, and advertising practices or a loss
in our abia lity to make effff eff ctive use of services that employ such technologies could increase our costs of operations
and/or recruir tment, and limit our abia lity to acquire new customers and/or staffff on cost-effff eff ctive terms and,
consequently, materially and adversely affff eff ct our business, fiff nancial condition, and results of operations.

In addition, various feff deral and state legislative and regulatoryrr bodies, or self-ff regulatoryrr organizations, may
expand or furff ther enforff ce current laws or regulations, enact new laws or regulations, or issue revised rulr es or
guidance regarding privacy, data protection, consumer protection, and advertising. For example, in June 2018,
Califorff nia enacted the Califorff nia Consumer Privacy Act (the “CCPA”), which took effff eff ct on Januaryrr 1, 2020. The
CCPA gave Califorff nia residents expanded rights to access and delete their personal inforff mation, opt out of certain
uses of personal inforff mation, and receive detailed inforff mation aba out what personal inforff mation is collected, how
their personal inforff mation is used, and how that personal inforff mation is shared. The CCPA provided forff civil
penalties forff violations enforff ced by the Califorff nia Attorney General, as well as a private right of action forff data
breaches that has resulted in an increase data breach litigation. Further, on November 3, 2020, the Califorff nia Privacy
Rights Act (the “CPRARR ”) was voted into law by Califorff nia residents and went into effff eff ct on Januaryrr 1, 2023. The
CPRARR signififf cantly amends the CCPA, and imposes additional data protection obligations on companies doing
business in Califorff nia, including additional consumer rights processes and opt outs forff certain uses of sensitive data.
It also created the Califorff nia Privacy Protection Agency, a new data protection agency specififf cally tasked to issue
privacy regulations and enforff ce the law, which is likely to result in increased regulatoryrr scrutr iny of Califorff nia
businesses in the areas of data protection and security. In particular, the Califorff nia Privacy Protection Agency is
currently engaged in forff mal rulr emaking to adopt regulations implementing the CPRARR . Some observers have noted
that the CCPA and CPRARR could mark the beginning of a trend toward more stringent state privacy legislation in the
United States. Similar laws have been passed in several other states, and have been proposed in additional states and
at the feff deral level. If passed, such laws may have potentially conflff icting requirements that would make compliance
challenging. We have incurred and may continue to incur costs to adapta our systems and practices to comply with
the these requirements, and these costs may adversely affff eff ct our fiff nancial condition and results of operations.
Additionally, the Federal Trade Commission (the “FTC”) and many state attorneys general are interprr eting existing
feff deral and state consumer protection laws to impose evolving standards forff the online collection, use,
dissemination, and security of other personal data. Courts may also adopt the standards forff faff ir inforff mation practices
promulgated by the FTC, which concern consumer notice, choice, security, and access. Consumer protection laws
require us to publish statements that describe how we handle personal data and choices individuals may have abouta
the way we handle their personal data. If such inforff mation that we publish is considered untruerr , we may be subject
to government claims of unfaff ir or deceptive trade practices, which could lead to signififf cant liabia lities and
consequences. Further, according to the FTC, violating consumers’ privacy rights or faff iling to take appra opriate steps
to keep consumers’ personal data secure may constitutt e unfaff ir acts or practices in or affff eff cting commerce in violation
of Section 5(a) of the Federal Trade Commission Act.
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Each of these privacy, security, and data protection laws and regulations—and others, including the CANA -
SPAM Act of 2003, regulating our use of certain electronic mail marketing and state data breach notififf cation laws
requiring notififf cations to state residents in certain instances—and any other such changes or new laws or
regulations, could impose signififf cant limitations, require changes to our business, or restrict our use or storage of
personal inforff mation, which may increase our compliance expenses and make our business costlier or less effff iff cient
to conduct. In addition, any such changes could compromise our abia lity to develop an adequate marketing strategy
and pursue our growth strategy effff eff ctively, which, in turt n, could adversely affff eff ct our business, fiff nancial condition,
and results of operations.

WeWW facff e thtt e risii k of lill tii itt gati itt on resultll itt nii g frff om unauthtt orizii ed tett xtee messages sent inii violatll itt on of thtt e TeTT lell phee one
ConCC sumer PrPP otett ctitt on Act.tt

We send short message service, or SMS, text messages to customers and job candidates. The actuat l or
perceived improper sending of text messages may subject us to potential risks, including liabia lities or claims relating
to consumer protection laws. For example, the Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 1991, a feff deral statutt e that
protects consumers frff om unwanted telephone calls, faff xes, and text messages, restricts telemarketing and the use of
automated SMS text messages without proper consent. Numerous class-action suits under feff deral and state laws
have been fiff led in recent years against companies who conduct SMS texting programs, with many resulting in multi-
million-dollar settlements to the plaintiffff sff . Federal or state regulatoryrr authorities or private litigants may claim that
the notices and disclosures we provide, forff m of consents we obtain, or our SMS texting practices are not adequate or
violate appla icabla e law, resulting in civil claims against us. The scope and interprr etation of the laws that are or may
be appla icabla e to the deliveryrr of text messages are continuously evolving and developing. If we do not comply with
these laws or regulations or if we become liabla e under these laws or regulations, we could faff ce direct liabia lity, could
be required to change some portions of our business model, or could faff ce negative publicity, and our business,
fiff nancial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affff eff cted as a result. Even an unsuccessfulff challenge
of our SMS texting practices by our customers, regulatoryrr authorities, or other third parties could result in negative
publicity and could require a costly response frff om and defeff nse by us.

PrPP oduct recallll sll and product lill abilii ill tii ytt ,yy as wellll as changes inii product safeff tytt and othtt er consumer protett ctitt on lawll s,s
may adversrr elyll imii pacm t our operatitt ons,s merchandisii e offff eff rinii gs,s repuee tattt itt on, fiff nii ancial conditii itt on, resultll stt of
operatitt ons,s and cash flff owll s.

We are subject to regulations by a variety of feff deral, state, and international regulatoryrr authorities, including
regulations regarding the safeff ty and quality of our products. We purchase merchandise frff om several hundred
diffff eff rent vendors. One or more of our vendors, including manufaff cturt ers of our owned or private labea l brand
products, might not adhere to product safeff ty requirements or our quality control standards, and we might not identifyff
the defiff ciency beforff e merchandise ships to our pet care centers. Any issues of product safeff ty or allegations that our
products are in violation of governmental regulations, including, but not limited to, issues involving products
manufaff cturt ed in forff eign countries, could cause those products to be recalled. If our vendors faff il to manufaff cturt e or
import merchandise that adheres to our quality control standards, product safeff ty requirements, or appla icabla e
governmental regulations, our reputation and brands could be damaged, potentially leading to decreased sales or
increases in customer litigation against us. Further, to the extent we are unabla e to replace any recalled products, we
may have to reduce our merchandise offff eff rings, resulting in a decrease in sales. If our vendors are unabla e or
unwilling to recall products faff iling to meet our quality standards, we may be required to recall those products at a
substantial cost to us. Moreover, changes in product safeff ty or other consumer protection laws could lead to increased
costs to us forff certain merchandise, or additional labora costs associated with readying merchandise forff sale. Long
lead times on merchandise ordering cycles increase the diffff iff culty forff us to plan and prepare forff potential changes to
appla icabla e laws. In the event that we are unabla e to timely comply with regulatoryrr changes or regulators do not
believe we are complying with current regulations appla icabla e to us, signififf cant fiff nes or penalties could result, and
could adversely affff eff ct our reputation, fiff nancial condition, results of operations, and cash flff ows.

FaiFF lii ure tott establtt ill sii h, mainii taitt nii , protett ct,tt and enfn orff ce our inii tett llll ell ctual propertytt and proprietartt yr righi tstt or prevent
thtt iri d partitt es frff om makinii g unauthtt orizii ed use of our tett chnologyll or our brand couldll harmrr our compem titt tii itt ve positii itt on
or requirii e us tott inii cur signi ifi iff cant expeee nses tott enfn orff ce our righi tstt .

Our trademarks, such as Bond & Co., EveryYrr ay, Good 2 Go, Good Lovin’, Harmony, Imagitarium, Leapsa &
Bounds, Pals Rewards, Petco, Petco Love, PetCoach, PupBox, Reddy, RufRR fff & Mews, So Phresh, Vetco, Well &
Good, WholeHearted, You & Me, Youly, Vital Care Core, and Vital Care Premier, are valuabla e assets that support
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our brand and consumers’ perception of our products. We rely on trademark, copyright, trade secret, patent, and
other intellectuat l property laws, as well as nondisclosure and confiff dentiality agreements and other methods, to
protect our trademarks, trade names, proprietaryrr inforff mation, technologies, and processes. We might not be abla e to
obtain broad protection in the United States forff all of our intellectuat l property. The protection of our intellectuat l
property rights may require the expenditurt e of signififf cant fiff nancial, managerial, and operational resources.
Moreover, the steps we take to protect our intellectuat l property may not adequately protect our rights or prevent
third parties frff om infrff inging or misappra opriating our proprietaryrr rights, and we may be unabla e to broadly enforff ce all
of our trademarks. Any of our patents, trademarks, or other intellectuat l property rights may be challenged by others
or invalidated through administrative process or litigation. Our patent and trademark appla ications may never be
granted. Additionally, the process of obtaining patent protection is expensive and time-consuming, and we may be
unabla e to prosecute all necessaryrr or desirabla e patent appla ications at a reasonabla e cost or in a timely manner. Even if
issued, there can be no assurance that these patents will adequately protect our intellectuat l property, as the legal
standards relating to the validity, enforff ceabia lity, and scope of protection of patent and other intellectuat l property
rights are uncertain. We also cannot be certain that others will not independently develop or otherwise acquire
equivalent or superior technology or intellectuat l property rights. Further, our nondisclosure agreements and
confiff dentiality agreements may not effff eff ctively prevent disclosure of our proprietaryrr inforff mation, technologies, and
processes and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosure of such inforff mation,
which could harm our competitive position. In addition, effff eff ctive intellectuat l property protection may be unavailabla e
or limited forff some of our trademarks and patents in some forff eign countries. We might be required to expend
signififf cant resources to monitor and protect our intellectuat l property rights. For example, we may need to engage in
litigation or similar activities to enforff ce our intellectuat l property rights, to protect our trade secrets, or to determine
the validity and scope of proprietaryrr rights of others. However, we may be unabla e to discover or determine the
extent of any infrff ingement, misappra opriation, or other violation of our intellectuat l property rights and other
proprietaryrr rights. Despite our effff orff ts, we may be unabla e to prevent third parties frff om infrff inging upon,
misappra opriating, or otherwise violating our intellectuat l property rights and other proprietaryrr rights. Any such
litigation, whether or not resolved in our faff vor, could require us to expend signififf cant resources and divert the effff orff ts
and attention of our management and other personnel frff om our business operations. If we faff il to protect our
intellectuat l property, our business, fiff nancial condition, and results of operations may be materially adversely
affff eff cted.

WeWW may be subject tott inii tett llll ell ctual propertytt inii fn rff inii gement claill mii s or othtt er allll ell gate itt ons,s which couldll resultll inii
substantt titt al damages and diversrr ion of management’s’ efe fff orff tstt and atttt ett ntitt on.

We have obligations with respect to the non-use and non-disclosure of third-party intellectuat l property. The
steps we take to prevent misappra opriation, infrff ingement, or other violations of the intellectuat l property of others
may not be successfulff . From time to time, third parties have asserted intellectuat l property infrff ingement claims
against us and may continue to do so in the futff urt e. These risks have been amplififf ed by the increase in third parties
whose sole or primaryrr business is to assert such claims. While we believe that our products and operations do not
infrff inge in any material respect upon proprietaryrr rights of other parties and/or that meritorious defeff nses would exist
with respect to any assertions to the contrary,rr we may frff om time to time be foundff to infrff inge on the proprietaryrr
rights of others.

Any claims that our products, services, systems, appla ications, or marketing materials infrff inge the proprietaryrr
rights of third parties, regardless of their merit or resolution, could be costly to investigate, defeff nd and/or settle,
result in injunctions against us or payment of damages or licensing feff es by us, and may divert the effff orff ts and
attention of our management and technical personnel. We may not prevail in such proceedings given the complex
technical issues and inherent uncertainties in intellectuat l property litigation. If such proceedings result in an adverse
outcome, we could, among other things, be required to:

• pay substantial damages (potentially treble damages in the United States);

• cease the manufaff cturt e, use, distribution, or sale of the infrff inging products, operations, or services;

• discontinue the use of the infrff inging methods or processes;

• expend signififf cant resources to develop non-infrff inging products, operations, or services or re-brand our
business and products; and

• obtain a license frff om the third party claiming infrff ingement, which may not be availabla e on
commercially reasonabla e terms, or may not be availabla e at all.
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If any of the forff egoing occurs, our abia lity to compete in the markets in which we operate could be affff eff cted or
our business, fiff nancial condition, and results of operations may be materially adversely affff eff cted.

WeWW are partytt tott routitt nii e lill tii itt gati itt on arisii inii g inii thtt e ordinii aryr coursrr e of our businii ess and may become inii volvll ed inii
additii itt onal lill tii itt gati itt on, allll of which couldll requirii e titt mii e and atttt ett ntitt on frff om certaitt nii membersrr ofo management and
resultll inii signi ifi iff cant lell gale expeee nses.

We are involved in litigation arising in the ordinaryrr course of business, including claims related to feff deral or
state wage and hour laws, working conditions, product liabia lity, consumer protection, advertising, employment,
intellectuat l property, tort, privacy and data protection, disputes with landlords and vendors, claims frff om customers
or employees alleging faff ilure to maintain safeff premises, and other matters. Even if we prevail, litigation can be time-
consuming and expensive. An unfaff vorabla e outcome in one or more of these existing lawsuits, or futff urt e litigation to
which we become a party, could have a material adverse effff eff ct on our business, fiff nancial condition, results of
operations, and cash flff ows.

WeWW are subject tott envirii onmentaltt ,ll healtll htt , and safeff tytt lawll sw and regue latll itt ons thtt at couldll resultll inii coststt tott us.
In connection with the ownership and operations of our pet care centers and distribution centers, we are

subject to laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment and health and safeff ty matters, including
those governing the management and disposal of wastes and the cleanup of contaminated sites. We could incur
costs, including fiff nes and other sanctions, cleanup costs, and third-party claims, as a result of violations of or
liabia lities under environmental laws and regulations. Although we are not aware of any of our sites at which we
currently have material remedial obligations, the imposition of remedial obligations as a result of the discoveryrr of
contaminants in the futff urt e could result in additional costs.

Continuing political and social attention to the issue of climate change has resulted in both existing and
pending international agreements and national, regional, or local legislation and regulatoryrr measures to limit
greenhouse gas emissions, such as capa and trade regimes, carbonr taxes, restrictive permitting, increased fueff l
effff iff ciency standards, and incentives or mandates forff renewabla e energy, as well as legal and regulatoryrr requirements
requiring certain climate-related disclosures, and pressure frff om shareholders, ratings agencies, and other third
parties to make various climate-related disclosures. Such measures have subjected us, and may subject our vendors,
to additional costs and restrictions and require signififf cant operating and capia tal expenditurt es, including with respect
to waste and energy reduction, compliance costs, and workforff ce initiatives, which could adversely impact our
business, fiff nancial condition, results of operations and cash flff ows.

WeWW may faiff lii tott complm yll witii htt various stattt ett or feff deral regue latll itt ons coverinii g thtt e disii pes nsinii g of prff escriptii itt on pet
medicatitt ons,s inii cludinii g contrtt ollll ell d substantt ces,s thtt roughu our vetett rinii aryr services businii esses,s which may subject us
tott repree imii ands,s sanctitt ons,s probatitt ons,s fiff nii es,s or suspes nsions.

The sale and deliveryrr of prescription pet medications and controlled substances through our veterinaryrr
services businesses are governed by extensive regulation and oversight by feff deral and state governmental
authorities. The laws and regulations governing our operations and interprr etations of those laws and regulations are
increasing in number and complexity, change frff equently, and can be inconsistent or conflff icting. In addition, the
governmental authorities that regulate our business have broad latitudet to make, interprr et, and enforff ce the laws and
regulations that govern our operations and continue to interprrr et and enforff ce those laws and regulations more strictly
and more aggressively each year. In the futff urt e, we may be subject to routine administrative complaints incidental to
the dispensing of prescription pet medications through our veterinaryrr services businesses.

If we are unabla e to maintain the licenses granted by relevant state authorities in connection with our
dispensing of prescription pet medications, or if we become subject to actions by the FDA, the DEA, or other
regulators, our dispensing of prescription medications to pet parents could cease and we may be subject to
reprimands, sanctions, probations, fiff nes, or suspensions, which could have a material adverse effff eff ct on our business,
fiff nancial condition, and results of operations.

As a publill c companm yn ,yy we are subject tott additii itt onal lawll s,s regue latll itt ons,s and stoctt k excee hange lill sii titt nii g stantt dards,s
which imii posm e additii itt onal coststt on us and requirii e our management’s’ atttt ett ntitt on.

As a public company, we are subjb ect to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbar nes-Oxley
Act of 2002, as amended (the “Sarbar nes-Oxley Act”), the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reforff m and Consumer Protection
Act of 2010, the listing requirements of Nasdaq, and other appla icabla e securities laws and regulations. Compliance
with these laws and regulations has increased our legal and fiff nancial compliance costs and makes some activities
more diffff iff cult, time-consuming, and/or costly. For example, the Exchange Act requires us, among other things, to



33

fiff le annual, quarterly, and current reports with respect to our business and operating results. Being subject to rulr es
and regulations appla icabla e to public companies makes it more expensive forff us to obtain director and offff iff cer liabia lity
insurance, and we may be required to accept reduced coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain coverage.
These additional requirements impose signififf cant additional costs on us and require a signififf cant amount of our
management’s attention, and could affff eff ct our abia lity to attract and retain qualififf ed board members.

Our aspis rii atitt ons,s goalsll ,s and inii itii itt atitt ves relatll ett d tott sustaitt nii abilii ill tii ytt ,yy and our publill c stattt ett mentstt and didd sii closll ures
regare dinii g thtt em, exposee e us tott numerous risii ks.

We have developed, and will continue to establa ish, goals, targets, and other objectives related to sustainabia lity
matters. These statements reflff ect our current plans and do not constitutt e a guarantee that they will be achieved. Our
effff orff ts to research, establa ish, accomplish, and accurately report on these goals, targets, and objectives expose us to
numerous operational, reputational, fiff nancial, legal, and other risks. Our abia lity to achieve any stated goal, target, or
objective is subject to numerous faff ctors and conditions, many of which are outside of our control. Examples of such
faff ctors include evolving regulatoryrr requirements affff eff cting sustainabia lity standards or disclosures or imposing
diffff eff rent requirements, evolving disclosure standards and/or policies establa ished by regulators and standards
organizations, stockholders, ratings agencies, and proxy advisoryrr fiff rms, the pace of changes in technology, the
availabia lity of requisite fiff nancing, and the availabia lity of suppliers that can meet our sustainabia lity and other
standards. Furthermore, methodologies forff reporting sustainabia lity inforff mation may be updated and previously
reported inforff mation may be adjusted to reflff ect improvement in the availabia lity and quality of third-party data,
changing assumptions, changes in the naturt e and scope of our operations, and other changes in circumstances. Our
processes and controls forff reporting sustainabia lity inforff mation across our operations are evolving along with
multiple disparate standards forff identifyiff ng, measuring, and reporting sustainabia lity metrics, including sustainabia lity-
related disclosures that may be required by the SEC and other regulators, and such standards may change over time,
which could result in signififf cant revisions to our current goals or reported progress in achieving such goals, or
adversely impact our abia lity to achieve such goals in the futff urt e.

Our business may faff ce increased scrutr iny frff om the investment community, other stakeholders, and the media
related to our sustainabia lity activities, including the goals, targets, and objectives that we announce, and our
methodologies and timelines forff pursuing them. If our sustainaba ility practices do not meet investor or other
stakeholder expectations and standards, which continue to evolve, our reputation, our abia lity to attract or retain
employees and customers, and our attractiveness as an investment, business partner, or as an acquiror could be
negatively impacted. Similarly, our faff ilure or perceived faff ilure to pursue or fulff fiff ll our goals, targets, and objectives,
to comply with ethical, environmental, or other standards, regulations, or expectations, or to satisfyff various reporting
standards with respect to these matters, within the timelines we announce, or at all, could have the same negative
impacts, as well as expose us to government enforff cement actions and private litigation. Furthermore, positions we
take or do not take on social issues may be unpopular with some of our customers, partners, advocacy groups, or
other stakeholders in the communities in which we operate, which may lead to adverse effff eff cts on our business. Even
if we achieve our goals, targets, and objectives, we may not realize all of the benefiff ts that we expected at the time
they were establa ished.

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness

Our substantt titt al inii debtett dness couldll adversrr elyll affff eff ct our cash flff owll s and prevent us frff om fuff lfll iff lii lll ill nii g our oblill gati itt ons
under exiee sii titt nii g debt agreementstt .

At Januaryrr 28, 2023, we had outstanding a (i) $1,700 million secured term loan faff cility maturt ing on March 4,
2028 (the “First Lien Term Loan”) and (ii) secured asset-based revolving credit faff cility providing forff senior secured
fiff nancing of up to $500 million, subject to a borrowing base, maturt ing on March 4, 2026 (the “ABL Revolving
Credit Facility”). Our substantial indebtedness could restrict our operations and could have important consequences.
For example, it could:

• make it more diffff iff cult forff us to satisfyff our obligations with respect to our existing indebtedness;

• increase our vulnerabia lity to general adverse economic and industryrr conditions;

• require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flff ows frff om operations to payments on our
indebtedness, thereby reducing the availabia lity of our cash flff ows to fundff working capia tal and capia tal
expenditurt es, and forff other general corporr ate purposrr es;

• limit our flff exibility in planning forff , or reacting to, changes in our business and industry,rr which may
place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt;
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• restrict us frff om making strategic acquisitions or other investments or cause us to make non-strategic
divestiturt es; and

• limit, along with the fiff nancial and other restrictive covenants in the documents governing our
indebtedness, among other things, our abia lity to obtain additional fiff nancing forff working capia tal and
capia tal expenditurt es, and forff other general corporrr ate purposr es.

Please read “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—
Liquidity and Capia tal Resources” forff descriptions of the First Lien Term Loan and ABL Revolving Credit Facility.

ThTT e agreementstt governinii g our inii debtett dness inii clude restrtt ictitt ve covenantstt thtt at lill mii itii our operatitt nii g flff ell xiee bilii ill tii ytt ,yy
which couldll harmrr our lonll g-tett rmrr inii tett reststt .

The First Lien Term Loan and ABL Revolving Credit Facility both impose material restrictions on us. These
restrictions, subject in certain cases to ordinaryrr course of business and other exceptions, may limit our abia lity to
engage in some transactions, including the folff lowing:

• incurring additional debt;

• paying dividends, redeeming capia tal stock, or making other restricted payments or investments;

• selling assets, properties, or licenses;

• creating liens on assets;

• entering into sale and lease-back transactions;

• undergoing a change in control;

• merging, consolidating, or disposing of substantially all assets;

• entering into new lines of business;

• entering into transactions with affff iff liates; and

• placing restrictions on the abia lity of subsidiaries to pay dividends or make other payments.

Any of these restrictions on our abia lity to operate our business in our discretion could adversely affff eff ct our
business by, among other things, limiting our abia lity to adapta to changing economic, fiff nancial, or industryrr conditions
and to take advantage of corporr ate opportunit ties, including opportunit ties to obtain debt fiff nancing, repurchase stock,
refiff nance or pay principal on our outstanding debt, or complete acquisitions forff cash or debt.

Any futff urt e debt that we incur may contain fiff nancial maintenance covenants. In addition, the ABL Revolving
Credit Facility contains fiff nancial maintenance covenants that are triggered by certain conditions. Events beyond our
control, including prevailing economic, fiff nancial, and industryrr conditions, could affff eff ct our abia lity to satisfyff these
fiff nancial maintenance covenants, and we cannot assure you that we will satisfyff them.

Any faff ilure to comply with the restrictions of the First Lien Term Loan, ABL Revolving Credit Facility, and
any subsequent fiff nancing agreements, including as a result of events beyond our control, may result in an event of
defaff ult under these agreements, which in turt n may result in defaff ults or acceleration of obligations under these
agreements and other agreements, giving our lenders and other debt holders the right to terminate any commitments
they may have made to provide us with furff ther fundsff and to require us to repay all amounts then outstanding. Our
assets and cash flff ow may not be suffff iff cient to fulff ly repay borrowings under our outstanding debt instrumr ents. In
addition, we may not be abla e to refiff nance or restrucr turt e the payments on the appla icabla e debt. Even if we were abla e to
secure additional fiff nancing, it may not be availabla e on faff vorabla e terms.

Despis tii ett current inii debtett dness lell velsll ,s we may inii cur substantt titt al additii itt onal inii debtett dness inii thtt e fuff ture.ee ThTT isii couldll
fuff rthtt er inii crease thtt e risii ks associatett d witii htt our substantt titt al lell verage.ee

We may incur substantial additional indebtedness in the futff urt e, which would increase our debt service
obligations and could furff ther reduce the cash availabla e to invest in operations. The terms of the credit agreements
governing the First Lien Term Loan and ABL Revolving Credit Facility allow us and our subsidiaries to incur
additional indebtedness, subject to limitations. As of Januaryrr 28, 2023, we and our subsidiaries had an additional
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$443.9 million of unused commitments availabla e to be borrowed under the ABL Revolving Credit Facility. This
amount is net of $56.1 million of outstanding letters of credit issued in the normal course of business and no
borrowing base reduction forff a shortfaff ll in qualifyiff ng assets. If new debt is added to our debt levels, or any debt is
incurred by our subsidiaries, the related risks that we and our subsidiaries now faff ce could increase.

ToTT service our inii debtett dness,s we requiri e a signi ifi iff cant amount of cash. Our abilii ill tii ytt tott generatett or access cash
depeee nds on manyn facff tortt srr beye ond our contrtt ol.ll

Our abia lity to make payments on and refiff nance our indebtedness, and to fundff planned capia tal expenditurt es,
depends on our abia lity to generate or access cash in the futff urt e. This abia lity is subject to general economic, fiff nancial
(including prevailing interest rates), competitive, legislative, regulatory,rr and other faff ctors that are beyond our
control.

We cannot assure you that our business will generate suffff iff cient cash flff ows frff om operations or that futff urt e
borrowings will be availabla e to us under the ABL Revolving Credit Facility in an amount suffff iff cient to enabla e us to
pay our indebtedness or to fundff our other liquidity needs. Further, we cannot assure you that we will be abla e to
refiff nance any of our indebtedness, including the First Lien Term Loan and the ABL Revolving Credit Facility, on
commercially reasonabla e terms, or at all.

Our faiff lii ure tott complm yll witii htt thtt e covenantstt contaitt nii ed inii thtt e creditii agreementstt forff thtt e FiFF rii srr t Lien TeTT rmrr Loan and
thtt e ABLBB Revolvll inii g CrCC editii FacFF ilii ill tii ytt ,yy inii cludinii g as a resultll of eventstt beye ond our contrtt ol,ll couldll resultll inii an event of
defe auff ltll thtt at couldll cause repayee ment of our debt tott be accelell ratett d.

If we are not abla e to comply with the covenants and other requirements contained in the credit agreements
governing the First Lien Term Loan, the ABL Revolving Credit Facility, or any other debt instrumr ents, an event of
defaff ult under the relevant debt instrumrr ent could occur. In addition to imposing restrictions on our business and
operations, some of our debt instrumr ents include covenants relating to fiff nancial ratios and tests. Our abia lity to
comply with these covenants may be affff eff cted by events beyond our control, including prevailing economic,
fiff nancial, and industryrr conditions. The breach of any of these covenants would result in a defaff ult under these
instrumr ents. If an event of defaff ult does occur under one of these agreements, it could trigger a defaff ult under our
other debt instrumr ents, prohibit us frff om accessing additional borrowings, and permit the holders of the defaff ulted
debt to declare amounts outstanding with respect to that debt to be immediately due and payabla e. Our assets and
cash flff ows may not be suffff iff cient to fulff ly repay borrowings under our outstanding debt instrumr ents. In addition, we
may not be abla e to refiff nance or restrucr turt e the payments on the appla icabla e debt. Even if we were abla e to secure
additional fiff nancing, it may not be availabla e on faff vorabla e terms.

ThTT e amount of borrowinii gs permrr itii ttt ett d under thtt e ABLBB Revolvll inii g CrCC editii FacFF ilii ill tii ytt may flff uctuatett signi ifi iff cantltt yll ,yy which
may adversrr elyll affff eff ct our lill quiditii ytt ,yy resultll stt of operatitt ons,s and fiff nii ancial positii itt on.

The amount of borrowings permitted at any one time under the ABL Revolving Credit Facility is subject to a
borrowing base valuation of the collateral thereunder, net of certain reserves. As a result, our access to credit under
the ABL Revolving Credit Facility is potentially subject to signififf cant flff uctuat tions depending on the value of the
borrowing base of eligible assets as of any measurement date, as well as certain discretionaryrr rights of the agents in
respect of the calculation of such borrowing base value. The inabia lity to borrow under the ABL Revolving Credit
Facility may adversely affff eff ct our liquidity, results of operations, and fiff nancial position.

Our variablell ratett inii debtett dness subjectstt us tott inii tett rest ratett risii k, which has caused, and may contitt nii ue tott cause,e our
inii debtett dness service oblill gati itt ons tott inii crease signi ifi iff cantltt yll .yy

Borrowings under the First Lien Term Loan and ABL Revolving Credit Facility are at variabla e rates of interest
and expose us to interest rate risk. Due to interest rate increases in fiff scal 2022, our debt service obligations on the
variabla e rate indebtedness have increased even though the amount borrowed remains the same, and our net income
and cash flff ows, including cash availabla e forff servicing our indebtedness, have correspondingly decreased. It is likely
that interest rates will continue to rise in the futff urt e, which may furff ther adversely affff eff ct our liquidity, results of
operations, and fiff nancial position. Although we have entered into agreements cappia ng portions of our exposure to
higher interest rates, these agreements may not prove to be effff eff ctive in the aggregate, as a signififf cant portion of our
variabla e rate debt remains uncappea d.
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A ratitt nii gs downgrade or othtt er negate itt ve actitt on by a ratitt nii gs organr izii atitt on couldll adversrr elyll affff eff ct thtt e trtt adinii g price of
thtt e shares of our ClCC asll s A common stoctt k.

Credit rating agencies continually revise their ratings forff companies they folff low. The condition of the
fiff nancial and credit markets and prevailing interest rates have flff uctuat ted in the past and are likely to flff uctuat te in the
futff urt e. In addition, developments in our business and operations, including with respect to sustainabia lity matters,
could lead to a ratings downgrade forff us or our subsidiaries. Any flff uctuat tion in the rating of us or our subsidiaries
may impact our abia lity to access debt markets in the futff urt e or increase our cost of futff urt e debt, which could have a
material adverse effff eff ct on our operations and fiff nancial condition and may adversely affff eff ct the trading price of shares
of our Class A common stock.

ThTT e replee acll ement of LIBII OROO witii htt SOFRFF may adversrr elyll affff eff ct inii tett rest expeee nse relatll ett d tott our outstt tantt dinii g debt.tt

We have outstanding debt with variabla e interest rates based on the Secured Overnight Financing Rate
(“SOFR”). Previously, the variabla e interest rates related to our outstanding debt were based on the London Inter-
bank Offff eff red Rate (“LIBOR”). The composition and characteristics of SOFR signififf cantly diffff eff r frff om those of
LIBOR. For instance, SOFR is a secured rate, while LIBOR is an unsecured rate; and while SOFR is an overnight
rate, LIBOR represents interbar nk fundiff ng forff a specififf ed term. The use of SOFR-based rates may result in interest
rates and/or payments that are higher or lower than the rates and payments that we previously experienced when
refeff renced to LIBOR. SOFR is a relatively new refeff rence rate, has a veryrr limited history,rr and is based on short-term
repurchase agreements backed by U.S. Treasuryrr securities. Changes in SOFR could be volatile and diffff iff cult to
predict, and there can be no assurance that SOFR will perforff m similarly to the way LIBOR would have perforff med at
any time, including as a result of,ff without limitation, changes in interest and yield rates in the market, bank credit
risk, market volatility or global or regional economic, fiff nancial, political, regulatory,rr judicial, or other events. As a
result, the amount of interest we may pay on our credit faff cilities can be diffff iff cult to predict. Prior observed patterns,
if any, in the behavior of market variabla es and their relation to SOFR, such as correlations, may change in the futff urt e,
and there can be no assurance that SOFR will be positive. While some pre-publication historical data forff SOFR has
been released by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, production of such historical indicative SOFR data
inherently involves assumptions, estimates and appra oximations. No futff urt e perforff mance of SOFR may be infeff rred
frff om any of the historical actuat l or historical indicative SOFR data. Hypothetical or historical perforff mance data are
not indicative of,ff and have no bearing on, the potential perforff mance of SOFR. Additionally, there can be no
assurance that SOFR will continue to maintain market acceptance or that the method by which the refeff rence rate is
calculated will continue in its current forff m. Uncertainty as to the naturt e of such potential changes may adversely
affff eff ct the trading market forff our securities as well as our results of operations and cash flff ows.

Please read “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—
Liquidity and Capia tal Resources” forff more inforff mation abouta the replacement of LIBOR-based interest rates
appla icabla e to borrowings under our debt agreements with SOFR-based interest rates.

Risks Related to Our Class A Common Stock

Our SponSS sorsrr have signi ifi iff cant inii fn lff uence over us,s inii cludinii g contrtt ol over decisii ions thtt at requirii e thtt e approval of
stoctt kholdell rsrr ,s which couldll lill mii itii your abilii ill tii ytt tott inii fn lff uence thtt e outctt ome of matttt ett rsrr submitii ttt ett d tott stoctt kholdell rsrr forff a
votett .ee

We are currently controlled by our Sponsors through our Principal Stockholder. Our Principal Stockholder
controls appra oximately 69% of the outstanding voting power of our company. As long as our Sponsors benefiff cially
own or control at least a maja ority of our outstanding voting power, they have the abia lity to exercise substantial
control over all corporrr ate actions requiring stockholder appra oval, irrespective of how our other stockholders may
vote, including the election and removal of directors and the size of our board of directors, any amendment of our
certififf cate of incorporrr ation or bylaws, or the appra oval of any merger or other signififf cant corporr ate transaction,
including a sale of substantially all of our assets. Even if their ownership faff lls below 50%, our Sponsors will
continue to be abla e to strongly inflff uence or effff eff ctively control our decisions.

Additionally, our Sponsors’ interests may not align with the interests of our other stockholders. Our Sponsors
and other investment fundsff affff iff liated with them are in the business of making investments in companies and may
acquire and hold interests in businesses that compete directly or indirectly with us. Our Sponsors and other
investment fundsff affff iff liated with them may also pursue acquisition opportunit ties that may be complementaryrr to our
business, and, as a result, those acquisition opportunit ties may not be availabla e to us.
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WeWW are a “contrtt ollll ell d companm yn ” witii htt inii thtt e meaninii g of thtt e NasNN daq rulell s and, as a resultll ,tt qualill fi yff forff ,r and relyll on,
exeee mptm itt ons frff om certaitt nii corporrr atett governance requirii ementstt . Accordinii glyll ,yy thtt e holdell rsrr of our ClCC asll s A common
stoctt k do not have thtt e same protett ctitt ons as thtt ose affff orff ded tott stoctt kholdell rsrr of companm ies thtt at are subject tott such
governance requirii ementstt .

Our Sponsors, through our Principal Stockholder, control a maja ority of the voting power of our common stock
with respect to director elections. As a result, we are a “controlled company” within the meaning of the corporr ate
governance standards of Nasdaq. Under these rulr es, a company of which more than 50% of the voting power with
respect to director elections is held by an individual, group, or another company is a “controlled company” and may
elect not to comply with certain corporr ate governance requirements, including:

• the requirement that a maja ority of the board of directors consist of independent directors;

• the requirement that our nominating and corporrr ate governance committee be composed entirely of
independent directors; and

• the requirement that our compensation committee be composed entirely of independent directors.

We currently utilize all of these exemptions. As a result, we do not have a maja ority of independent directors
serving on our board of directors and neither our compensation committee nor our nominating and corporr ate
governance committee consist entirely of independent directors. Accordingly, you will not have the same
protections affff orff ded to stockholders of companies that are subject to all of the corporr ate governance requirements of
Nasdaq.

CeCC rtaitt nii of our dirii ectortt srr have relatll itt onshipsii witii htt our SponSS sorsrr ,s which may cause confn lff ill ctstt of inii tett rest witii htt respes ct
tott our businii ess.

Six of our eleven directors are affff iff liated with our Sponsors. These directors have fiff duciaryrr duties to us and, in
addition, have duties to the appla icabla e Sponsor or stockholder affff iff liate. As a result, these directors may faff ce real or
appaa rent conflff icts of interest with respect to matters affff eff cting both us and the affff iff liated Sponsors, whose interests
may be adverse to ours in some circumstances.

Antitt -ii takett over provisii ions inii our chartett r documentstt and under Delawll are lawll couldll make an acquisii itii itt on of us
more difi fff iff cultll ,tt lill mii itii atttt ett mptm stt by our stoctt kholdell rsrr tott replee acll e or remove our current management,tt and may
adversrr elyll affff eff ct thtt e markerr t price of our stoctt k.

Provisions in our certififf cate of incorporrr ation and bylaws may have the effff eff ct of delaying or preventing a
change of control or changes in our management. Our certififf cate of incorporr ation and bylaws include provisions
that:

• provide that, except with regard to directors nominated by our Principal Stockholder, vacancies on our
board of directors shall be fiff lled only by a maja ority of directors then in offff iff ce, even though less than a
quorumrr , or by a sole remaining director;

• establa ish that our board of directors is divided into three classes, with each class serving three-year
staggered terms;

• provide that our directors can be removed forff cause only, once our Principal Stockholder (including its
permitted transfeff rees under the stockholder’s agreement with our Principal Stockholder (the
“stockholder’s agreement”)) no longer benefiff cially owns 50% or more of our outstanding Class A
common stock and Class B-1 common stock;

• provide that, once our Principal Stockholder (including its permitted transfeff rees under the stockholder’s
agreement) no longer benefiff cially owns 50% or more of our outstanding Class A common stock and
Class B-1 common stock, any action required or permitted to be taken by the stockholders must be
effff eff cted at a duly called annual or special meeting of stockholders and may not be effff eff cted by any
consent in writing in lieu of a meeting of such stockholders;

• specifyff that, once our Principal Stockholder (including its permitted transfeff rees under the stockholder’s
agreement) no longer benefiff cially owns 50% or more of our outstanding Class A common stock and
Class B-1 common stock, special meetings of our stockholders can be called only by our board of
directors, or the Chairman of our board of directors (prior to such time, special meetings of the
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stockholders of our company shall be called by the Chairman of our board of directors or our Secretaryrr
at the request of our Principal Stockholder, in addition to being abla e to be called by the Chairman of our
board of directors and by our board of directors);

• require the appra oval of the holders of at least two-thirds of the voting power of all outstanding stock
entitled to vote thereon, voting together as a single class, to amend or repeal our bylaws and certain
articles of our certififf cate of incorporr ation once our Principal Stockholder (including its permitted
transfeff rees under the stockholder’s agreement) ceases to benefiff cially own at least 50% of the Class A
common stock and Class B-1 common stock;

• establa ish an advance notice procedure forff stockholder proposals to be brought beforff e an annual meeting,
including proposed nominations of persons forff election to our board of directors;

• authorize our board of directors to issue, without furff ther action by the stockholders, shares of
undesignated prefeff rred stock; and

• reflff ect three classes of common stock.

These and other provisions may frff usrr trate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our
current management by making it more diffff iff cult forff stockholders to replace members of our board of directors,
which is responsible forff appoia nting the members of our management. In addition, we are a Delaware corporr ation
governed by the Delaware General Corporrr ation Law (the “DGCL”). In general, Section 203 of the DGCL, an anti-
takeover law, prohibits a publicly held Delaware corporrr ation frff om engaging in a business combination, such as a
merger, with a person or group owning 15% or more of the corporr ation’s voting stock, which person or group is
considered an interested stockholder under the DGCL, forff a period of three years folff lowing the date the person
became an interested stockholder, unless (with certain exceptions) the business combination or the transaction in
which the person became an interested stockholder is appra oved in a prescribed manner. We have elected in our
certififf cate of incorporrr ation not to be subject to Section 203. However, our certififf cate of incorporr ation contains
provisions that have the same effff eff ct as Section 203, except that they provide our Sponsors, our Principal
Stockholder, their affff iff liates, and their respective successors (other than our company), as well as their direct and
indirect transfeff rees, are not deemed to be “interested stockholders,” regardless of the percentage of our voting stock
owned by them, and accordingly will not be subject to such restrictions. For additional details, please read Exhibit
4.3 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

SiSS nii ce we have no current planll s tott pay regue larll cash dividends on our ClCC asll s A common stoctt k, you may not receive
anyn return on inii vestmtt ent unlell ss you sellll your ClCC asll s A common stoctt k forff a price greatett r thtt an thtt at which you paid
forff itii .tt

We have not paid, and do not anticipate paying, any regular cash dividends on our Class A common stock.
Any decision to declare and pay dividends in the futff urt e will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and
will depend on, among other things, our fiff nancial condition, results of operations, cash requirements, contractuat l
restrictions, and other faff ctors that our board of directors may deem relevant. In addition, our abia lity to pay dividends
is, and may be, limited by covenants of existing and any futff urt e outstanding indebtedness we or our subsidiaries
incur, including under the First Lien Term Loan and ABL Revolving Credit Facility, as well as by the terms of our
stockholder’s agreement. Thereforff e, any returt n on investment in our Class A common stock is solely dependent
upon the appra eciation of the price of our Class A common stock on the open market, which may not occur. Please
read “Dividend Policy” forff more detail.

WeWW are a holdill nii g companm yn witii htt nominii al net worthtt and wilii lll depeee nd on dividends and disii trtt ibui titt ons frff om our
subsidiaries tott pay anyn dividends.

Petco Health and Wellness Company, Inc. and certain of our subsidiaries are holding companies with nominal
net worth. We do not have any material assets or conduct any business operations other than our investments in our
subsidiaries. Our business operations are conducted primarily out of our indirect operating subsidiary,rr Petco Animal
Supplies Stores, Inc. and certain of its subsidiaries. As a result, in addition to the restrictions on payment of
dividends that appla y under the terms of our existing indebtedness, our abia lity to pay dividends, if any, will be
dependent upon cash dividends and distributions or other transfeff rs frff om our subsidiaries. Payments to us by our
subsidiaries will be contingent upon their respective earnings and subject to any limitations on the abia lity of such
entities to make payments or other distributions to us.
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ThTT e multll itt -ii clasll s strtt ucture of our common stoctt k may adversrr elyll affff eff ct thtt e trtt adinii g markerr t forff our ClCC asll s A common
stoctt k.

In July 2017, S&P Dow Jones and FTSE RusRR sell announced changes to their eligibility criteria forff the
inclusion of shares of public companies on certain indices, including the RusRR sell 2000, the S&P 500, the S&P
MidCapa 400 and the S&P SmallCapa 600, to exclude companies with multiple classes of shares of common stock
frff om being added to these indices. As a result, our multi-class capia tal strucr turt e makes us ineligible forff inclusion in
any of these indices, and mutuat l fundsff , exchange-traded fundsff and other investment vehicles that attempt to
passively track these indices will not be investing in our stock. Further, we cannot assure you that other stock indices
will not take a similar appra oach to S&P Dow Jones or FTSE RusRR sell in the futff urt e. Exclusion frff om indices could
make our Class A common stock less attractive to investors and, as a result, the market price of our Class A
common stock could be adversely affff eff cted.

Our certitt fi iff catett of inii corporrr atitt on designi atett s thtt e CouCC rt of ChCC anceryr of thtt e StSS attt ett of Delawll are as thtt e solell and
excee lusive forff um forff certaitt nii tytt peyy s of actitt ons and proceedinii gs thtt at may be inii itii itt atett d byb our stoctt kholdell rsrr ,s and thtt e
feff deral disii trtt ict courtstt as thtt e excee lusive forff um forff SeSS curitii itt es Act claill mii s,s which couldll lill mii itii our stoctt kholdell rsrr ’ abilii ill tii ytt
tott obtaitt nii what such stoctt kholdell rsrr belill eve tott be a favff orablell judicial forff um forff disii pus tett s witii htt us or our dirii ectortt srr ,s
offff iff cersrr ,s othtt er emplm oyll ees,s or agentstt .

Our certififf cate of incorporr ation provides that, unless we, in writing, select or consent to the selection of an
alternative forff umr , all complaints asserting any internal corporr ate claims (defiff ned as claims, including claims in the
right of our company: (i) that are based upon a violation of a duty by a current or forff mer director, offff iff cer, employee,
or stockholder in such capaa city; or (ii) as to which the DGCL confeff rs jurisdiction upu on the Court of Chancery)rr , to
the fulff lest extent permitted by law, and subject to appla icabla e jurisdictional requirements, shall be made in the Court
of Chanceryrr of the State of Delaware (or, if the Court of Chanceryrr does not have, or declines to accept, subject
matter jurisdiction, another state court or a feff deral court located within the State of Delaware). Further, unless we
select or consent to the selection of an alternative forff umrr , the feff deral district courts of the United States shall be the
exclusive forff umr forff the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. Our
choice-of-ff forff umr provision does not appla y to suits brought to enforff ce any liabia lity or duty created by the Exchange
Act, and investors cannot waive compliance with the feff deral securities laws and the rulr es and regulations
thereunder. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring or holding any interest in our common stock
shall be deemed to have notice of and to have consented to the forff umrr selection provisions described in our
certififf cate of incorporrr ation. These choice-of-ff forff umrr provisions may limit a stockholder’s abia lity to bring a claim in a
judicial forff umr that it fiff nds faff vorabla e forff disputes with us or our directors, offff iff cers or other employees, which may
discourage such lawsuits against us and such persons. It is possible that a court may fiff nd these provisions of our
certififf cate of incorporrr ation inappla icabla e to, or unenforff ceabla e in respect of,ff one or more of the specififf ed types of
actions or proceedings, in which case we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters in other
jurisdictions, which could materially adversely affff eff ct our business, fiff nancial condition, or results of operations and
result in a diversion of the time and resources of our management and board of directors.

General Risk Factors

Our operatitt nii g resultll stt and share price may be volatll itt lii ell ,e and thtt e markerr t price of our ClCC asll s A common stoctt k may
drop.

Our quarterly operating results are likely to flff uctuat te in the futff urt e. In addition, securities markets worldwide
have experienced, and are likely to continue to experience, signififf cant price and volume flff uctuat tions. This market
volatility, as well as general economic, market, or political conditions, has, and could continue to, subject the market
price of our shares to wide price flff uctuat tions regardless of our operating perforff mance. You may not be abla e to resell
your shares at or abovea the price that you paid forff them, or at all. Our operating results and the trading price of our
shares may flff uctuat te in response to various faff ctors, including:

• market conditions in the broader stock market;

• actuat l or anticipated flff uctuat tions in our quarterly fiff nancial and operating results;

• introduction of new products or services by us or our competitors;

• issuance of new or changed securities analysts’ reports or recommendations;
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• changes in debt ratings;

• results of operations that varyrr frff om expectations of securities analysts and investors;

• guidance, if any, that we provide to the public, any changes in this guidance or our faff ilure to meet this
guidance;

• strategic actions by us or our competitors;

• announcement by us, our competitors, or our vendors of signififf cant contracts or acquisitions;

• sales, or anticipated sales, of large blocks of our stock;

• additions or departurt es of key personnel;

• regulatory,rr legal, or political developments;

• public response to press releases or other public announcements by us or third parties, including our
fiff lings with the SEC;

• litigation and governmental investigations;

• changing economic conditions, including interest rates and fiff nancial market uncertainty;

• changes in accounting principles;

• defaff ult under agreements governing our indebtedness; and

• other events or faff ctors, including those frff om severe weather events (including as a result of climate
change), naturt al disasters, pandemic, pet disease, war, acts of terrorism, or responses to these events.

These and other faff ctors, many of which are beyond our control, may cause our operating results and the
market price and demand forff our shares to flff uctuat te substantially. While we believe that operating results forff any
particular quarter are not necessarily a meaningfulff indication of futff urt e results, flff uctuat tions in our quarterly operating
results could limit or prevent investors frff om readily selling their shares and may otherwise negatively affff eff ct the
market price and liquidity of our shares. In addition, in the past, when the market price of a stock has been volatile,
holders of that stock have sometimes brought securities class action litigation against the company that issued the
stock. If any of our stockholders brought a lawsuit against us, we could incur substantial costs defeff nding and/or
settling the lawsuit. Such a lawsuit could also divert the time and attention of our management frff om our business,
which could signififf cantly harm our profiff tabia lity and reputation.

YouYY r percentagett ownersrr hipii inii us may be dilii utett d by fuff ture isii suances of capitii altt stoctt k, which couldll reduce your
inii fn lff uence over matttt ett rsrr on which stoctt kholdell rsrr votett .ee

Pursuant to our certififf cate of incorporrr ation and bylaws, our board of directors has the authority, without action
or vote of our stockholders, to issue all or any part of our authorized but unissued shares of common stock, including
shares issuabla e upon the exercise of options, or shares of our authorized but unissued prefeff rred stock. Issuances of
common stock or voting prefeff rred stock would reduce your inflff uence over matters on which our stockholders vote
and, in the case of issuances of prefeff rred stock, would likely result in your interest in us being subject to the prior
rights of holders of that prefeff rred stock. Moreover, the abia lity of holders of Class B-1 common stock to convert each
of their shares into one share of Class A common stock, subject to the transfeff r to us of an equivalent number of
shares of Class B-2 common stock, may increase the number of outstanding shares of Class A common stock;
however, such conversion rights will not dilute or otherwise affff eff ct the voting rights of the holders of Class A
common stock because Class B-1 common stock and Class B-2 common stock taken on a combined basis will have
the same voting rights as Class A common stock.

A signi ifi iff cant portitt on of our tottt altt outstt tantt dinii g shares may be soldll inii tott thtt e markerr t,tt which couldll cause thtt e markerr t
price of our ClCC asll s A common stoctt k tott drop signi ifi iff cantltt yll ,yy even ifi our businii ess isii doinii g wellll .ll

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our Class A common stock in the public market could occur at any
time. These sales, or the perception in the market that the holders of a large number of shares intend to sell shares,
could reduce the market price of our Class A common stock. We have also fiff led a Form S-8 under the Securities Act
to register all shares of Class A common stock that we may issue under our equity compensation plans. In addition,
our Principal Stockholder has demand registration rights that will require us to fiff le registration statements in
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connection with futff urt e sales of our stock by our Principal Stockholder, including in connection with the note
purchase agreement described below. Sales by our Principal Stockholder could be signififf cant. Once we register
these shares, they can be frff eely resold in the public market, subject to legal or contractuat l restrictions, such as lock-
up agreements. As restrictions on resale end, the market price of our stock could decline if the holders of currently
restricted shares sell them or are perceived by the market as intending to sell them.

Lastly, our Principal Stockholder has entered into a note purchase agreement. The obligations under the note
purchase agreement are secured by a pledge of all of the shares of our common stock owned by our Principal
Stockholder and its affff iff liates. If our Principal Stockholder were to defaff ult on any of its obligations under the note
purchase agreement or in the event of a collateral defiff ciency the holders would have the right to forff eclose on all of
our common stock subject to the pledge and sell such shares of common stock. Such an event could furff ther cause
our stock price to decline and could result in a change in control of our company that could trigger a defaff ult under,
or acceleration of,ff the obligations under our First Lien Term Loan and ABL Revolving Credit Facility. Any
forff eclosure on our common stock that secures obligations under the note purchase agreement could result in the sale
of a signififf cant number of shares of our common stock, which could result in a decrease in the price of our common
stock.

IfII securitii itt es or inii dustrtt yr analyll ststt adversrr elyll change thtt eirii recommendatitt ons regare dinii g our shares,s or ifi our resultll stt
of operatitt ons do not meet thtt eirii expeee ctattt itt ons,s our share price and trtt adinii g volume couldll declill nii e.ee

The trading market forff our shares is inflff uenced in part by the research and reports that industryrr or securities
analysts publish abouta us or our business. We do not have any control over these analysts. If one or more of these
analysts cease coverage of our company, we could lose visibility in the fiff nancial markets, which in turt n could cause
our share price or trading volume to decline. Moreover, if one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our
stock, or if our results of operations do not meet their expectations, our share price could decline.

IfII our operatitt nii g and fiff nii ancial perfr orff mrr ance inii anyn given period does not meet thtt e guidance thtt at we have provided
tott thtt e publill c or thtt e expeee ctattt itt ons of our inii vestortt srr and analyll ststt ,s our ClCC asll s A common stoctt k price may declill nii e.ee

We have been, and anticipate to continue, providing guidance on our expected operating and fiff nancial results
forff futff urt e periods on an annual basis, as we believe this appra oach is better aligned with the long-term view we take
in managing our business and our focff us on long-term stockholder value creation. Although we believe that this
guidance will provide investors and analysts with a better understanding of management’s expectations forff the
futff urt e and is usefulff to our stockholders and potential stockholders, such guidance comprises forff ward-looking
statements subject to the risks and uncertainties described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and in our other
public fiff lings and public statements. Our actuat l results may not always be in line with or exceed the guidance we
have provided or the expectations of our investors and analysts, especially in times of economic uncertainty. If,ff in
the futff urt e, our operating or fiff nancial results forff a particular period do not meet our guidance or the expectations of
our investors and analysts, or if we reduce our guidance forff futff urt e periods, our share price could decline.

IfII our inii tett rnrr al contrtt ol over fiff nii ancial reporee titt nii g or our disii closll ure contrtt olsll and procedures are not efe fff eff ctitt ve,e we
may be unablell tott accuratett lyll reporee t our fiff nii ancial resultll stt ,s prevent frff aud, or fiff lii ell our periodic reporee tstt inii a titt mii elyll
manner,r which may cause inii vestortt srr tott losll e confn iff dence inii our reporee tett d fiff nii ancial inii fn orff mrr atitt on and may lell ad tott a
declill nii e inii our stoctt k price.ee

As a public company, we are required to comply with the requirements of the Sarbar nes-Oxley Act. The
Sarbar nes-Oxley Act requires that we maintain effff eff ctive internal control over fiff nancial reporting and disclosure
controls, and procedures. In particular, we must perforff m system and process evaluation, document our controls and
perforff m testing of our key control over fiff nancial reporting to allow management to report on the effff eff ctiveness of our
internal control over fiff nancial reporting, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbar nes-Oxley Act. Additionally, our
independent public accounting fiff rm also is required to issue an attestation report on the effff eff ctiveness of our internal
control over fiff nancial reporting, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbar nes-Oxley Act. Our testing, or the testing by
our independent public accounting fiff rm, may reveal defiff ciencies in our internal control over fiff nancial reporting that
are deemed to be material weaknesses. If we are not abla e to comply with the requirements of Section 404 in a timely
manner, or if we or our accounting fiff rm identififf es defiff ciencies in our internal control over fiff nancial reporting that are
deemed to be material weaknesses, the market price of our stock would likely decline and we could be subject to
lawsuits, sanctions or investigations by regulatoryrr authorities, which would require additional fiff nancial and
management resources. Moreover, any material weaknesses could result in a material misstatement of our annual or
quarterly consolidated fiff nancial statements or disclosures that may not be prevented or detected.
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UnUU antitt cipatii ett d changes inii efe fff eff ctitt ve taxtt ratett s or adversrr e outctt omes resultll itt nii g frff om examee inii atitt on of our inii come or
othtt er taxtt returns couldll adversrr elyll affff eff ct our fiff nii ancial conditii itt on and resultll stt of operatitt ons.

We are subject to taxes by the U.S. feff deral, state, and local tax authorities, and our tax liabia lities will be
affff eff cted by the allocation of expenses to diffff eff ring jurisdictions. Our futff urt e effff eff ctive tax rates could be subject to
volatility or adversely affff eff cted by a number of faff ctors, including:

• changes in the valuation of our defeff rred tax assets and liabia lities;

• expected timing and amount of the release of any tax valuation allowances;

• tax effff eff cts of stock-based compensation; or

• changes in tax laws, regulations, or interprr etations thereof.ff

From time to time, U.S. tax authorities, including state and local governments, consider legislation that, if
enacted, could have a material effff eff ct on our effff eff ctive tax rate.

In addition, we may be subject to audits of our income, sales, and other transaction taxes by U.S. feff deral, state,
and local taxing authorities. Outcomes frff om these audits could have an adverse effff eff ct on our operating results and
fiff nancial condition.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staffff Comments.

None.

Item 2. Properties.

We have co-headquartered faff cilities, located in San Diego, Califorff nia, and San Antonio, Texas. Our San
Diego, Califorff nia location was completed in the summer of fiff scal 2015, comprising a total of appra oximately 257,000
square feff et, and is under a long-term lease. Our San Antonio location consists of a sub-divided leased faff cility,
comprising a total of appra oximately 73,000 square feff et.

We lease all of our distribution center locations and all of our 1,430 pet care centers in the U.S. and Puerto
Rico. The original lease term forff pet care centers is generally ten years, with certain leases being shorter or longer,
and many of these leases contain renewal options. The vast maja ority of pet care center leases, excluding renewal
options, expire at various dates over the next ten years. Our pet care centers are generally located at sites co-
anchored by strong destination stores. Certain leases require payment of property taxes, utilities, common area
maintenance and insurance and, if annual sales at certain locations exceed specififf ed amounts, provide forff additional
rent expense.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

We are involved in the legal proceedings described in Note 15, Commitments and Contingencies, in our
consolidated fiff nancial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and we are subject to
other claims and litigation arising in the ordinaryrr course of business. The outcome of any litigation is inherently
uncertain, and if decided adversely to us, or if we determine that settlement of particular litigation is appra opriate, we
may be subject to liabia lity that could have a material adverse effff eff ct on our business. We believe that there are no
pending lawsuits or claims that, individually or in the aggregate, may have a material effff eff ct on our business,
fiff nancial condition or results of operations.

Item 4. Mine Safeff ty Disclosures.

Not appla icabla e.
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PART II

Item 5. Market forff Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities.

Market Inforff mation

Our Class A common stock is currently listed on The Nasdaq Global Select Market under the ticker “WOOF”
and began trading on Januaryrr 14, 2021. Prior to that date, there was no public trading market forff our Class A
common stock. There is no public trading market forff our Class B-1 common stock, par value $0.001 per share, or
our Class B-2 common stock, par value $0.000001 per share.

Holders

As of March 23, 2023, there were sixty-fourff shareholders of record of our Class A common stock, one
shareholder of record of our Class B-1 common stock, and two shareholders of record of our Class B-2 common
stock. The number of record holders of our Class A common stock does not reflff ect the number of persons or entities
holding their stock in “street” name through brokerage fiff rms or other nominee holders.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Equity Securities

None.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

None.

Dividend Policy

We do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends to holders of our Class A common stock in the
forff eseeabla e futff urt e. We currently intend to retain futff urt e earnings, if any, to fiff nance the growth of our business and
pay down our indebtedness. Our futff urt e dividend policy is within the discretion of our board of directors and will
depend upon then-existing conditions, including our results of operations, fiff nancial condition, capia tal requirements,
investment opportunit ties, statutt oryrr restrictions on our abia lity to pay dividends and other faff ctors our board of
directors may deem relevant. Please read “Risk Factors—The agreements governing our indebtedness include
restrictive covenants that limit our operating flff exibility, which could harm our long-term interests,” and
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capia tal
Resources” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K forff descriptions of restrictions on our abia lity to pay dividends.

Perforff mance Graph

The grapha below compares the cumulative total returt n on our Class A common stock with the cumulative total
returt ns of the Nasdaq Composite index and S&P Retail index frff om January14,rr 2021 (the initial day of trading forff
our Class A common stock) through Januaryrr 28, 2023. The grapha assumes that the value of the investment in our
Class A common stock, in each index, and in the peer group (including reinvestment of dividends) was $100 on
Januaryrr 14, 2021 and tracks it through Januaryrr 28, 2023. The comparisons in the grapha below are based upon
historical data and are not indicative of,ff nor intended to forff ecast, futff urt e perforff mance of our Class A common stock.
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1/14/21 1/21 4/21 7/21 10/21 1/22 4/22 7/22 10/22 1/23

Petco Health and Wellness
Company Inc.

100.00 88.54 80.34 70.17 84.12 62.24 65.51 47.35 35.82 39.93

NASDAQ Composite 100.00 101.44 108.55 114.26 120.88 111.23 96.52 97.17 86.35 91.27
S&P Retail 100.00 99.36 112.41 111.83 117.11 105.22 93.07 96.00 84.47 87.14

TheTT above perfr orff mance graph shall not be deemed "f" iff led" forff purposr es of Section 18 of the ExEE change Act,t or incorporr ated
by refe eff rence into any fiff ling of Petco HeHH alth and WeWW llness ComCC panym ,yy IncII . under thett Securities Act or the ExEE change Act,t exee cepte as
shall be exee prx esslyll set forff th by spes cifi iff c refe eff rence in such fiff ling.

Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The folff lowing discussion and analysis of our fiff nancial condition and results of operations should be read in
conjunction with our consolidated fiff nancial statements and the accompanying notes included elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. The discussion and analysis below contain certain forff ward-looking statements abouta
our business and operations that are subject to the risks, uncertainties, and other faff ctors described in the section
entitled “Risk Factors,” included in Part I, Item 1A, and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. These risks,
uncertainties, and other faff ctors could cause our actuat l results to diffff eff r materially frff om those expressed in, or implied
by, the forff ward-looking statements. The risks described in documents we fiff le frff om time to time with the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), including the sections entitled “Cautionaryrr Note Regarding
Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, should be carefulff ly
reviewed.

Overview

Petco Health and Wellness Company, Inc. (“Petco”, the “Company”, “we”, “our” and “us”) is a category-rr
defiff ning health and wellness company focff used on improving the lives of pets, pet parents, and our own partners. We
have consistently set new standards in pet care while delivering comprehensive pet wellness products, services and
solutions, and creating communities that deepen the pet-pet parent bond. In recent years, we have transforff med our
business frff om a successfulff yet traditional retailer to a disruptr ive, fulff ly integrated, omnichannel provider of holistic
pet health and wellness offff eff rings, including premium products, services, and veterinaryrr care. Through our integrated
ecosystem, we provide our over 25 million total active customers with a comprehensive offff eff ring of diffff eff rentiated
products and services to fulff fiff ll their pets’ health and wellness needs through our more than 1,500 pet care centers in
the U.S., Mexico, and Puerto Rico, including a growing network of 247 in-store veterinaryrr hospitals, our digital
channel, and our flff exible fulff fiff llment options.

Our multicategory,rr go-to-market strategy integrates our strong digital assets with our nationwide physical
footff prt int to meet the needs of pet parents who are looking forff a single source forff all their pet’s needs. Our e-
commerce site and personalized mobile appa serve as hubs forff pet parents to manage their pets’ health, wellness, and
merchandise needs, while enabla ing them to shop wherever, whenever, and however they want. By leveraging our
extensive physical network of pet care centers, we are abla e to offff eff r our comprehensive product and service offff eff ring
in a localized manner with a meaningfulff last-mile advantage over much of our competition. The fulff l value of our
health and wellness ecosystem is realized forff customers through our Vital Care Premier membership program. From
the nutrition and supplies pets need each day, to the services that keep them at optimal health, Vital Care Premier
makes it easier and more affff orff dabla e forff pet parents to care forff their pet’s whole health all in one place. Vital Care
Premier memberships are at the top of our integrated loyalty programs, folff lowed by Vital Care Core and our other
perks programs that provide rewards forff frff equent purchasing.

We strive to be a trulr y unique company, one that is saving and improving millions of pet lives and tangibly
improving the lives of pet parents and the partners who work forff us, while at the same time executing our
diffff eff rentiated strategy with excellence. In tandem with Petco Love (forff merly the Petco Foundation), an independent
nonprofiff t organization, we work with and support thousands of local animal welfaff re groups across the countryrr and,
through in-store adoption events, we have helped fiff nd homes forff nearly 7 million animals.

Through our multi-channel platforff m, we provide a comprehensive offff eff ring of diffff eff rentiated products and
services that fulff fiff ll the needs of pet parents and their pets. Our product offff eff ring leverages a broad, carefulff ly curated
assortment of owned brand and exclusive merchandise and partnerships with premium third-party brands to provide
customers with high quality nutrition without artififf cial ingredients, complemented by a wide variety of premium pet
care supplies and companion animals. While we offff eff r pet parents a fulff l spectrumrr of product choices within our high
standards of nutrition and quality, our assortment is diffff eff rentially weighted towards premium products to address the
needs of the growing number of health-conscious pet parents. We integrate this diffff eff rentiated product offff eff ring with
our services business in order to build on the foundaff tion of treating the whole pet, including their physical, mental
and social well-being. Our service offff eff ring includes a broad suite of pet health services, including veterinaryrr care,
grooming and training. This offff eff ring is furff ther enhanced by a rapia dly expanding, high quality, accessible,
comprehensive veterinaryrr care platforff m, which includes fulff l-service veterinaryrr hospitals, Vetco mobile clinics, and
tele-health services. We are increasingly linking our offff eff rings with membership programs such as Vital Care
Premier and pet health insurance that create deeper engagement with our customers, and with our Vital Care Core
loyalty program members specififf cally, which members accounted forff over 85% of transactions in fiff scal 2022. In
addition to providing diffff eff rentiated products and services, our over 26,000 knowledgeabla e, passionate partners in
our pet care centers provide important high-quality advice to our customers.
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Macroeconomic faff ctors, including rising interest rates, inflff ationaryrr pressures, supply chain constraints, global
economic and geopolitical developments, and the prolonged COVID-19 pandemic have varyirr ng impacts on our
results of operations, such as decreases in sales of discretionaryrr items like supplies, that are diffff iff cult to isolate and
quantify.ff We cannot predict the duration or ultimate severity of these macroeconomic faff ctors or the ultimate impact
on our operations and liquidity. For more inforff mation regarding certain risks associated with these macroeconomic
faff ctors, please refeff r to the risk faff ctors in Part I, Item 1A, "Risk Factors" of this Form 10-K.

HowWe Assess the Perforff mance of Our Business

In assessing our perforff mance, we consider a variety of perforff mance and fiff nancial measures including the
folff lowing:

ComCC parm ablell SalSS ell s

Comparabla e sales is an important measure throughout the retail industryrr and includes both retail and digital
sales of products and services. A new location or digital site is included in comparabla e sales beginning on the fiff rst
day of the fiff scal month folff lowing 12 fulff l fiff scal months of operation and is subsequently compared to like time
periods frff om the previous year. Relocated pet care centers become comparabla e pet care centers on the fiff rst day of
operation if the original pet care center was open longer than 12 fulff l fiff scal months. If,ff during the period presented, a
pet care center was closed, sales frff om that pet care center are included up to the fiff rst day of the month of closing.
There may be variations in the way in which some of our competitors and other retailers calculate comparabla e sales.
As a result, data in this fiff ling regarding our comparabla e sales may not be comparabla e to similar data made availabla e
by other retailers.

Comparabla e sales allow us to evaluate how our overall ecosystem is perforff ming by measuring the change in
period-over-period net sales frff om locations and digital sites that have been open forff the appla icabla e period. We intend
to improve comparabla e sales by continuing initiatives aimed to increase customer retention, frff equency of visits, and
basket size. General macroeconomic and retail business trends are also a key driver of changes in comparabla e sales.

NonNN -GAGG AP FiFF nii ancial MeMM asures

Management and our board of directors review, in addition to GAAP (as defiff ned herein) measures, certain
non-GAAP fiff nancial measures, including Adjusted EBITDA and Free Cash Flow to evaluate our operating
perforff mance, generate futff urt e operating plans and make strategic decisions regarding the allocation of capia tal.
Further explanations of these non-GAAP measures, along with reconciliations to their most comparabla e GAAP
measures, are presented below under “Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures to GAAP Measures.”

Factors Affff eff cting Our Business

We believe that our perforff mance and futff urt e success depend on several faff ctors that present signififf cant
opportunit ties forff us but also pose risks and challenges, including those discussed below and in the section titled
“Risk Factors” included in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

PePP t InII dustrtt yr TrTT ends
The U.S. pet care industryrr is large and growing, serving millions of households with pets, and represented a

total addressabla e market of $133 billion in 2022. Since 2008, the industryrr has exhibited steady growth driven by an
increase in the underlying pet population coupled with strong tailwinds associated with pet humanization. Due to the
essential, repeat naturt e of pet care, the industryrr has demonstrated resilience across economic cycles, as evidenced by
the strong industryrr perforff mance during the Great Recession frff om 2008 to 2010. In addition, as a result of the
COVID-19 pandemic, the industryrr experienced a signififf cant increase in household pets and thereforff e demand,
which is expected to be a tailwind forff years to come. Beginning in fiff scal 2020, U.S. households welcomed millions
of incremental new pets into their homes that will need to be feff d, groomed, vaccinated, and treated dud ring their
lives. Importantly, the maja ority of these new pet parents came frff om Millennial and Gen Z generations, who typically
spend more on their pets.

CuCC stomtt er PePP t Purchase TrTT ends
Our multi-channel integrated ecosystem is designed to support our customers regardless of how customers

choose to shop forff their pet care needs. As we saw the maja or purchase trend shiftff and growth into areas like e-
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commerce, services, and veterinaryrr care, we actively invested to build capaa bia lities and offff eff rings to effff eff ctively
capia talize on the opportunit ty. Our business will be impacted by our abia lity to continue to understand and react to
changing customer purchase trends

CuCC stomtt er Acquisii itii itt on, Retett ntitt on, and SpeSS nd
Our business is impacted by our abia lity to successfulff ly attract new customers to any one of our channels, build

their loyalty to encourage returt n visits, and expand their spend with Petco across multiple purchase channels (e.g.,
pet care centers, e-commerce, and services) and categories (e.g., pet food,ff supplies, and companion animal). This is
the primaryrr focff us of all our customer engagement effff orff ts frff om digital, to perforff mance marketing campaigns, to new
product introductions, and to Petco partner cross- and up-selling activities in pet care centers. The abia lity to convert
more of our customers to loyal, multi-channel shoppers will positively affff eff ct business perforff mance. As pet care
demand continues to grow, we believe we are well-positioned to capta urt e an outsized portion of the growing market
as a fulff ly-integrated, comprehensive pet care provider.

InII novatitt on and TrTT ansfs orff mrr atitt on
Our operating results reflff ect signififf cant investments made to support innovation and business transforff mation

strategies. These investments include: expansion of our veterinaryrr footff prt int, digital and e-commerce integration
and expansion; enhanced supply chain capaa city including additional distribution centers; data analytical capaa bia lities;
and marketing and advertising.

While these investments provided a key foundaff tion and drive increased sales, ongoing perforff mance of the
business will depend on our abia lity to leverage our existing distribution network and pet care center locations forff
product deliveryrr and fulff fiff llment, including BOPUS, curbsr ide pick-up, and same day delivery,rr and build upon and
enhance these effff orff ts.

GrGG oss MarMM gir nii and ExpeEE nse ManMM agement

Our operating results are impacted by our abia lity to convert revenue growth into higher gross margin and
operating margin. The sales mix related to consumabla es, supplies, and services, with services typically having lower
gross margins (though attractive operating margins), as well as customer shopping prefeff rences, impacts our gross
margin results. We focff us gross margin and expense management on achieving a balance between ensuring adequate
resource spend to grow sales with attention to driving increased profiff tabia lity. The business has successfulff ly
implemented cost optimization initiatives in the past and will continue to fiff nd opportunit ties to enhance profiff t
margins and operate more effff iff ciently in the futff urt e.

TalTT ell nt and CuCC ltll ure

We see our Petco partners as the core to building a purposr e-driven perforff mance culturt e. Our business results
rely on our abia lity to continually: add talented partners, specififf cally in our scaling business areas like e-commerce,
veterinaryrr care, and grooming and training services; provide the best tools, partner training, and competitive
compensation to deliver higher sales and better customer experiences; and engender a positive, collabora ative, and
respectfulff working environment. Our partners represent the strength of our brand everyrr day and are key to our
ongoing growth.

Signififf cant Components of Results of Operations

NeNN t SalSS ell s

Our net sales comprise gross sales of products and services, net of sales tax and certain discounts and
promotions offff eff red to our customers, including those offff eff red under our customer loyalty programs. Net sales are
driven by comparabla e sales, new pet center locations, and expanded offff eff rings.
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CosCC t of SalSS ell s and GrGG oss PrPP ofiff tii

Gross profiff t is equal to our net sales minus our cost of sales. Gross profiff t rate measures gross profiff t as a
percentage of net sales.

Our cost of sales includes the folff lowing types of expenses:

• direct costs (net of vendor rebates, allowances, and discounts forff products sold) including inbound
frff eight charges;

• shipping and handling costs associated with sales to customers;

• frff eight costs associated with moving merchandise inventories;

• inventoryrr shrinkage costs and write-downs;

• payroll costs of pet groomers, trainers, veterinarians, and other direct costs of services; and

• costs associated with operating our distribution centers including payroll, occupancy costs and
depreciation.

SeSS llll ill nii g, GeG neral,ll and Adminii isii trtt atitt ve ExpeEE nse

The folff lowing types of expenses are included in our selling, general, and administrative costs (“SG&A”):

• payroll and benefiff t costs of pet care center employees and corporrr ate employees;

• occupancy and operating costs of pet care centers and corporr ate faff cilities;

• depreciation and amortization related to pet care centers and corporrr ate assets;

• credit card feff es;

• store pre-opening and remodeling costs;

• advertising costs; and

• other selling and administrative costs.

SG&A includes both fiff xed and variabla e costs and thereforff e is not directly correlated with net sales.

GoodwG ilii lll and InII defe iff nii itii ett -L- ived InII tantt gibli ell ImII paim rii mrr ent

In connection with the fiff scal 2015 acquisition by our Sponsors, we recorded goodwill of appra oximately $3.0
billion and an indefiff nite-lived trade name asset of $1.1 billion. We evaluate these assets forff impairment annually and
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carryirr ng value may not be recoverabla e. Please read
the discussion of these assets under “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates.”

InII tett rest ExpeEE nse

Our interest expense in fiff scal 2020 and a portion of fiff scal 2021 was primarily associated with a term loan
faff cility, a revolving credit faff cility, the Floating Rate Senior Notes (as defiff ned herein), the 3.00% Senior Notes (as
defiff ned herein), and interest rate capsa . In Januaryrr 2021, the Floating Rate Senior Notes and the 3.00% Senior Notes
were exchanged, canceled, and/or redeemed in connection with the initial public offff eff ring, and our interest rate capsa
were settled in accordance with their contractuat l terms. On March 4, 2021, we borrowed $1,700.0 million under a
new fiff rst lien term loan faff cility, repaid all outstanding principal and interest on the existing term loan faff cility, and
replaced our existing revolving credit faff cility with a new revolving credit faff cility. Please read the discussion under
“Liquidity and Capia tal Resources—Sources of Liquidity” forff furff ther inforff mation.

Our interest expense in fiff scal 2022 was primarily associated with a fiff rst lien term loan faff cility and a revolving
credit faff cility. In November 2022, we entered into a series of interest rate capa agreements to limit the maximum
interest on a portion of our variabla e-rate debt and decrease our exposure to interest rate variabia lity. In December
2022, we amended our fiff rst lien term loan faff cility and our revolving credit faff cility to replace the LIBOR-based rate
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with a SOFR-based rate as the interest rate benchmark. Please read the discussion under “Liquidity and Capia tal
Resources—Sources of Liquidity” forff furff ther inforff mation.

InII come TaxTT ExpeEE nse (B(( enefe iff tii )t

Income taxes consist of an estimate of feff deral and state income taxes based on enacted feff deral and state tax
rates, as adjusted forff allowabla e credits, deductions, and the valuation allowance against defeff rred tax assets, as
appla icabla e.

InII come frff om Equitii ytt MeMM thtt od InII vestett es

Investments forff which the Company exercises signififf cant inflff uence but does not have control are accounted
forff under the equity method. Equity method investment activity is primarily related to a 50% joint venturt e with
Grupor Gigante, S.A.B. de C.V. (the “Mexico joint venturt e”) to establa ish Petco locations in Mexico. The Company’s
share of the investee’s results is presented as either income or loss frff om equity method investees in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

NeNN t Loss Atttt rtt ibutabltt ell tott NonNN contrtt ollll ill nii g InII tett rest

The noncontrolling interest represents 50% of the net loss of our veterinaryrr joint venturt e, which is a variabla e
interest entity forff which we were deemed to be the primaryrr benefiff ciaryrr beginning in fiff scal 2019 due to revisions
made in the joint operating agreement. In May 2022, the Company completed the purchase of the remaining 50% of
the issued and outstanding membership interests of the joint venturt e, which is now a wholly owned subsidiaryrr of the
Company.

Executive Summary

Our business transforff mation initiatives, accelerated by an increase in pet ownership and a shiftff in customer
discretionaryrr spend toward the pet category,rr have driven strong top-and bottom-line results in our business.
Comparing fiff scal 2022 and fiff scal 2021, our results included the folff lowing:

• an increase in net sales frff om $5.81 billion to $6.04 billion, representing period-over-period growth of
3.9%;

• comparabla e sales growth of 4.5%;

• net income attributabla e to Class A and B-1 common stockholders of $90.8 million, compared to net
income attributabla e to Class A and B-1 common stockholders of $164.4 million in the prior year; and

• Net cash flff ows provided by operating activities decreased frff om $358.2 million in fiff scal 2021 to $346.0
million in fiff scal 2022.
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Results of Operations

The folff lowing tabla es summarize our results of operations and the percent of net sales of line items included in
our consolidated statements of operations (dollars in thousands):

Fiscal years ended
January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

January 30,
2021

(52 weeks) (52 weeks) (52 weeks)
Net sales $ 6,035,967 $ 5,807,149 $ 4,920,202
Cost of sales 3,608,860 3,380,539 2,813,464

Gross profiff t 2,427,107 2,426,610 2,106,738
Selling, general and administrative expenses 2,201,548 2,160,539 1,912,314

Operating income 225,559 266,071 194,424
Interest income (1,032) (62) (653)
Interest expense 101,643 77,397 219,083
Loss on extinguishment and modififf cation of debt — 20,838 17,549
Other non-operating loss (income) 12,667 (34,497) —

Income (loss) beforff e income taxes and income frff om
equity method investees 112,281 202,395 (41,555)

Income tax expense (benefiff t) 35,347 53,473 (3,337)
Income frff om equity method investees (12,976) (10,883) (6,482)

Net income (loss) 89,910 159,805 (31,736)
Net loss attributabla e to noncontrolling interest (891) (4,612) (5,253)
Net income (loss) attributabla e to Class A and B-1 common
stockholders $ 90,801 $ 164,417 $ (26,483)

Fiscal years ended
January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

January 30,
2021

(52 weeks) (52 weeks) (52 weeks)
Net sales 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Cost of sales 59.8 58.2 57.2

Gross profiff t 40.2 41.8 42.8
Selling, general and administrative expenses 36.5 37.2 38.9

Operating income 3.7 4.6 3.9
Interest income (0.0) (0.0) (0.0)
Interest expense 1.6 1.3 4.4
Loss on extinguishment and modififf cation of debt — 0.4 0.3
Other non-operating loss (income) 0.2 (0.6) —

Income (loss) beforff e income taxes and income frff om
equity method investees 1.9 3.5 (0.8)

Income tax expense (benefiff t) 0.6 0.9 (0.1)
Income frff om equity method investees (0.2) (0.2) (0.1)

Net income (loss) 1.5 2.8 (0.6)
Net loss attributabla e to noncontrolling interest 0.0 0.0 (0.1)
Net income (loss) attributabla e to Class A and B-1 common
stockholders 1.5% 2.8% (0.5)%

Fiscal years ended
January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

January 30,
2021

(52 weeks) (52 weeks) (52 weeks)
Operational Data:
Comparabla e sales increase 4.5% 18.9% 11.4%
Total pet care centers (U.S. and Puerto Rico) at end of period 1,430 1,433 1,454
Total veterinarian practices at end of period 247 197 125
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Fiscal 2022 (52 weeks) Compared with Fiscal 2021 (52 weeks)

NeNN t SalSS ell s and ComCC parm ablell SalSS ell s

Fiscal years ended

(dollars in thousands)
January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

$
Change

%
Change

Consumabla es $ 2,859,602 $ 2,533,755 $ 325,847 12.9%
Supplies and companion animals 2,370,913 2,603,104 (232,191) (8.9%)
Services and other 805,452 670,290 135,162 20.2%
Net sales $ 6,035,967 $ 5,807,149 $ 228,818 3.9%

Net sales increased $228.8 million, or 3.9%, to $6.04 billion in fiff scal 2022 compared to net sales of $5.81
billion in fiff scal 2021, driven by a 4.5% increase in our comparabla e sales. With our investments in our business over
the past two years, we were, and continue to be, well-positioned to meet the increasing and evolving needs of pets
and their parents. Our sales growth period-over-period was driven by our strong execution and diffff eff rentiated product
model across digital and in our pet care centers, an increase in new pet ownership and a resulting increase in sales to
meet the needs of these pet parents. Net sales during fiff scal 2022 and fiff scal 2021 were impacted by inflff ation and,
where possible, we have worked with our merchant partners to help offff sff et cost input increases.

The increase in consumabla es sales between the periods was driven in part by the increase in new pets, our
strategic investments in customer acquisition and retention, continued expansion of our product assortment and a
mix shiftff to more premium consumabla es, including frff esh and frff ozen food.ff The decrease in supplies and companion
animals sales is due in part to a strong stimulus driven fiff scal 2021 and a decrease in spending on certain non-
essential items. The increase in services and other was due in part to the increase in new pets, growth in our
membership offff eff rings including Vital Care Premier and Vital Care Core, and growth in our grooming services and
veterinaryrr hospital business in which we now operate 247 veterinaryrr hospitals – an increase of 50 over the prior
year.

In fiff scal 2022, pet care center merchandise delivered growth of 1.4% with higher retail traffff iff c and strong
growth. Strength in consumabla es continues to offff sff et the impact of discretionaryrr purchasing in supplies and
companion animals. Our e-commerce and digital sales increased 10.5% frff om fiff scal 2021 to fiff scal 2022, driven by
strength in our digital pharmacy and repeat customers.

We are unabla e to quantifyff certain faff ctors impacting sales described abovea due to the faff ct that such faff ctors are
based on input measures or qualitative inforff mation that do not lend themselves to quantififf cation.

GrGG oss PrPP ofiff tii
Gross profiff t increased $0.5 million, or 0.0%, to $2.43 billion in fiff scal 2022 compared to gross profiff t of $2.43

billion forff fiff scal 2021. As a percentage of sales, our gross profiff t rate was 40.2% forff fiff scal 2022 compared to 41.8%
forff fiff scal 2021. The increase in gross profiff t was due to the overall increase in net sales. The decrease in gross profiff t
rate in fiff scal 2022 as compared to fiff scal 2021 was primarily driven by the mix impact of strength in consumabla es
sales and lower supplies and companion animal sales combined with elevated supply chain costs. We are unabla e to
quantifyff the faff ctors impacting gross profiff t rate described abovea dued to the faff ct that such faff ctors are based on input
measures or qualitative inforff mation that do not lend themselves to quantififf cation.

SeSS llll ill nii g, GeG neral and Adminii isii trtt atitt ve ExpeEE nses
SG&A expenses increased $41.0 million, or 1.9%, to $2.20 billion forff fiff scal 2022 compared to $2.16 billion

forff fiff scal 2021. As a percentage of net sales, SG&A expenses decreased frff om 37.2% in fiff scal 2021 to 36.5% in
fiff scal 2022 reflff ecting operating leverage frff om net sales growth. The increase in SG&A expenses period-over-period
was to support our growth as we continue to invest in people, infrff astrucr turt e and marketing. The increase in SG&A
expenses period-over-period was to support our growth as we invest in infrff astrucr turt e and our people and was
partially offff sff et by a $24.2 million decrease in advertising expenses, primarily due to investments that were made
during fiff scal 2021 forff our rebranding campaign, inclusive of a TV launch and associated advertisements.
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InII tett rest ExpeEE nse

Interest expense increased $24.2 million, or 31.3%, to $101.6 million in fiff scal 2022 compared with $77.4
million in fiff scal 2021, primarily due to an increase in prevailing rates on our First Lien Term Loan associated with
the current interest rate environment.

Loss on ExtEE itt nii guisii hment and ModiMM fi iff catitt on of Debt

In fiff scal 2022, the Company did not recognize any losses on extinguishment or modififf cation of debt. In fiff scal
2021, the Company recognized $20.8 million of losses on the March 2021 refiff nancing of the Amended Term Loan
Facility and Amended Revolving Credit Facility. For more inforff mation regarding these activities, refeff r to Note 7,
“Senior Secured CrCC edit FacFF ilities,” and Note 9, “Senior NotNN es,” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Othtt er NonNN -OpeOO ratitt nii g (I(( nII come)e Loss

Other non-operating loss was $12.7 million forff fiff scal 2022 and other non-operating income was $34.5 million
forff fiff scal 2021. These losses and gains relate to non-cash remeasurements of the faff ir value of our investment in
Rover Group, Inc. which began aftff er the consummation of its merger with a publicly traded special purposr e
acquisition company in fiff scal 2021. For more inforff mation regarding this activity, refeff r to Note 10, “F“ aiFF r ValVV ue
MeMM asurementstt ,” to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K.

InII come TaxTT ExpeEE nse (B(( enefe iff tii )t

Our effff eff ctive tax rate was 28.0% forff fiff scal 2022, resulting in income tax expense of $35.3 million, compared
to an effff eff ctive tax rate of 24.5% and income tax expense of $53.5 million forff fiff scal 2021. The increase in effff eff ctive
tax rate in fiff scal 2022 as compared to fiff scal 2021 is driven by a change in pre-tax earnings and the inclusion of
transaction costs incurred by the Company in connection with its initial public offff eff ring, which resulted in a benefiff t
of $5.2 million that decreased the effff eff ctive tax rate in fiff scal 2021.

NeNN t InII come (L(( oss)s Atttt rtt ibui tabltt ell tott ClCC asll s A and B-1 ComCC mon StSS octt kholdell rsrr

Net income attributabla e to Class A and B-1 common stockholders was $90.8 million forff fiff scal 2022 compared
with a net income attributabla e to Class A and B-1 common stockholders of $164.4 million forff fiff scal 2021. The
decline period-over-period was primarily driven by higher SG&A costs of $41.0 million, higher interest expense of
$24.2 million, a $47.2 million change in the remeasurement of our investment in Rover Group, Inc. offff sff et partially
by a 20.8 million loss on debt extinguishment recorded in fiff scal 2021.

Prior Year Discussion of Results and Comparisons

For inforff mation on fiff scal 2021 results and similar comparisons, please read “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in our previous Annual Report on Form 10-K fiff led
with the SEC on March 24, 2022.

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures to GAAP Measures

The folff lowing inforff mation provides defiff nitions and reconciliations of certain non-GAAP fiff nancial measures to
the most directly comparabla e fiff nancial measures calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP. Such non-
GAAP fiff nancial measures are not calculated in accordance with GAAP and should not be considered superior to, as
a substitutt e forff or alternative to, and should be considered in conjn unction with, the most comparabla e GAAP
measures. The non-GAAP fiff nancial measures presented may diffff eff r frff om similarly-titled measures used by other
companies.
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Adjustett d EBEE IBB TDTT ADD

We present Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP fiff nancial measure, because we believe it enhances an investor’s
understanding of our fiff nancial and operational perforff mance by excluding certain material non-cash items, unusual or
non-recurring items that we do not expect to continue in the futff urt e, and certain other adjustments we believe are or
are not reflff ective of our ongoing operations and perforff mance. Adjusted EBITDA enabla es operating perforff mance to
be reviewed across reporting periods on a consistent basis. We use Adjusted EBITDA as one of the principal
measures to evaluate and monitor our operating fiff nancial perforff mance and to compare our perforff mance to others in
our industry.rr We also use Adjusted EBITDA in connection with establa ishing discretionaryrr annual incentive
compensation targets, to make budgeting decisions, to make strategic decisions regarding the allocation of capia tal,
and to report our quarterly results as defiff ned in our debt agreements, although under such agreements the measure is
calculated diffff eff rently and is used forff diffff eff rent purposr es.

Adjusted EBITDA is not a substitutt e forff net income (loss), the most comparabla e GAAP measure, and is
subject to a number of limitations as a fiff nancial measure, so it should be used in conjunction with GAAP fiff nancial
measures and not in isolation. There can be no assurances that we will not modifyff the presentation of Adjusted
EBITDA in the futff urt e. In addition, other companies in our industryrr may defiff ne Adjusted EBITDA diffff eff rently,
limiting its usefulff ness as a comparative measure.

Beginning in fiff scal 2023, we have made certain changes to how we defiff ne Adjusted EBITDA that impacts thef
comparabia lity of the metrics to prior periods. Specififf cally, we will no longer include store pre-opening expenses,
store closing expenses, non-cash occupancy costs, and certain other costs in our non-GAAP adjustments. Details of
these changes and a reconciliation of the defiff nitions prior to fiff scal 2023 to the go-forff ward defiff nition is presented in
the tabla es and related footff notes below.
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The tabla e below reflff ects the calculation of Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin forff the periods
presented:

Fiscal years ended
January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

January 30,
2021

(dollars in thousands) (52 weeks) (52 weeks) (52 weeks)
Net income (loss) attributable to Class A and B-1
common stockholders $ 90,801 $ 164,417 $ (26,483)
Interest expense, net 100,611 77,335 218,430
Income tax expense (benefiff t) 35,347 53,473 (3,337)
Depreciation and amortization 193,828 172,431 174,836
Income frff om equity method investees (12,976) (10,883) (6,482)
Loss on extinguishment and modififf cation of debt — 20,838 17,549
Asset impairments and write offff sff 1,992 10,918 15,606
Equity-based compensation 60,784 49,265 12,915
Other non-operating loss (income) 12,667 (34,497) —
Mexico joint venturt e EBITDA (1) 29,584 26,837 19,074
Store pre-opening expenses (2) 14,993 14,765 9,228
Store closing expenses (2) 5,168 5,028 7,782
Non-cash occupancy-related costs (3) 8,432 8,114 19,240
Acquisition-related integration costs (4) 15,314 — —
Other costs (5) 25,790 33,437 25,990
Adjd usted EBITDA, as defiff ned through fiff scal 2022 $ 582,335 $ 591,478 $ 484,348

Store pre-opening expenses (2) (14,993) (14,765) (9,228)
Store closing expenses (2) (5,168) (5,028) (7,782)
Non-cash occupancy-related costs (3) (8,432) (8,114) (19,240)
Other costs (5) (22,973) (15,202) (20,535)
Adjd usted EBITDA, as defiff ned beginning fiff scal 2023 $ 530,769 $ 548,369 $ 427,563

Net sales $ 6,035,967 $ 5,807,149 $ 4,920,202
Net margin (6) 1.5% 2.8% (0.5)%
Adjusted EBITDA Margin, as defiff ned through
fiff scal 2022 (6) 9.6% 10.2% 9.8%
Adjusted EBITDA Margin, as defiff ned beginning
fiff scal 2023 (6) 8.8% 9.4% 8.7%

(1) Mexico Joint Venturt e EBITDA represents 50 percent of the entity’s operating results forff all periods, as adjusted to reflff ect the results on a
basis comparabla e to Adjusted EBITDA. In the fiff nancial statements, this joint venturt e is accounted forff as an equity method investment and
reported net of depreciation and income taxes. Because such a presentation would not reflff ect the adjustments made in the calculation of
Adjusted EBITDA, we include the 50 percent interest in the company’s Mexico joint venturt e on an Adjusted EBITDA basis to ensure
consistency. The tabla e below presents a reconciliation of Mexico joint venturt e net income to Mexico joint venturt e EBITDA:

Fiscal years ended
January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

January 30,
2021

(dollars in thousands) (52 weeks) (52 weeks) (52 weeks)
Net income $ 24,757 $ 21,773 $ 14,225
Depreciation 19,820 15,679 12,249
Income tax expense 9,409 11,390 6,229
Foreign currency (gain) loss (268) (431) 704
Interest expense, net 5,449 5,263 4,740

EBITDA $ 59,167 $ 53,674 $ 38,147
50% of EBITDA $ 29,584 $ 26,837 $ 19,074

(2) Store pre-opening and closing expenses were adjusted forff periods prior to fiff scal 2023. Beginning in fiff scal 2023, such expenses will no
longer be adjusted.

(3) Non-cash occupancy-related costs include the diffff eff rence between cash and straight-line rent and were adjusted forff periods prior to fiff scal
2023. Beginning in fiff scal 2023, such expenses will no longer be adjusted.

(4) Acquisition/integration costs include direct costs resulting frff om acquiring and integrating businesses. These include third-party
profeff ssional and legal feff es and other integration-related costs that would not have otherwise been incurred as part of the Company’s
operations. In fiff scal 2022, appra oximately $8.2 million of these integration costs was recorded in cost of sales, and $7.1 million of these
integration costs was recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses.
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(5) Other costs prior to fiff scal 2023 included: severance; legal reserves and related feff es; one-time consulting and other costs associated with
our strategic transforff mation initiatives; discontinuation and liquidation costs; and costs related to our initial public offff eff ring and
refiff nancing. Other costs beginning in fiff scal 2023 will include as incurred: restrucrr turt ing costs and restrucrr turt ing-related severance costs;
legal reserves associated with signififf cant, non-ordinaryrr course legal or regulatoryrr matters; and costs related to certain signififf cant strategic
transactions.

(6) We defiff ne net margin as net income (loss) attributabla e to Class A and B-1 common stockholders divided by net sales and Adjusted
EBITDA margin as Adjusted EBITDA divided by net sales.

FrFF ee CasCC h FlFF owll

Free Cash Flow is a non-GAAP fiff nancial measure that is calculated as net cash provided by operating
activities less cash paid forff fiff xed assets. Management believes that Free Cash Flow, which measures our abia lity to
generate additional cash frff om our business operations, is an important fiff nancial measure forff use in evaluating the
Company’s fiff nancial perforff mance.

Although other companies report their frff ee cash flff ow, numerous methods exist forff calculating a company’s
frff ee cash flff ow. As a result, the method used by the Company’s management to calculate our Free Cash Flow may
diffff eff r frff om the methods used by other companies to calculate their frff ee cash flff ow.

The tabla e below reflff ects the calculation of Free Cash Flow forff the periods presented:

Fiscal years ended
January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

January 30,
2021

(dollars in thousands) (52 weeks) (52 weeks) (52 weeks)
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 346,003 $ 358,215 $ 268,615
Cash paid forff fiff xed assets (278,020) (239,110) (159,560)
Free Cash Flow $ 67,983 $ 119,105 $ 109,055

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview

Our primaryrr sources of liquidity are fundsff generated by operating activities and availabla e capaa city forff
borrowings on our $500 million secured asset-based revolving credit faff cility maturt ing March 4, 2026 (the “ABL
Revolving Credit Facility”). Our abia lity to fundff our operations, to make planned capia tal investments, to make
scheduled debt payments and to repay or refiff nance indebtedness depends on our futff urt e operating perforff mance and
cash flff ows, which are subject to prevailing economic conditions and fiff nancial, business, and other faff ctors, some of
which are beyond our control. Our liquidity as of Januaryrr 28, 2023 was $645.8 million inclusive of cash and cash
equivalents of $201.9 million and $443.9 million of availabia lity on the ABL Revolving Credit Facility. We believe
that our current resources, together with anticipated cash flff ows frff om operations and borrowing capaa city under the
ABL Revolving Credit Facility, will be suffff iff cient to fiff nance our operations, meet our current cash requirements, and
fundff anticipated capia tal investments forff at least the next 12 months. We may, however, seek additional fiff nancing to
fundff futff urt e growth or refiff nance our existing indebtedness through the debt capia tal markets, but we cannot be assured
that such fiff nancing will be availabla e on faff vorabla e terms, or at all.

We are a party to contractuat l obligations involving commitments to make payments to third parties. These
obligations impact our short-term and long-term liquidity and capia tal resource needs. Certain contractuat l obligations
are reflff ected on the consolidated balance sheet as of Januaryrr 28, 2023, while others are considered futff urt e
obligations. Our contractuat l obligations primarily consist of operating leases and long-term debt and related interest
payments. We also enter certain short-term lease commitments, letters of credit and purchase obligations in the
normal course of business. Refeff r to Note 5, “L“ eases,” and Note 7, “Senior Secured CrCC edit FacFF ilities,” in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K forff amounts
outstanding as of Januaryrr 28, 2023 related to operating leases and debt, respectively. Refeff r also to furff ther discussion
on our debt refiff nancing transaction in “Sources of Liquidity” below.

Purchase obligations and commitments consist of open purchase orders, non-cancellabla e commitments forff
inforff mation technology, marketing and other products and services used in the normal course of business as well as
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our commitment forff naming rights to the baseball stadium. As of Januaryrr 28, 2023, our purchase obligations and
commitments were $353.2 million of which $294.1 million is considered short-term.

CasCC h FlFF owll s

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes our consolidated cash flff ows:

Fiscal years ended

(dollars in thousands)
January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

January 30,
2021

(52 weeks) (52 weeks) (52 weeks)
Total cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ 346,003 $ 358,215 $ 268,615
Investing activities (320,324) (237,083) (157,185)
Financing activities (33,842) (18,782) (146,608)
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents
and restricted cash $ (8,163) $ 102,350 $ (35,178)

OpeOO ratitt nii g Actitt vitii itt es

Our primaryrr source of operating cash is sales of products and services to customers, which are substantially all
on a cash basis, and thereforff e provide us with a signififf cant source of liquidity. Our primaryrr uses of cash in operating
activities include: purchases of inventory;rr frff eight and warehousing costs; employee-related expenditurt es;
occupancy-related costs forff our pet care centers, distribution centers and corporr ate support centers; credit card feff es;
interest under our debt agreements; and marketing expenses. Net cash provided by operating activities is impacted
by our net income (loss) adjusted forff certain non-cash items, including: depreciation, amortization, impairments and
write-offff sff ; amortization of debt discounts and issuance costs; defeff rred income taxes; equity-based compensation;
impairments of intangible assets; other non-operating income; and the effff eff ct of changes in operating assets and
liabia lities.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $346.0 million in fiff scal 2022 compared with net cash provided
by operating activities of $358.2 million in fiff scal 2021. The decrease in operating cash flff ow was due to lower
operating income, higher interest payments, higher cash paid forff payroll and frff inge as well as payouts of prior year
accruer d incentive bonuses. This was partially offff sff et by lower cash paid forff advertising and lower cash payments on
operating leases due to the timing of rent payments.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $358.2 million in fiff scal 2021 compared with $268.6 million in
fiff scal 2020. The increase in operating cash flff ow was due to strong operating perforff mance and working capia tal
benefiff t generated by higher sales as well as lower interest payments due to the reduction of debt balances in
connection with the initial public offff eff ring and related recapia talization, and the refiff nancing transaction that occurred
on March 4, 2021 discussed under “Sources of Liquidity” below. The increase in operating cash flff ows between the
periods was partially offff sff et by an increase in cash paid forff inventoryrr driven by higher inventoryrr turt ns, higher payroll
and frff inge driven by operating perforff mance along with other changes in working capia tal which is subject to many
variabla es including the timing of cash receipts and payments.

InII vestitt nii g Actitt vitii itt es

Net cash used in investing activities was $320.3 million, $237.1 million, and $157.2 million forff fiff scal 2022,
fiff scal 2021, and fiff scal 2020, respectively, and consisted primarily of capia tal expenditurt es supporting our growth and
initiatives.

The increase in capia tal expenditurt es between the periods was primarily due to the build-out of our veterinaryrr
hospitals, innovation, capia tal expenditurt es forff our new distribution centers and enhanced supply chain capaa city in
response to our sales growth. In fiff scal 2023, we expect to spend appra oximately $225 million to $250 million in
capia tal expenditurt es.
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Capia tal expenditurt es by categoryrr during the periods set forff th below are as folff lows:

Fiscal years ended

(dollars in thousands)
January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

January 30,
2021

New and existing pet care center
locations $ 146,432 $ 140,721 $ 80,776
Digital and inforff mation technology 78,611 57,319 68,232
Supply chain and other 52,977 41,070 10,552
Total capia tal expenditurt es $ 278,020 $ 239,110 $ 159,560

FiFF nii ancinii g Actitt vitii itt es

Net cash used in fiff nancing activities was $33.8 million forff fiff scal 2022, compared with $18.8 million used in
fiff nancing activities in fiff scal 2021 and $146.6 million used in fiff nancing activities in fiff scal 2020.

Financing cash flff ows in fiff scal 2022 primarily consisted of borrowings and repayments under the ABL
Revolving Credit Facility, quarterly term loan repayments, and payments forff tax withholdings on stock-based
awards.

Financing cash flff ows in fiff scal 2021 primarily consisted of borrowings and repayments of debt in connection
with the March 4, 2021 debt refiff nancing transaction discussed under “Sources of Liquidity” below.

Financing cash flff ows in fiff scal 2020 primarily consisted of repayments of debt in connection with the initial
public offff eff ring that occurred on Januaryrr 19, 2021. Upon the closing of the initial public offff eff ring, the Company
repaid $727.0 million of the Amended Term Loan Facility, $300.0 million in principal on the Floating Rate Senior
Notes and $4.0 million on the 3.00% Senior Notes. These payments were made frff om net proceeds of $936.0 million
frff om the initial public offff eff ring. The Company paid an additional $18.9 million of term loan principal payments in
fiff scal 2020. For more inforff mation regarding these activities, refeff r to Note 7, “Senior Secured CrCC edit FacFF ilities,” and
Note 8, “Senior NotNN es,” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. Additionally, at the start of the COVID-19 pandemic in March 2020, we took a precautionaryrr
draw on the Amended Revolving Credit Facility of $250.0 million. As operations stabia lized and fiff nancial results
improved, the balance was repaid in fulff l in the second quarter of fiff scal 2020 and no amounts were outstanding as of
Januaryrr 30, 2021.

SouSS rces of Liqui iditii ytt

SeSS nior SeSS cured CrCC editii FacFF ilii ill tii itt es

On March 4, 2021, the Company completed a refiff nancing transaction by entering into a $1,700 million
secured term loan faff cility maturt ing on March 4, 2028 (the “First Lien Term Loan”) and the ABL Revolving Credit
Facility, which maturt es on March 4, 2026 and has availabia lity of up to $500.0 million, subject to a borrowing base.

On December 12, 2022, the Company amended the First Lien Term Loan to replace the LIBOR-based rate
with a SOFR-based rate as the interest rate benchmark. Interest on the First Lien Term Loan is based on, at the
Company’s option, either a base rate or Adjusted Term SOFR, subject to a 0.75% flff oor, payabla e upon maturt ity of
the SOFR contract, in either case plus the appla icabla e rate. The base rate is the greater of the bank prime rate, feff deral
fundsff effff eff ctive rate plus 0.5% or Adjusted Term SOFR plus 1.0%. The appla icabla e rate is 2.25% per annum forff a
base rate loan or 3.25% per annum forff an Adjusted Term SOFR loan. Principal and interest payments commenced
on June 30, 2021. Principal payments are $4.25 million quarterly. In March 2023, the Company repaid $35.0
million on the First Lien Term Loan using existing cash on hand. The repayment was appla ied to remaining principal
payments in order of scheduled payment date.

For more inforff mation regarding this indebtedness, refeff r to Note 7, “Senior Secured CrCC edit FacFF ilities,” in the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Derivatitt ve InII strtt umentstt
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In November 2022, the Company entered into a series of interest rate capa agreements to limit the maximum
interest on a portion of the Company’s variabla e-rate debt and decrease its exposure to interest rate variabia lity when
three-month SOFR as published by CME Group exceeds 4.5%. The interest rate capsa are accounted forff as cash flff ow
hedges, and changes in the faff ir value of the interest rate capsa are reported as a component of accumulated other
comprehensive income.

For more inforff mation regarding derivative instrumrr ents, refeff r to Note 9, “D“ erivative InsII trtt umentstt ,” in the Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Segment
We operate under one reportabla e segment and support and serve pets and their parents through our integrated

ecosystem of pet care centers, services, and e-commerce.

Seasonality
Our fiff nancial perforff mance is not signififf cantly impacted by seasonality, as the maja ority of our sales are

generated by pet parents caring forff their pets year-round.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The preparation of our consolidated fiff nancial statements in conforff mity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) requires us to make assumptions and estimates abouta futff urt e results and
appla y judgments that affff eff ct the reported amounts of assets, liabia lities, net sales, expenses and related disclosures. We
base our estimates and judgments on historical experience, current trends and other faff ctors that we believe to be
relevant at the time our consolidated fiff nancial statements are prepared. On an ongoing basis, we review the
accounting policies, assumptions, estimates and judgments to ensure that our fiff nancial statements are presented
faff irly and in accordance with GAAP. However, because futff urt e events and their effff eff cts cannot be determined with
certainty, actuat l results could diffff eff r frff om our assumptions and estimates, and such diffff eff rences could be material.

We state our signififf cant accounting policies in the notes to our annual consolidated fiff nancial statements,
which are included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We believe that the folff lowing accounting policies and
estimates described below have the greatest potential impact on our fiff nancial statements, and thereforff e we consider
these to be critical to aid in fulff ly understanding and evaluating our reported fiff nancial results.

InII ventortt yr Reserves
We value our inventoryrr at the lower of the cost or net realizabla e value through the establa ishment of inventoryrr

valuation and shrink reserves. Cost is determined by the average cost method and includes inbound frff eight charges.
Our valuation reserves represent the excess of the carryirr ng value or average cost, over the amount we expect to
realize frff om the ultimate sale of the inventory.rr Valuation reserves establa ish a new cost basis, and subsequent
changes in faff cts or circumstances do not result in an increase in the newly establa ished cost basis. Our valuation
reserves are subject to uncertainties, as the calculation requires us to make assumptions regarding inventoryrr aging,
forff ecasted consumer demand and trends and the promotional environment.

Our inventoryrr shrink reserve represents estimated physical inventoryrr losses that have occurred since the last
physical inventoryrr date. Periodic inventoryrr observations are perforff med on a regular basis at pet care center
locations, and cycle counts are perforff med forff inventoryrr at distribution centers to ensure inventoryrr is properly stated
in our consolidated fiff nancial statements. During the period between counts at pet care center locations, we accruer forff
estimated shrink losses based on historical shrinkage results, taking into consideration any current trends in the
business.

We have not made any material changes in our methodology used to establa ish our inventoryrr valuation and
shrink reserves during the past three fiff scal years, and we have not had material adjustments between our estimated
shrinkage percentages and actuat l results. A 10% diffff eff rence in our actuat l valuation reserve at Januaryrr 28, 2023
would have an insignififf cant effff eff ct on pre-tax income in fiff scal 2022. Additionally, we do not believe there is a
reasonabla e likelihood that there will be a material change in futff ut re estimates or assumptions we use to calculate our
shrink reserve. However, if estimates of losses are inaccurate, we may be exposed to losses or gains that could be
material. A 10% diffff eff rence in our actuat l shrink reserve at Januaryrr 28, 2023 would have affff eff cted pre-tax income by
$3.5 million in fiff scal 2022.
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We receive various forff ms of consideration frff om our merchandise vendors (vendor allowances). We
receive vendor allowances, primarily in the forff m of cooperative advertising reimbursements, rebate incentives,
prompt purchase discounts, and vendor compliance charges pursuant to agreements with certain vendors.
Substantially all vendor allowances are initially defeff rred as a reduction of the cost of inventoryrr purchased and
recorded as a reduction to cost of sales in the consolidated statements of operations as the inventoryrr is sold. Vendor
rebates and allowances that are identififf ed as specififf c, incremental, and identififf abla e costs incurred by the Company in
selling the vendors’ products are classififf ed as a reduction of selling, general and administrative expenses in the
consolidated statements of operations as the costs are incurred, as the related costs are also classififf ed as selling,
general and administrative expenses.

We establa ish a defeff rral forff vendor income that is earned but not yet received and record the
defeff rral as a reduction to merchandise inventory.rr The maja ority of the year-end vendor income defeff rrals are
collected within the folff lowing fiff scal quarter, and we do not believe there is reasonabla e likelihood that the
assumptions used in our estimate will change signififf cantly. Historically, adjustments to our vendor income defeff rral
have not been material. A 10% diffff eff rence in our vendor income defeff rred at Januaryrr 28, 2023 would have affff eff cted
pre-tax income by $3.1 million in fiff scal 2022.

We have not made any material changes in the accounting methodology we use to assess valuation allowances
during the past three fiff scal years.

Long-lill ved Assetstt

Long-lived assets, other than goodwill and intangible assets, which are separately discussed below, are tested
forff recoverabia lity whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carryirr ng value of an asset may not
be recoverabla e. A long-lived asset is not recoverabla e if its carryirr ng amount exceeds the sum of the undiscounted
cash flff ows expected to result frff om its use and eventuat l disposition. If a long-lived asset is not recoverabla e, an
impairment loss is recognized forff the amount by which the carryirr ng amount of the long-lived asset (or group of
assets) exceeds its faff ir value, with faff ir value determined based on the income appra oach.

Factors we consider important and which could trigger an impairment review include: (i) signififf cant
underper rforff mance of a pet care center relative to expected historical or projected futff urt e operating results; (ii)
signififf cant changes in the manner of our use of assets or strategy forff our overall business; (iii) signififf cant negative
industryrr or economic trends; or (iv) planned pet care center closings.

We have not made any material changes in the accounting methodology we use to assess impairment losses
during the past three fiff scal years.

GoodwG ilii lll and TrTT ade NamNN e InII tantt gibli ell Assetstt

GoodwGG ilii lll

We evaluate goodwill annually in our fourff th quarter or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carryirr ng value may not be recoverabla e. We have identififf ed one reporting unit and selected our fourff th fiff scal
quarter to perforff m our annual goodwill impairment testing. Goodwill impairment guidance provides entities the
option to perforff m a qualitative assessment to determine whether furff ther impairment testing is necessary.rr The
qualitative assessment requires signififf cant judgments abouta economic conditions, including the entity’s operating
environment, its industryrr and other market conditions, entity-specififf c events related to fiff nancial perforff mance or loss
of key personnel, and other events that could impact the reporting unit. If management concludes, based on
assessment of relevant events, faff cts, and circumstances, that it is more likely than not that a reporting unit’s faff ir
value is greater than its carryirr ng value, no furff ther impairment testing is required.

If management’s assessment of qualitative faff ctors indicates that it is more likely than not that the faff ir value of
a reporting unit is less than its carryirr ng value, then a quantitative assessment is perforff med. We also have the option
to bypass the qualitative assessment described abovea and proceed directly to the quantitative assessment, where we
compare the faff ir value of the reporting unit to its carryirr ng value. If the faff ir value of the reporting unit exceeds the
carryirr ng value of our net assets assigned to that unit, goodwill is not considered impaired and we are not required to
perforff m furff ther testing. If the carryirr ng value of net assets assigned to the reporting unit exceeds the faff ir value of the
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reporting unit, then we would record an impairment loss equal to the diffff eff rence. In cases where a quantitative test is
perforff med, the faff ir value of our reporting unit is estimated using the assistance of a third-party valuation fiff rm.
Signififf cant assumptions inherent in the valuation methodologies employed by the third party valuation fiff rm could
include, but are not limited to, prospective fiff nancial inforff mation, growth rates, discount rates and comparabla e
multiples frff om publicly traded companies in similar industries. An impairment charge is recorded forff the amount by
which the carryirr ng amount of goodwill exceeds its faff ir value.

We have not made any material changes in the accounting methodology we use to assess goodwill impairment
losses during the past three fiff scal years.

InII defe iff nii itii ett -lill ved trtt ade name

We consider the Petco trade name to be an indefiff nite-lived intangible asset, as we currently anticipate that this
trade name will contribute cash flff ows to us indefiff nitely. We perforff m our annual impairment test during the fourff th
quarter of each year or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carryirr ng value may not be
recoverabla e. Management has the option to fiff rst perforff m a quantitative assessment of its trade name asset to
determine whether it is necessaryrr to perforff m a quantitative impairment test. We also have the option to bypass the
qualitative assessment described abovea and proceed directly to quantitative assessment.

In cases where a quantitative test is perforff med, the faff ir value of our trade name is estimated using the
assistance of a third-party valuation fiff rm. Signififf cant assumptions inherent in the valuation methodologies
employed by the third party valuation fiff rm could include, but are not limited to, prospective fiff nancial inforff mation,
growth rates, discount rates and comparabla e multiples frff om publicly traded companies in similar industries. An
impairment charge is recorded forff the amount by which the carryirr ng amount of the trade name exceeds its faff ir value.

We have not made any material changes in the accounting methodology we use to assess indefiff nite-lived trade
name impairment during the past three fiff scal years.

SeSS lfll -ff inii surance Reserves

We maintain accruar ls forff our self-ff insurance of workers’ compensation, employee-related healthcare benefiff ts
and general and auto liabia lities. Insurance coverage is in place abovea per occurrence retention limits to limit our
exposure to large claims. These insurance policies have stated maximum coverage limits, aftff er which we bear the
risk of loss. When estimating our self-ff insurance reserves, we consider a number of faff ctors, including historical
experience, trends related to claims and payments, and inforff mation provided by our insurance brokers and actuat ries.
Periodically, we review our assumptions and valuations provided by our actuat ries to determine the adequacy of our
self-ff insurance reserves.

We are required to make assumptions and to appla y judgments to estimate the ultimate cost to settle reported
claims and claims incurred but not reported at the balance sheet date. There were no signififf cant changes to the self-ff
insurance reserves during the past three years other than routine current period activity. A 10% change in our self-ff
insurance reserves at Januaryrr 28, 2023 would have affff eff cted pre-tax loss by $8.6 million in fiff scal 2022.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Refeff r to Note 1, “Summaryr of Signii fi iff cant Accounting Policies,” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K forff inforff mation regarding recently issued
accounting pronouncements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

We are subject to market risks arising frff om transactions in the normal course of our business. These risks are
primarily associated with interest rate flff uctuat tions, as well as changes in our credit standing, based on the capia tal and
credit markets, which are not predictabla e. We do not currently hold any instrumr ents forff trading purposrr es.

InII tett rest Ratett Risii k
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We are subject to interest rate risk in connection with the First Lien Term Loan and the ABL Revolving Credit
Facility. As of Januaryrr 28, 2023, we had $1,670.3 million outstanding under the First Lien Term Loan and no
amounts outstanding under the ABL Revolving Credit Facility. The First Lien Term Loan and the ABL Revolving
Credit Facility each bear interest at variabla e rates. An increase of 100 basis points in the variabla e rates on the First
Lien Term Loan and the ABL Revolving Credit Facility as of Januaryrr 28, 2023 would have increased annual cash
interest in the aggregate by appra oximately $16.9 million. For inforff mation regarding the interest rate capa agreements
that we entered into in December 2022 to limit the maximum interest rate on a portion of our variabla e-rate debt and
limit our exposure to interest rate variabia lity, please refeff r to the section defiff ned within Liquidity and Capia tal
Resources in Part II, Item 7, "Derivative Instrumrr ents" of this Form 10-K.

We cannot predict market flff uctuat tions in interest rates and their impact on our debt, nor can there be any
assurance that long-term fiff xed-rate debt will be availabla e at faff vorabla e rates, if at all. Consequently, futff urt e results
may diffff eff r materially frff om estimated results due to adverse changes in interest rates or debt availabia lity.

CrCC editii Risii k

As of Januaryrr 28, 2023, our cash and cash equivalents were maintained at maja or fiff nancial institutt ions in the
United States, and our current deposits are likely in excess of insured limits. We believe these institutt ions have
suffff iff cient assets and liquidity to conduct their operations in the ordinaryrr course of business.

ForFF eigni CuCC rrencyc Risii k

Substantially all of our business is currently conducted in U.S. dollars. We do not believe that an immediate
10% increase or decrease in the relative value of the U.S. dollar as compared to other currencies would have a
material effff eff ct on our operating results.
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PETCO HEALTH ANDWELLNESS COMPANY, INC.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of
Petco Health and Wellness Company, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Petco Health and Wellness Company, Inc. (the Company)
as of Januaryrr 28, 2023 and Januaryrr 29, 2022, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss),
equity, and cash flff ows forff each of the three years in the period ended Januaryrr 28, 2023, and the related notes (collectively
refeff rred to as the “consolidated fiff nancial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated fiff nancial statements present faff irly, in all
material respects, the fiff nancial position of the Company at Januaryrr 28, 2023 and Januaryrr 29, 2022, and the results of its
operations and its cash flff ows forff each of the three years in the period ended Januaryrr 28, 2023, in conforff mity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Publu ic Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over fiff nancial reporting as of Januaryrr 28, 2023, based on criteria establa ished in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(2013 Framework) and our report dated March 28, 2023 expressed an unqualififf ed opinion thereon.

Basis forff Opinion

These fiff nancial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company’s fiff nancial statements based on our audits. We are a pubu lic accounting fiff rm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. feff deral securities laws and the appla icabla e
rulr es and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perforff m
the audit to obtain reasonabla e assurance abouta whether the fiff nancial statements are frff ee of material misstatement, whether due
to error or frff aud. Our audits included perforff ming procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the fiff nancial
statements, whether due to error or frff aud, and perforff ming procedurd es that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the fiff nancial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and signififf cant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the fiff nancial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonabla e basis forff our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising frff om the current period audit of the fiff nancial statements that
was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that
are material to the fiff nancial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The
communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated fiff nancial statements, taken
as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit
matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
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Descripti ion of thett
MatMM ter

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated fiff nancial statements, the Company receives
vendor allowances frff om certain merchandise vendors through a variety of programs
intended to offff sff et the cost of inventoryrr and forff promoting and selling merchandise
inventory.rr Certain of these programs consist of promotional allowances that are
contractuat lly tied to the sale of inventoryrr and are recognized as a reduction to cost of
sales at the time of the sale of the specififf c goods. Auditing vendor allowances was
complex due to the number of individual agreements and the varyirr ng terms in the
respective agreements. Signififf cant audit effff orff t was required to evaluate the terms of the
vendor agreements and the related treatment of the vendor allowances in the
consolidated fiff nancial statements.

HowHH WeWW
Addressed the
MatMM ter in Our
Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating
effff eff ctiveness of internal controls over the Company’s vendor allowances process,
including management’s assessment of the terms of vendor agreements, the timing of
recognition to the statement of operations and related classififf cation of the vendor
allowances.

In order to test the recorded amount of vendor allowances, forff a sample of vendor
contracts, we tested whether the recorded amounts were consistent with the naturt e of
the contractuat l arrangement and evaluated whether the allowances had been earned as
of Januaryrr 28, 2023, were appra opriately recorded in the statement of operations and
were appra opriately classififf ed as a reduction of cost of sales based on the contractuat l
terms. For a sample of vendor arrangements, we confiff rmed the terms of the agreement
directly with the vendor. For a sample of vendors, we confiff rmed the Company's
outstanding balances directly with the vendor.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2020.

San Diego, Califorff nia
March 28, 2023
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Petco Health and Wellness Company, Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited Petco Health and Wellness Company, Inc.’s internal control over fiff nancial reporting as of Januaryrr 28, 2023,
based on criteria establa ished in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (2013 frff amework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Petco Health and Wellness Company,
Inc. (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effff eff ctive internal control over fiff nancial reporting as of Januaryrr 28,
2023, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Publu ic Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of Januaryrr 28, 2023 and Januaryrr 29, 2022, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), equity, and cash flff ows forff each of the three years in the
period ended Januaryrr 28, 2023, and the related notes and our report dated March 28, 2023, expressed an unqualififf ed opinion
thereon.

Basis forff Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible forff maintaining effff eff ctive internal control over fiff nancial reporting and forff its
assessment of the effff eff ctiveness of internal control over fiff nancial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s
Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
internal control over fiff nancial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting fiff rm registered with the PCAOB and
are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. feff deral securities laws and the
appla icabla e rulr es and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perforff m the
audit to obtain reasonabla e assurance abouta whether effff eff ctive internal control over fiff nancial reporting was maintained in all
material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over fiff nancial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effff eff ctiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk,
and perforff ming such other procedures as we considered necessaryrr in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonabla e basis forff our opinion.

Defiff nition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over fiff nancial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonabla e assurance regarding the
reliabia lity of fiff nancial reporting and the preparation of fiff nancial statements forff external purposr es in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over fiff nancial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonabla e detail, accurately and faff irly reflff ect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonabla e assurance that transactions are recorded as necessaryrr to
permit preparation of fiff nancial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditurt es of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonabla e assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effff eff ct on the fiff nancial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over fiff nancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effff eff ctiveness to futff urt e periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

San Diego, Califorff nia
March 28, 2023
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PETCO HEALTH ANDWELLNESS COMPANY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 201,901 $ 211,602
Receivabla es, less allowance forff credit losses ($952 and $931, respectively) 49,580 55,618
Merchandise inventories, net 652,430 675,111
Prepaid expenses 51,274 42,355
Other current assets 60,809 86,091
Total current assets 1,015,994 1,070,777

Fixed assets, net 803,327 726,922
Operating lease right-of-ff use assets 1,397,761 1,338,465
Goodwill 2,193,941 2,183,991
Trade name 1,025,000 1,025,000
Other long-term assets 176,806 152,786

Total assets $ 6,612,829 $ 6,497,941
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabia lities:
Accounts payabla e and book overdraftff s $ 381,213 $ 403,976
Accruerr d salaries and employee benefiff ts 89,929 150,630
Accruerr d expenses and other liabia lities 217,556 210,872
Current portion of operating lease liabia lities 309,766 265,897
Current portion of long-term debt and other lease liabia lities 22,794 21,764
Total current liabia lities 1,021,258 1,053,139

Senior secured credit faff cilities, net, excluding current portion 1,628,331 1,640,390
Operating lease liabia lities, excluding current portion 1,148,155 1,096,133
Defeff rred taxes, net 303,121 318,355
Other long-term liabia lities 130,487 134,105

Total liabia lities 4,231,352 4,242,122
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 7 and 15)
Stockholders' equity:
Class A common stock, $0.001 par value: Authorized - 1.0 billion shares;
Issued and outstanding - 228.3 million and 227.2 million shares, respectively 228 227

Class B-1 common stock, $0.001 par value: Authorized - 75.0 million shares;
Issued and outstanding - 37.8 million shares 38 38

Class B-2 common stock, $0.000001 par value: Authorized - 75.0 million shares;
Issued and outstanding - 37.8 million shares — —

Prefeff rred stock, $0.001 par value: Authorized - 25.0 million shares;
Issued and outstanding - none — —

Additional paid-in-capia tal 2,152,342 2,133,821
Retained earnings 232,967 142,166
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (4,098) (2,238)
Total stockholders’ equity 2,381,477 2,274,014

Noncontrolling interest — (18,195)
Total equity 2,381,477 2,255,819
Total liabia lities and equity $ 6,612,829 $ 6,497,941

See accompanying notes to consolidated fiff nancial statements.
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PETCO HEALTH ANDWELLNESS COMPANY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERARR TIONS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Fiscal years ended
January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

January 30,
2021

(52 weeks) (52 weeks) (52 weeks)
Net sales $ 6,035,967 $ 5,807,149 $ 4,920,202
Cost of sales 3,608,860 3,380,539 2,813,464

Gross profiff t 2,427,107 2,426,610 2,106,738
Selling, general and administrative expenses 2,201,548 2,160,539 1,912,314

Operating income 225,559 266,071 194,424
Interest income (1,032) (62) (653)
Interest expense 101,643 77,397 219,083
Loss on extinguishment and modififf cation of debt — 20,838 17,549
Other non-operating loss (income) 12,667 (34,497) —

Income (loss) beforff e income taxes and income frff om
equity method investees 112,281 202,395 (41,555)

Income tax expense (benefiff t) 35,347 53,473 (3,337)
Income frff om equity method investees (12,976) (10,883) (6,482)

Net income (loss) 89,910 159,805 (31,736)
Net loss attributabla e to noncontrolling interest (891) (4,612) (5,253)
Net income (loss) attributabla e to Class A and B-1 common
stockholders $ 90,801 $ 164,417 $ (26,483)

Net income (loss) per Class A and B-1 common share (1):
Basic $ 0.34 $ 0.62 $ (0.13)
Diluted $ 0.34 $ 0.62 $ (0.13)

Weighted average shares used in computing net income (loss)
per Class A and B-1 common share (1):
Basic 265,522 264,261 210,683
Diluted 265,951 265,338 210,683

(1) Amounts forff periods prior to the Company’s conversion to a Delaware corporrr ation have been retrospectively adjusted to give effff eff ct to the
organizational transactions described in Note 1. See Note 12 forff furff ther discussion.

See accompanying notes to consolidated fiff nancial statements.
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PETCO HEALTH ANDWELLNESS COMPANY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(In thousands)

Fiscal years ended
January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

January 30,
2021

(52 weeks) (52 weeks) (52 weeks)
Net income (loss) $ 89,910 $ 159,805 $ (31,736)
Net loss attributabla e to noncontrolling interest (891) (4,612) (5,253)

Net income (loss) attributabla e to Class A and B-1 common
stockholders 90,801 164,417 (26,483)

Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustment 194 (963) (905)
Unrealized loss on derivatives (2,180) — (86)
Losses on derivatives reclassififf ed to income 127 — 7,989

Total other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax (1,859) (963) 6,998

Comprehensive income (loss) 88,051 158,842 (24,738)
Comprehensive loss attributabla e to noncontrolling
interest (891) (4,612) (5,253)

Comprehensive income (loss) attributabla e to Class A and B-1
common stockholders $ 88,942 $ 163,454 $ (19,485)

See accompanying notes to consolidated fiff nancial statements.
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PETCO HEALTH ANDWELLNESS COMPANY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Fiscal years ended
January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

January 30,
2021

(52 weeks) (52 weeks) (52 weeks)
Cash flff ows frff om operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ 89,910 $ 159,805 $ (31,736)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization 193,828 172,431 174,836
Amortization of debt discounts and issuance costs 4,940 5,796 24,237
Provision forff defeff rred taxes (893) 37,741 25,548
Equity-based compensation 60,784 49,265 12,915
Impairments, write-offff sff and losses on sale of fiff xed and other assets 1,992 10,918 15,606
Loss on extinguishment and modififf cation of debt — 20,838 17,549
Income frff om equity method investees (12,976) (10,883) (6,482)
Amounts reclassififf ed out of accumulated other comprehensive income
(Note 9) 168 — 10,793
Change in contingent consideration obligation — — (398)
Non-cash operating lease costs 422,792 422,465 430,359
Other non-operating loss (income) 12,667 (34,497) —
Changes in assets and liabia lities:
Receivabla es 6,038 (13,791) (10,311)
Merchandise inventories 22,681 (136,404) (60,635)
Prepaid expenses and other assets (5,933) (17,664) (13,842)
Accounts payabla e and book overdraftff s (22,763) 71,775 46,303
Accruerr d salaries and employee benefiff ts (51,427) 10,679 34,295
Accruerr d expenses and other liabia lities 13,616 42,899 (28,289)
Operating lease liabia lities (386,259) (418,210) (399,557)
Other long-term liabia lities (3,162) (14,948) 27,424
Net cash provided by operating activities 346,003 358,215 268,615

Cash flff ows frff om investing activities:
Cash paid forff fiff xed assets (278,020) (239,110) (159,560)
Cash paid forff acquisitions, net of cash acquired (Note 3) (9,640) (4,334) —
Cash paid forff interest in veterinaryrr joint venturt e (Note 1) (35,000) — —
Cash paid forff investments — — (1,000)
Proceeds frff om investments — 6,135 73
Proceeds frff om sale of assets 2,336 226 3,302

Net cash used in investing activities (320,324) (237,083) (157,185)
Cash flff ows frff om fiff nancing activities:
Borrowings under long-term debt agreements 123,000 1,700,000 476,000
Repayments of long-term debt (140,000) (1,690,861) (1,554,890)
Debt refiff nancing costs — (24,665) —
Payments forff fiff nance lease liabia lities (5,083) (3,564) (3,404)
Proceeds frff om employee stock purchase plan and stock option exercises 3,796 4,185 —
Tax withholdings on stock-based awards (15,555) (33) —
Proceeds frff om initial public offff eff ring, net of issuance costs — — 936,041
Repurchase of equity — — (105)
Payment of contingent consideration — — (250)
Payment of offff eff ring costs — (3,844) —

Net cash used in fiff nancing activities (33,842) (18,782) (146,608)
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (8,163) 102,350 (35,178)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year 221,890 119,540 154,718
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year $ 213,727 $ 221,890 $ 119,540
Supplemental cash flff ow disclosures:
Interest paid, net $ 89,285 $ 64,545 $ 178,960
Capia talized interest $ 1,480 $ 1,003 $ 499
Income taxes paid $ 14,443 $ 16,092 $ 2,388

Supplemental non-cash investing and fiff nancing activities disclosures:
Accounts payabla e and accruerr d expenses forff capia tal expenditurt es $ 29,051 $ 36,935 $ 19,723
Accruerr d expenses forff offff eff ring costs in initial public offff eff ring $ — $ — $ 3,844
Accruerr d tax withholdings on stock-based awards $ — $ 6,552 $ —
Contributions of Senior Notes (Note 8) $ — $ — $ 573,934

See accompanying notes to consolidated fiff nancial statements.
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PETCO HEALTH ANDWELLNESS COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Summary of Signififf cant Accounting Policies

Descriptii itt on of Businii ess and Basisii of PrPP esentattt itt on

Petco Health and Wellness Company, Inc. (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, the “Company”) is a
category-rr defiff ning health and wellness company focff used on improving the lives of pets, pet parents, and its own
partners with 1,430 pet care centers in 50 states, the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico as of Januaryrr 28, 2023.
The Company also offff eff rs an expanded range of consumabla es, supplies and services through its www.petco.com,
www.petcoach.co, www.petinsurancequotes.com, and www.pupbox.com websites.

The Company was forff med as a Delaware limited liabia lity company under the name PET Acquisition LLC on
November 19, 2015 as an acquisition entity controlled by Scooby LP, which was indirectly owned by fundsff
affff iff liated with CVC Capia tal Partners, Canada Pension Plan Investment Board, a Canadian company (together with
CVC Capia tal Partners, the “Sponsors”), and certain co-investors. On Januaryrr 26, 2016, the Company completed a
merger (the “Acquisition”) whereby Petco Holdings, Inc. converted frff om a Delaware corporrr ation to a Delaware
limited liabia lity company and became a wholly owned subsidiaryrr of the Company. Under this ownership strucr turt e,
the Company had fourff classes of membership units: (i) Common Series A Units; (ii) Common Series B Units; (iii)
Common Series C Units; and (iv) Voting Common Units.

CorCC porrr atett ConCC versrr ion and Publill c OfO fff eff rinii gs

In Januaryrr 2021, all of the Company’s Common Series A Units, Common Series B Units, and Common
Series C Units were contributed frff om Scooby LP to a newly forff med and wholly owned subsidiary,rr Scooby
Aggregator, LP. The Company then converted to a Delaware corporr ation pursuant to a statutt oryrr conversion and
changed its name to Petco Health and Wellness Company, Inc.

In connection with the conversion and immediately prior to the Company’s initial public offff eff ring, all
outstanding membership units were converted into 171.2 million shares of newly-issued Class A common stock,
37.8 million shares of newly-issued Class B-1 common stock, and 37.8 million shares of newly-issued Class B-2
common stock. The existing balances of members’ interest and accumulated defiff cit prior to the conversion were
reclassififf ed to additional paid-in capia tal in the consolidated balance sheets. This reclassififf cation had no effff eff ct on the
Company’s results of operations.

The rights of the holders of Class A common stock and Class B-1 common stock are identical in all respects,
except that Class B-1 common stock does not vote on the election or removal of the Company’s directors. The rights
of the holders of Class B-2 common stock diffff eff r frff om the rights of the holders of Class A common stock and Class
B-1 common stock in that holders of Class B-2 common stock only possess the right to vote on the election or
removal of the Company’s directors.

On Januaryrr 19, 2021, the Company completed its initial public offff eff ring of 55.2 million newly-issued shares of
its Class A common stock. The price was $18.00 per share. The Company received net cash proceeds of
appra oximately $936.0 million frff om the initial public offff eff ring aftff er deducting underwriting discounts, commissions,
and offff eff ring expenses through Januaryrr 30, 2021, with $3.8 million of accruer d offff eff ring expenses reflff ected in accruerr d
expenses and other liabia lities in the consolidated balance sheets. The net proceeds frff om the initial public offff eff ring
were used to pay a portion of the principal amount and accruerr d interest on the Company’s debt obligations. Refeff r to
Note 7 and Note 8 forff furff ther discussion on the Company’s use of proceeds frff om the initial public offff eff ring.

In June 2021, Scooby Aggregator, LP, the Company’s principal stockholder, completed the sale of 25.3
million existing shares of Class A common stock in connection with a secondaryrr offff eff ring. The offff eff ring price was
$24.00 per share. The Company received no proceeds frff om the secondaryrr offff eff ring. Expenses incurred by the
Company related to the secondaryrr offff eff ring were not material.
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PrPP inii ciplii ell s of ConCC solill datitt on

The accompanying consolidated fiff nancial statements include the accounts of Petco Health and Wellness
Company, Inc., its wholly owned subsidiaries, and a variabla e interest entity forff which it was the primaryrr benefiff ciaryrr
prior to the transaction described below. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation.

UsUU e of EsEE titt mii atett s

The preparation of these consolidated fiff nancial statements in conforff mity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP") requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affff eff ct the reported amounts of assets and liabia lities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabia lities at the date of the
consolidated fiff nancial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods.
These estimates are based on inforff mation that is currently availabla e and on various other assumptions that are
believed to be reasonabla e under the circumstances. Actuat l results could varyrr frff om those estimates under diffff eff rent
assumptions or conditions.

FiFF sii cal YeYY ar

The Company’s fiff scal year ends on the Saturt day closest to Januaryrr 31, resulting in years of either 52 or 53
weeks. All refeff rences to a fiff scal year refeff r to the fiff scal year ending on the Saturt day closest to Januaryrr 31 of the
folff lowing year. For example, refeff rences to fiff scal 2022 refeff r to the fiff scal year that began on Januaryrr 30, 2022 and
ended on Januaryrr 28, 2023. Fiscal 2022, 2021 and 2020 included 52 weeks.

SeSS gme ent Reporee titt nii g

Operating segments are components of an enterprrr ise abouta which separate fiff nancial inforff mation is availabla e
and is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) in deciding how to allocate resources
and in assessing perforff mance. The CEO serves as the Company’s CODM. The Company manages its business as
one reportabla e operating segment which is designed to sell pet food,ff supplies and companion animals, and services
to pet parents across pet care center and online channels.

CasCC h and CasCC h Equivalell ntstt

Cash equivalents represent all liquid investments with original maturt ities of three months or less and include
money market mutuat l fundsff . The Company maintains cash and cash equivalent balances with fiff nancial institutt ions
that exceed feff derally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses related to these balances. Included
in the Company’s cash and cash equivalents are credit and debit card receivabla es frff om banks, which typically settle
within fiff ve business days, of $40.0 million and $35.9 million at Januaryrr 28, 2023 and Januaryrr 29, 2022,
respectively. The folff lowing tabla e provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported in
the consolidated balance sheets to the total amounts reported in the consolidated statements of cash flff ows. Restricted
cash is held in a trusr t used forff certain employee benefiff t costs.

January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

Cash and cash equivalents $ 201,901 $ 211,602
Restricted cash included in other current assets 11,826 10,288
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash in
the statement of cash flff ows $ 213,727 $ 221,890

Outstanding checks in excess of fundsff on deposit (book overdraftff s) totaled $27.4 million and $61.5 million at
Januaryrr 28, 2023 and Januaryrr 29, 2022, respectively, and are reflff ected in accounts payabla e and book overdraftff s in
the consolidated balance sheets.
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VeVV ndor Rebatett s and Allll owll ances

Most of the Company’s receivabla es are due frff om vendors. Receivabla es are stated net of an allowance forff
estimated credit losses, which is determined by continually evaluating individual receivabla es, the vendor’s fiff nancial
condition and current and expected economic conditions. The additions and deductions to the allowance forff
estimated credit losses were not material forff all periods presented.

The Company receives vendor allowances, primarily in the forff m of cooperative advertising reimbursements,
rebate incentives, prompt purchase discounts, and vendor compliance charges pursuant to agreements with certain
vendors. Substantially all vendor allowances are initially defeff rred as a reduction of the cost of inventoryrr purchased
and recorded as a reduction to cost of sales in the consolidated statements of operations as the inventoryrr is sold.
Vendor rebates and allowances that are identififf ed as specififf c, incremental and identififf abla e costs incurred by the
Company in selling the vendors’ products are classififf ed as a reduction of selling, general and administrative
expenses in the consolidated statements of operations as the costs are incurred, as the related costs are also classififf ed
as selling, general and administrative expenses.

MeMM rchandisii e InII ventortt ies

Merchandise inventories represent fiff nished goods and are stated at the lower of cost or net realizabla e value.
Cost is determined by the average-cost method and includes inbound frff eight charges. Physical inventories are
perforff med on a regular basis at pet care center locations and cycle counts are perforff med forff inventoryrr at distribution
centers. During the period between counts at pet care center locations, the Company accruerr s forff estimated losses
related to inventoryrr shrinkage based on historical inventoryrr shrinkage results and current trends in the business.
Inventoryrr shrinkage may occur due to theftff , loss, or the deterioration of goods, among other reasons. The Company
assesses its inventoryrr forff estimated obsolescence or unmarketabla e inventoryrr and writes down the diffff eff rence between
the cost of inventoryrr and the estimated market value based upon historical mark-downs, supply on-hand and
assumptions abouta futff urt e sales.

FiFF xeii d Assetstt

Fixed assets are stated at cost or faff ir value as of the date of the Acquisition less accumulated depreciation and
amortization. Pet care center faff cilities and equipment under fiff nance leases are recorded at the present value of lease
payments at the inception of the lease. Maintenance and minor repairs are expensed as incurred.

Buildings, equipment, furff niturt e and fiff xturt es are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated
usefulff lifeff of the asset. Leasehold and building improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the
term of the lease or the estimated usefulff lifeff of the improvement, whichever is shorter. Land is not depreciated.
Amortization of fiff xed assets fiff nanced through fiff nance leases is included in depreciation and amortization expense.

The Company’s fiff xed assets are generally depreciated or amortized using the folff lowing estimated usefulff lives:

Buildings 30 years
Equipment 3 to 7 years
Furniturt e and fiff xturt es 4 to 7 years
Leasehold and building improvements 5 to 10 years

Costs incurred to develop internal-use softff ware during the appla ication development stage, which include costs
to design the softff ware confiff guration and interfaff ces, coding, installation and testing, are capia talized and reported at
cost, less accumulated amortization. Costs of signififf cant upgrades and enhancements that result in additional
funcff tionality are also capia talized, whereas costs incurred forff maintenance and minor upgrades and enhancements are
expensed as incurred. Softff ware and capia talized development costs are included in the Company’s equipment fiff xed
asset categoryrr and are amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated usefulff lifeff of the asset.
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The Company assesses its fiff xed assets, including internal-use softff ware, forff impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carryirr ng value may not be recoverabla e. The review of recoverabia lity is
based on estimates of the undiscounted futff urt e cash flff ows expected to be generated by an asset (or group of assets) at
a pet care center level. If impairment exists due to the inabia lity to recover the asset’s carryirr ng value, impairment
losses are measured as the amount by which the asset’s carryirr ng value exceeds its faff ir value using the income
appra oach and are recorded as a reduction of the related asset and charged to the consolidated statements of
operations.

GoodwG ilii lll

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquired businesses over the faff ir value of the tangible and
identififf abla e intangible assets acquired and liabia lities assumed. Goodwill is not amortized. The Company perforff ms its
annual impairment test during the fourff th quarter of each fiff scal year, or more frff equently when warranted by events or
changes in circumstances. The Company has the option to fiff rst perforff m a qualitative assessment of its goodwill to
determine whether it is necessaryrr to perforff m a quantitative impairment test. If the Company concludes it is more
likely than not that its goodwill is impaired, management evaluates the recoverabia lity of goodwill by comparing the
carryirr ng value of the Company’s reporting unit to the faff ir value. An impairment charge is recorded forff the amount
by which the carryirr ng amount exceeds the reporting unit’s faff ir value, with the loss recognized not exceeding the
total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. The Company has one reporting unit. In cases where the
quantitative test is perforff med, the faff ir value of the Company’s reporting unit is estimated by a third party valuation
fiff rm.

TrTT ade NamNN e

The Company’s trade name has an indefiff nite lifeff . The Company perforff ms its annual impairment test during
the fourff th quarter of each fiff scal year, or more frff equently when warranted by events or changes in circumstances.
The Company also has the option to fiff rst perforff m a qualitative assessment of its trade name to determine whether it
is necessaryrr to perforff m a quantitative impairment test. In cases where the quantitative test is perforff med, the faff ir
value of the Company’s trade name is estimated by a third party valuation fiff rm. Signififf cant assumptions inherent in
the valuation methodologies employed by the third party valuation fiff rm could include, but are not limited to,
prospective fiff nancial inforff mation, growth rates, discount rates and comparabla e multiples frff om publicly traded
companies in similar industries. An impairment charge is recorded forff the amount by which the carryirr ng amount of
the trade name exceeds its faff ir value.

Joinii t VeVV ntures,s Equitii ytt MeMM thtt od InII vestmtt entstt ,s and VarVV iablell InII tett rest Entitt tii itt es

Investments forff which the Company exercises signififf cant inflff uence but does not have control are accounted
forff under the equity method. Equity method investment activity is primarily related to a 50% joint venturt e with
Grupor Gigante, S.A.B. de C.V. (the “Mexico joint venturt e”) to establa ish Petco locations in Mexico. The Company’s
share of the investee’s results is presented as either income or loss frff om equity method investees in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

The equity method of accounting is appla icabla e forff the Mexico joint venturt e as the Company does not own
more than 50% of voting power, but has signififf cant inflff uence over the operation and fiff nancial policies of the
investee. The joint venturt e is not material to the Company’s consolidated fiff nancial statements.

The Mexico joint venturt e purchases certain inventoryrr items and pet care center assets frff om the Company. The
Company also receives royalties frff om the Mexico joint venturt e forff the use of its trademarks. Revenues generated
frff om these transactions were not material in fiff scal 2022, 2021, and 2020. The cumulative unrealized forff eign
currency adjustment on the translation of the Company’s investment in the joint venturt e and the forff eign currency
translation impact of the royalty receivabla e are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”), net
of tax.

The Company consolidates variabla e interest entities (“VIEs”) where it has been determined that the Company
is the primaryrr benefiff ciaryrr of those entities’ operations. The Company held a 50% investment in a joint venturt e with
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a domestic partner to build and operate veterinaryrr clinics in Petco locations, which were previously accounted forff
under the equity method. In March 2019, the Company entered into an amended agreement governing the joint
venturt e’s operations and determined that the Company had the power to direct the activities most important to the
VIE. As a result, the joint venturt e was a VIE forff which the Company was the primaryrr benefiff ciary.rr Under the
amended agreement, the domestic partner provided certain management and support services to the joint venturt e.
These services included administrative, fiff nancial reporting, compliance, and technology support services in
connection with the operation and growth of the joint venturt e. As compensation forff these services, the joint venturt e
paid the domestic partner a quarterly joint venturt e management feff e equal to a portion of clinic revenues, subject to a
minimum fiff xed feff e. The Company incurred and recorded $0.7 million, $2.5 million, and $2.0 million of joint
venturt e management feff es under this agreement in fiff scal 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively, which were included in
selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. In May 2022, the
Company completed the purchase of the remaining 50% of the issued and outstanding membership interests of the
joint venturt e, which is now a wholly owned subsidiaryrr of the Company, forff cash consideration of $35.0 million.
Direct transaction costs related to this purchase were not material.

FaiFF ri ValVV ue MeMM asurementstt

Fair value represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfeff r a liabia lity in an orderly
transaction between market participants on the measurement date. When determining faff ir value, the Company
considers the principal or most advantageous market in which the Company would conduct a transaction, in addition
to the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the related assets or liabia lities, including non-
perforff mance risk.

A three-level hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure faff ir value. The hierarchy
gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets forff identical assets or liabia lities (Level 1
measurements) and the lowest priority to measurements involving signififf cant unobservabla e inputs (Level 3
measurements).

The three levels of the faff ir value hierarchy are as folff lows:

Level 1 — Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets forff identical assets or liabia lities that the
Company has the abia lity to access at the measurement date.

Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observabla e forff the asset or
liabia lity, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 — Unobservabla e inputs forff the asset or liabia lity.

The carryirr ng amounts of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivabla e, trade accounts
payabla e, and accruer d expenses and other current liabia lities appra oximate faff ir value based on the short-term maturt ities
of these instrumr ents.

Refeff r to Notes 7, 9 and 10 forff faff ir value disclosures forff the senior secured term credit faff cilities, derivatives,
and other types of assets and liabia lities measured at faff ir value, respectively.

SeSS lfll -ff I- nII surance Reserves

The Company is self-ff insured forff workers’ compensation, general, auto liabia lity and employee-related health
care benefiff ts, a portion of which is paid by the Company’s employees. Additionally, the Company has insurance
coverage to limit its exposure aba ove a per occurrence retention limit. These insurance policies have stated maximum
coverage limits aftff er which the Company bears the risk of loss. The Company determines the related liabia lities using
a number of faff ctors including historical experience and trends related to claims and payments, inforff mation provided
by the Company’s insurance brokers and actuat ries, an estimate of incurred but not reported claims and industryrr
experience and trends. Estimates of futff urt e claim costs forff workers’ compensation, general, auto liabia lity and
employee-related health care benefiff ts are recorded on an undiscounted basis. All estimates of ultimate loss and loss
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adjustment expense and resulting reserves are subject to inherent variabia lity caused by the naturt e of the insurance
process. The potentially long period of time between the reporting of an occurrence of an incident and the fiff nal
resolution of a claim and the possible effff eff cts of changes in the legal, social and economic environments contribute to
this variabia lity. The Company reports self-ff insurance liabia lities gross of insurance recoveries. As of Januaryrr 28, 2023,
insurance recoveries of $7.0 million and $16.4 million were recorded in other current assets and other long-term
assets, respectively. As of Januaryrr 29, 2022, insurance recoveries of $5.7 million and $15.9 million were recorded in
other current assets and other long-term assets, respectively.

Self-ff insurance reserves are reflff ected in the consolidated balance sheets as folff lows (in thousands):

January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

Current:
Workers’ compensation and employee-related
health care benefiff ts $ 27,175 $ 23,699
General and auto liabia lity reserves 5,678 4,733

$ 32,853 $ 28,432
Non-current:
Workers’ compensation reserve $ 40,336 $ 44,706
General and auto liabia lity reserves 12,444 11,780

$ 52,780 $ 56,486

The current portion and non-current portion of self-ff insurance reserves forff workers’ compensation and
employee-related health care benefiff ts are included in accruer d salaries and employee benefiff ts and other long-term
liabia lities, respectively, in the consolidated balance sheets. The current portion and non-current portion of self-ff
insurance reserves forff general and auto liabia lity costs are included in accruer d expenses and other liabia lities and other
long-term liabia lities, respectively, in the consolidated balance sheets.

Revenue Recognitii itt on

The Company recognizes revenue when control of promised goods or services is transfeff rred to customers, in
an amount that reflff ects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange forff those goods
or services.

See Note 2 forff furff ther discussion on revenue recognition.

CosCC t of SalSS ell s

Cost of sales includes the folff lowing types of expenses:

• Direct costs (net of vendor rebates, allowances and discounts forff products sold) including inbound
frff eight charges;

• Shipping and handling costs associated with sales to customers;

• Freight costs associated with moving merchandise inventories;

• Inventoryrr shrinkage costs and write-downs;

• Payroll costs of pet groomers, trainers, veterinarians and other direct costs of services; and

• Costs associated with operating the Company’s distribution centers including payroll, occupancy costs
and depreciation
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SeSS llll ill nii g, GeG neral and Adminii isii trtt atitt ve ExpeEE nses

Selling, general and administrative expenses include the folff lowing types of expenses:

• Payroll and benefiff t costs of pet care center and corporrr ate employees;

• Occupancy and operating costs of pet care center and corporr ate faff cilities;

• Depreciation and amortization related to pet care center and corporr ate assets;

• Credit card feff es;

• Store pre-opening and remodeling costs;

• Advertising costs; and

• Other selling and administrative costs

Advertitt sii inii g ExpeEE nses

The Company records advertising expense as incurred and classififf es advertising costs within selling, general
and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company’s advertising expenses, net
of cooperative advertising reimbursements, were $203.7 million, $227.9 million, and $168.4 million forff fiff scal 2022,
2021, and 2020, respectively. Vendor cooperative advertising reimbursements reduced total advertising expense by
$10.0 million, $32.5 million, and $25.7 million forff fiff scal 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively.

Leases

The maja ority of the Company’s lease liabia lities are real estate operating leases frff om which pet care center,
corporr ate support, and distribution operations are conducted. The Company also leases equipment, vehicles, and
certain pet care center locations under fiff nance leases. Lease terms generally do not include options to terminate the
lease and only include options to extend the lease, if it is reasonabla y certain that the option will be exercised. For any
lease with an initial term in excess of 12 months, the related lease assets and liabia lities are recognized on the
consolidated balance sheet as an operating or fiff nance lease at the commencement of the lease agreement. Leases
with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the consolidated balance sheet. The Company
recognizes lease expense forff these short-term leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Operating lease assets represent the right to use an underlying asset forff the lease term, and operating lease
liabia lities represent the obligation to make lease payments arising frff om the lease. These assets and liabia lities are
recognized based on the present value of futff urt e payments over the lease term at the commencement date. The
Company uses a collateralized incremental borrowing rate based on the inforff mation availabla e at the commencement
date to determine the present value of futff urt e payments. Operating leases typically require payment of certain non-
lease costs, such as real estate taxes, common area maintenance and insurance. These components comprise the
maja ority of the Company’s variabla e lease costs and are excluded frff om the present value of lease liabia lities unless an
event occurs that results in the payments becoming fiff xed forff the remaining term. The remaining lease and non-lease
components are accounted forff together as a single lease component forff all underlying classes of assets. Operating
lease assets are adjusted forff lease incentives, initial direct costs, impairments, and exit or disposal costs.

Operating lease costs are recognized on a straight-line basis frff om the commencement date to the end of the
lease term. Operating lease costs relating to distribution centers are included in cost of sales, and operating lease
costs relating to pet care center and corporrr ate support locations are included in selling, general and administrative
expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. Amortization on fiff nance lease right-of-ff use assets relating to
distribution centers are included in cost of sales, and amortization on fiff nance lease right-of-ff use assets relating to pet
care center and corporr ate support locations are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the
consolidated statements of operations. Interest on fiff nance lease right-of-ff use assets is included in interest expense in
the consolidated statements of operations. The Company’s lease agreements do not contain any material residual
value guarantees or material restrictive covenants.
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The Company’s sublease portfolff io consists mainly of operating leases with a domestic partner to operate dog
boarding and daycare faff cilities, which are not material.

The Company records contractuat l obligations associated with the retirement of long-lived assets at their faff ir
value at the time the obligations are incurred. These obligations arise frff om certain leases and primarily relate to the
cost of removing leasehold improvements and certain fiff xturt es frff om such lease sites and restoring the sites to their
original condition. Upon initial recognition of the liabia lity, that cost is capia talized as part of the related long-lived
asset and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated usefulff lifeff of the asset. Activity related to these
obligations in fiff scal 2022, 2021, and 2020 was not material. The Company’s asset retirement obligation was $6.2
million and $6.9 million at Januaryrr 28, 2023 and Januaryrr 29, 2022, respectively, and is included in other long-term
liabia lities in the consolidated balance sheets.

InII come TaxeTT s

Defeff rred tax assets and liabia lities are recognized forff the futff urt e tax consequences attributabla e to diffff eff rences
between the fiff nancial statement carryirr ng amounts of existing assets and liabia lities and their respective tax bases and
operating loss and tax credit carryfrr orff wards. Defeff rred tax assets and liabia lities are measured using enacted tax rates
expected to appla y to taxabla e income in the years in which those temporaryrr diffff eff rences are expected to be recovered
or settled. The effff eff ct on defeff rred tax assets and liabia lities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the consolidated
statements of operations in the period that includes the enactment date. Valuation allowances, if any, are recorded
against net defeff rred tax assets when it is considered more likely than not that some portion or all of a defeff rred tax
asset may not be recoverabla e. Defeff rred tax assets and liabia lities are recorded as either net non-current assets or net
non-current liabia lities on the consolidated balance sheets. Refeff r to Note 13 forff furff ther disclosures of the Company’s
income taxes.

Management regularly evaluates the likelihood of recognizing the benefiff t forff income tax positions it has taken
in various feff deral and state fiff lings by considering relevant faff cts, circumstances and inforff mation availabla e. The
authoritative guidance clarififf es the accounting forff income taxes by prescribing a minimum probabia lity threshold that
a tax position must meet beforff e a fiff nancial statement benefiff t is recognized. The minimum threshold forff recognizing
benefiff t of a tax position is that such position is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by the taxing
authority, including resolution of any related appea als or litigation processes, and is based on the technical merits of
the position.

Equitii ytt -B- ased ComCC pem nsatitt on

Equity-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date, based on the estimated faff ir value of the award,
and is recognized as expense over the vesting period of the award, which is also the requisite service period, based
upon the corresponding vesting method and probabia lity of vesting (Note 12). The Company recognizes the effff eff ct of
pre-vesting forff feff iturt es as they occur.

Equitii ytt ValVV uatitt on

The per unit faff ir value of equity underlying the partnership unit awards prior to the Company’s initial public
offff eff ring was determined by the Company’s board of directors based on enterprr ise valuations perforff med by
management with the assistance of a third-party valuation fiff rm, taking into consideration any recent market
transactions involving the Company’s equity. The valuation of the equity of any private company involves various
estimates and assumptions that may diffff eff r frff om actuat l values.

For a portion of fiff scal 2020, the Company’s equity value was determined using a combination of two
valuation appra oaches:

Income Approach – estimates the faff ir value based on the present value of the Company’s futff urt e estimated
cash flff ows and the residual value of the Company beyond the forff ecast period. These futff urt e cash flff ows,
including the cash flff ows beyond the forff ecast period forff the residual value, are discounted to their present
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values using an appra opriate discount rate, to reflff ect the risks inherent in the Company achieving these
estimated cash flff ows.

Market Approach (specififf cally, the guideline public company method) – estimates faff ir value based upon the
observed valuation multiples of comparabla e public companies, the equity of which is frff eely-traded by
investors in the public securities markets.

Beginning in the third quarter of fiff scal 2020 and prior to its initial public offff eff ring, the Company determined
its equity value using the probabia lity weighted expected returt n method (“PWERM”), or the hybrid method. Under
the hybrid method, multiple valuation appra oaches are used and then combined into a single probabia lity weighted
valuation using a PWERM, which considers the probabia lity of an initial public offff eff ring scenario.

The results of the valuation appra oaches were weighted based on a variety of faff ctors including: current
macroeconomic environment, current industryrr conditions and length of time since arms-length market transaction
events. Additionally, a discount forff lack of marketabia lity was appla ied to account forff the lack of access to an active
public market. The resulting value was then allocated to outstanding equity using an option-pricing model.

Derivatitt ve InII strtt umentstt

In March 2016, the Company entered into a series of fiff ve interest rate capa agreements with fourff counterpar rties
totaling $1,950.0 million to limit the maximum interest rate on a portion of the Company’s variabla e-rate debt and
limit its exposure to interest rate variabia lity when three-month LIBOR exceeds 2.25%. The interest rate capsa are
accounted forff as cash flff ow hedges, and changes in the faff ir value of the interest rate capsa are reported as a component
of AOCI. The interest rate capsa were settled in accordance with their contractuat l terms on Januaryrr 29, 2021.

In November 2022, the Company entered into a series of interest rate capa agreements to limit the maximum
interest on a portion of the Company’s variabla e-rate debt and decrease its exposure to interest rate variabia lity when
the three-month Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR") as published by CME Group exceeds 4.5%. The
interest rate capsa are accounted forff as cash flff ow hedges, and changes in the faff ir value of the interest rate capsa are
reported as a component of AOCI.

Refeff r to Note 9 forff furff ther disclosures of the Company’s derivative instrumrr ents and hedging activities.

Recent Accountitt nii g PrPP onouncementstt

In March 2020, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2020-04 – Refeff rence Rate Reforff m (Topic
848): Facilitation of the Effff eff cts of Refeff rence Rate Reforff m on Financial Reporting, which provides optional
expedients and exceptions forff appla ying GAAP to contract modififf cations, hedging relationships, and other
transactions affff eff cted by the anticipated transition frff om LIBOR. As a result of the refeff rence rate reforff m initiative,
certain widely used refeff rence rates such as LIBOR are expected to be discontinued. The guidance is designed to
simplifyff how entities account forff contracts, such as receivabla es, debt, leases, derivative instrumrr ents and hedging,
that are modififf ed to replace LIBOR or other benchmark interest rates with new rates. The Company adopted this
accounting policy in December 2022. The adoption did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated
fiff nancial statements and related disclosures. Refeff r to Note 7 forff additional inforff mation.

2. Revenue Recognition

The Company generates revenue primarily frff om the sale of products and services. Revenue is recognized
when the control of promised goods or services is transfeff rred to customers, in an amount that reflff ects the
consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange forff those goods or services. Control refeff rs
to the abia lity of the customer to direct the use of,ff and obtain substantially all of,ff the remaining benefiff ts frff om the
goods or services.
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Net sales by product type and services were as folff lows (in thousands):

Fiscal years ended
January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

January 30,
2021

(52 weeks) (52 weeks) (52 weeks)
Consumabla es $ 2,859,602 $ 2,533,755 $ 2,123,499
Supplies and companion animals 2,370,913 2,603,104 2,328,663
Services and other 805,452 670,290 468,040
Net sales $ 6,035,967 $ 5,807,149 $ 4,920,202

For all contracts with customers, the Company evaluates whether it is the principal (i.e. to report revenue on a
gross basis) or agent (i.e. to report revenue on a net basis). Generally, the Company is the principal in its contracts
with customers as it controls the related goods or services beforff e they are transfeff rred to the customer.

Revenue frff om product sales and services is reported net of sales refundsff , which includes an estimate of futff urt e
returt ns based on historical refundff rates, with a corresponding reduction to cost of sales. The Company records a
refundff liabia lity forff sales returt ns, which is included in accruerr d expenses and other liabia lities, and a corresponding
asset forff anticipated cost recoveries, which is included in other current assets. The Company’s refundff liabia lity and
expected cost recoveries were not material as of Januaryrr 28, 2023 and Januaryrr 29, 2022. There is inherent judgment
in estimating futff urt e refundsff as they are susceptible to faff ctors outside of the Company’s inflff uence. The Company has
signififf cant experience in estimating the amount of refundsff based primarily on historical data.

Revenue is recognized net of apa plicabla e sales tax in the consolidated statements of operations. Sales tax
liabia lity is included in accruer d expenses and other liabia lities in the consolidated balance sheets.

The Company’s contract liabia lities primarily relate to product merchandise not yet delivered to customers,
unredeemed giftff cards, services not yet completed, and options that provide a material right to customers, such as its
customer loyalty program. Substantially all of the Company’s remaining perforff mance obligations have an original
expected duration of one year or less. The Company did not have any material contract assets as of Januaryrr 28, 2023
and Januaryrr 29, 2022.

PrPP oduct Revenue

Product revenue is recognized when control passes, which generally occurs at a point in time when the
customer completes a transaction in a pet care center and receives the merchandise. The Company’s payment terms
are typically at the point of sale.

For transactions initiated online, customers choose whether to have it delivered to them (using third-party
parcel deliveryrr companies) or to collect their merchandise frff om one of the Company’s pet care centers (“buy online,
pick up in store,” or “BOPUS”). For items delivered directly to the customer, control passes and revenue is
recognized when deliveryrr has been completed to the customer, as title has passed and possession has transfeff rred to
the customer. For BOPUS sales, control passes and revenue is recognized once the customer has taken possession of
the merchandise. Any feff es charged to customers forff deliveryrr (such as shipping and handling) are a component of the
transaction price and are recognized when deliveryrr has been completed. The Company uses deliveryrr inforff mation to
determine when to recognize revenue forff products and any related deliveryrr feff e revenue.

SeSS rvice Revenue

The Company recognizes service revenue frff om pet grooming, veterinaryrr care, and certain other in-store
services once the service is completed, as this is when the customer has the abia lity to direct the use of and obtain the
benefiff ts of the service. Payment terms are typically at the point of sale, but may also occur upon completion of the
service. The Company’s service contracts are primarily with retail and veterinaryrr customers.
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The Company recognizes service revenue frff om dog training ratabla y over the lifeff of the contract, as this pattern
best depicts when customers use the services provided and, accordingly, when deliveryrr of the perforff mance
obligation occurs.

GiGG fi tff CarCC ds

The Company sells its own giftff cards to customers in its pet care centers, online, and through select third
parties. The Company recognizes revenue frff om giftff cards when giftff cards are redeemed by the customer. The
Company also recognizes revenue forff the portion of giftff card values that is not expected to be redeemed
(“breakage”). Breakage is estimated based upon historical redemption patterns and other faff ctors, such as laws and
regulations appla icabla e to each jurisdiction. There is judgment in assessing redemption patterns and the ultimate
value of giftff cards that is not expected to be redeemed.

SalSS ell s InII centitt ves and CuCC stomtt er Loyaltll ytt PrPP ogram

The Company has a customer loyalty program that allows members to earn points forff each qualifyiff ng
purchase. Points earned enabla e members to receive a certififf cate that may be redeemed on futff urt e purchases generally
within 45 days of the issuance date. The loyalty program points represent customer options that provide a material
right and, accordingly, are perforff mance obligations forff each appla icabla e contract. The relative standalone selling
price of points earned by loyalty program members is defeff rred and included as part of accruer d expenses and other
liabia lities in the consolidated balance sheets based on the amount of points that are projected to be redeemed, subject
to breakage. The Company’s contract liabia lities forff its customer loyalty program were not material as of Januaryrr 28,
2023 and Januaryrr 29, 2022. Revenue is recognized forff these perforff mance obligations as actuat l redemptions occur
and the Company updates its estimate of the amount of points that are projected to be redeemed. There is judgment
in assessing redemption patterns and the ultimate value of points that is not expected to be redeemed.

The Company issues coupons that are not earned in conjunction with a purchase of a product or service,
typically as part of targeted marketing activities. Additionally, the Company issues coupons in conjunction with the
purchase of products or services. However, these coupons typically do not materially exceed the range of discounts
given to similar customers and do not confeff r a material right. In both of these cases, these are not perforff mance
obligations and are instead recognized as a reduction of the transaction price when redeemed by the customer.

The Company sells annual membership plans that include access to benefiff ts such as vet exams, percentage
discounts on certain products and services and additional loyalty program points. The Company allocates the
transaction price to all perforff mance obligations identififf ed in the contract based on their relative faff ir values.
Perforff mance obligations provided over the term of the contract are recognized as revenue on a usage basis. This
involves the estimation of expected usage patterns, primarily derived frff om historical inforff mation. When insuffff iff cient
historyrr is availabla e to estimate usage, the Company recognizes revenue ratabla y over the lifeff of the contract.

3. Other Acquisitions

During fiff scal 2022 and 2021, the Company completed acquisitions of small, regional veterinaryrr businesses forff
total consideration of appra oximately $9.9 million and $5.5 million, respectively. Noncash consideration was not
material. Net tangible and identififf abla e intangible assets acquired and liabia lities assumed were not material. The
acquisitions resulted in the recognition of $9.9 million and $4.7 million of goodwill, respectively. The tax-deductible
portion of goodwill in these acquisitions was $9.9 million and $2.4 million, respectively.

Pro forff ma results of operations forff the acquisitions have not been presented because they are not material to
the consolidated results of operations.
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4. Composition of Balance Sheet Accounts

FiFF xeii d Assetstt ,s NeNN t

Fixed assets, net, consisted of the folff lowing (in thousands):

January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

Equipment $ 885,370 $ 772,454
Leasehold improvements 686,888 623,201
Furniturt e and fiff xturt es 398,187 329,823
Buildings and related improvements 16,696 16,959
Land 418 3,254

1,987,559 1,745,691
Less accumulated depreciation (1,184,232) (1,018,769)

$ 803,327 $ 726,922

The Company’s depreciation and amortization expense forff fiff xed assets, net was $193.9 million, $171.1
million, and $174.0 million forff fiff scal 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Accrued SalSS arll ies and EmEE plm oyll ee Benefe iff tii stt

Accruerr d salaries and employee benefiff ts consisted of the folff lowing (in thousands):

January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

Accruer d compensation and related taxes $ 44,724 $ 110,347
Self-ff insurance reserves 27,175 23,699
Accruer d paid time-offff 18,030 16,584

$ 89,929 $ 150,630

Accrued ExpeEE nses and Othtt er Liabilii ill tii itt es

Accruerr d expenses and other liabia lities consisted of the folff lowing (in thousands):

January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

Accruer d capia tal expenditurt es $ 29,051 $ 36,935
Accruer d real estate taxes 26,485 26,662
Accruer d advertising 24,020 15,192
Defeff rred revenue 23,045 18,003
Sales taxes payabla e 22,950 19,950
Other accruer d expenses and liaba ilities 92,005 94,130

$ 217,556 $ 210,872

Othtt er Long-TeTT rmrr Liabilii ill tii itt es

Other long-term liabia lities consisted of the folff lowing (in thousands):

January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

Self-ff insurance reserves $ 52,780 $ 56,486
Finance leases 23,642 25,052
Other liabia lities 54,065 52,567

$ 130,487 $ 134,105
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5. Leases

Lease assets and liabia lities are reflff ected in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets as folff lows (in
thousands):

Leases
Balance sheet
location

January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

Assets
Operating leases Operating lease right-of-ff use assets $ 1,397,761 $ 1,338,465
Finance leases Fixed assets, net(1) 24,624 24,500

Total lease assets $ 1,422,385 $ 1,362,965
Liabilities
Current
Operating leases Current portion of operating lease liabia lities $ 309,766 $ 265,897
Finance leases Current portion of long-term debt and other

lease liabia lities 5,794 4,764
Non-current
Operating leases Operating lease liabia lities, excluding

current portion 1,148,155 1,096,133
Finance leases Other long-term liabia lities 23,642 25,052

Total lease liabia lities $ 1,487,357 $ 1,391,846

(1) Finance lease right-of-ff use assets are recorded net of accumulated amortization of $24.6 million and $19.7 million as of Januaryrr 28, 2023
and Januaryrr 29, 2022, respectively.

The components of total lease cost are as folff lows (in thousands):

Fiscal years ended
January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

January 30,
2021

Operating lease cost $ 422,792 $ 422,465 $ 430,359
Finance lease cost:
Amortization of right-of-ff use lease assets 5,660 3,933 3,292
Interest on lease liabia lities 1,329 876 908

Variabla e lease cost 110,335 109,723 105,859
Sublease income (2,810) (5,091) (5,327)
Total lease cost $ 537,306 $ 531,906 $ 535,091

Other inforff mation forff the Company’s leases is as folff lows (in thousands):

Fiscal years ended
January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

January 30,
2021

Cash paid forff amounts included in the measurement
of lease liabia lities:
Operating cash flff ows frff om operating leases $ 386,259 $ 418,210 $ 399,557
Operating cash flff ows frff om fiff nance leases $ 1,349 $ 850 $ 941
Financing cash flff ows frff om fiff nance leases $ 5,083 $ 3,564 $ 3,404

Lease assets obtained in exchange forff lease
liabia lities:
Operating leases $ 363,311 $ 308,166 $ 132,829
Finance leases $ 4,784 $ 19,841 $ 613
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January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

Weighted average remaining lease term:
Operating leases 6.0 years 6.0 years
Finance leases 3.2 years 3.6 years

Weighted average discount rate:
Operating leases 8.4% 9.2%
Finance leases 4.7% 4.6%

At Januaryrr 28, 2023, the maturt ities of the Company’s operating and fiff nance lease liabia lities were as folff lows
(in thousands):

Fiscal years
Operating
leases

Finance
leases

2023 414,773 7,029
2024 355,630 16,726
2025 292,014 3,734
2026 234,248 2,161
2027 164,643 1,182
Thereaftff er 380,655 1,569
Total lease payments $ 1,841,963 $ 32,401
Less imputed interest (384,042) (2,965)
Present value of lease payments 1,457,921 29,436
Less current portion (309,766) (5,794)
Lease liabia lities, excluding current portion $ 1,148,155 $ 23,642

6. Goodwill

The changes in the carryirr ng amount of the Company’s goodwill were as folff lows (in thousands):

January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

Beginning balance:
Goodwill $ 2,991,954 $ 2,987,273
Accumulated impairment (807,963) (807,963)
Goodwill, net $ 2,183,991 $ 2,179,310

Additions frff om acquisitions $ 9,950 $ 4,681
Ending balance:
Goodwill $ 3,001,904 $ 2,991,954
Accumulated impairment (807,963) (807,963)
Goodwill, net $ 2,193,941 $ 2,183,991

Refeff r to Note 10 forff furff ther discussion of the results of impairment testing perforff med on the Company’s
goodwill.

7. Senior Secured Credit Facilities

The Company previously had a senior secured term loan faff cility (the “Amended Term Loan Facility”), which
was fulff ly repaid on March 4, 2021, and a senior secured asset-based revolving credit faff cility (the “Amended
Revolving Credit Facility”), which was terminated on March 4, 2021. On March 4, 2021, the Company entered into
a $1,700.0 million secured term loan faff cility maturt ing on March 4, 2028 (the “First Lien Term Loan”) and a secured
asset-based revolving credit faff cility with availabia lity of up to $500.0 million, subject to a borrowing base, maturt ing
on March 4, 2026 (the “ABL Revolving Credit Facility”).
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The Company’s obligations under the First Lien Term Loan and ABL Revolving Credit Facility are secured
by substantially all of the personal property assets of the Company with diffff eff ring priority rights to the various
personal property assets ascribed to each faff cility. The credit faff cility agreements, while not identical, contain certain
affff iff rmative and negative covenants related to indebtedness, liens, fundaff mental changes in the business, investments,
restricted payments and agreements and a fiff xed charge coverage ratio, among other things. As of Januaryrr 28, 2023,
the Company was in compliance with its covenants on the agreements.

The credit agreements governing the First Lien Term Loan and ABL Revolving Credit Facility contain
customaryrr defaff ult provisions including, among others, the faff ilure to make payments when due, defaff ults under other
material indebtedness, non-compliance with covenants, change of control and bankruptr cy, the occurrence of any of
which would limit the Company’s abia lity to draw on the ABL Revolving Credit Facility and could result in the
appla icabla e lenders under the First Lien Term Loan and ABL Revolving Credit Facility accelerating the maturt ity of
such indebtedness and forff eclosing upon the collateral pledged thereunder.

TeTT rmrr Loan FacFF ilii ill tii itt es

On Januaryrr 19, 2021, the Company repaid $727.0 million of the Amended Term Loan Facility using a portion
of the proceeds frff om its initial public offff eff ring, in addition to existing cash on hand. The Company accounted forff the
repayment as a partial extinguishment and recognized a loss on debt extinguishment of $12.6 million, which
represents a portion of previously unamortized debt discount and debt issuance costs and is included in the
accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

On March 4, 2021, the Company entered into the $1,700.0 million First Lien Term Loan and repaid all
outstanding principal and interest on the Amended Term Loan Facility. The Company recognized a loss on debt
extinguishment and modififf cation of $19.6 million on the term loan faff cilities, which consisted of a $6.5 million
write-offff of unamortized debt discount and issuance costs on the Amended Term Loan Facility and $13.1 million of
third-party expenses.

Fees relating to the Company’s entryrr into the First Lien Term Loan consisted of arranger feff es and other third-
party expenses. Of those feff es, $3.2 million was capia talized as debt issuance costs, along with $4.3 million of original
issue discount. The remaining portion of original issue discount and debt issuance costs of the Amended Term Loan
Facility previously capia talized is being amortized over the contractuat l term of the First Lien Term Loan to interest
expense using the effff eff ctive interest rate in effff eff ct on the date of issuance, as these amounts represent the portion that
was not substantially modififf ed.

On December 12, 2022, the Company amended the First Lien Term Loan to replace the LIBOR-based rate
with a SOFR-based rate as the interest rate benchmark. Interest on the First Lien Term Loan is based on, at the
Company’s option, either a base rate or Adjusted Term SOFR, subject to a 0.75% flff oor, payabla e upon maturt ity of
the SOFR contract, in either case plus the appla icabla e rate. The base rate is the greater of the bank prime rate, feff deral
fundsff effff eff ctive rate plus 0.5% or Adjusted Term SOFR plus 1.0%. The appla icabla e rate is 2.25% per annum forff a
base rate loan or 3.25% per annum forff an Adjusted Term SOFR loan. Principal and interest payments commenced
on June 30, 2021. Principal payments are $4.25 million quarterly. In March 2023, the Company repaid $35.0 million
on the First Lien Term Loan using existing cash on hand. The repayment was appla ied to remaining principal
payments in order of scheduled payment date.

As of Januaryrr 28, 2023, the outstanding principal balance of the First Lien Term Loan was $1,670.3 million
($1,648.9 million, net of the unamortized discount and debt issuance costs). As of Januaryrr 29, 2022, the outstanding
principal balance of the First Lien Term Loan was $1,687.3 million ($1,662.1 million, net of the unamortized
discount and debt issuance costs). The weighted average interest rate on the borrowings outstanding was 8.2% and
4.1% as of Januaryrr 28, 2023 and Januaryrr 29, 2022, respectively. Debt issuance costs are being amortized over the
contractuat l term to interest expense using the effff eff ctive interest rate in effff eff ct at issuance. As of Januaryrr 28, 2023 and
Januaryrr 29, 2022, the estimated faff ir value of the First Lien Term Loan was appra oximately $1,649.4 million and
$1,687.3, respectively, based upon Level 2 faff ir value hierarchy inputs (Note 1).
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Revolvll inii g CrCC editii FacFF ilii ill tii itt es

On March 4, 2021, the Company entered into an agreement establa ishing the ABL Revolving Credit Facility
and terminated the Amended Revolving Credit Facility. The ABL Revolving Credit Facility has availabia lity up to
$500.0 million, subject to a borrowing base.

Fees relating to the Company’s entryrr into the ABL Revolving Credit Facility consisted of arranger feff es and
other third-party expenses. Of those feff es, $4.1 million was capia talized as debt issuance costs. Unamortized debt
issuance costs of $1.2 million were written offff and recognized as a loss on debt extinguishment and modififf cation in
connection with this transaction. The remaining portion of debt issuance costs of the Amended Revolving Credit
Facility previously capia talized is being amortized over the contractuat l term of the ABL Revolving Credit Facility as
these amounts represent the portion that was not substantially modififf ed.

As of Januaryrr 28, 2023 and Januaryrr 29, 2022, no amounts were outstanding under the ABL Revolving Credit
Facility. At Januaryrr 28, 2023, $443.9 million was availabla e under the ABL Revolving Credit Facility, which is net
of $56.1 million of outstanding letters of credit issued in the normal course of business and no borrowing base
reduction forff a shortfaff ll in qualifyiff ng assets. Unamortized debt issuance costs of $3.6 million and $4.7 million
relating to the ABL Revolving Credit Facility were outstanding and were being amortized using the straight-line
method over the remaining term of the agreement as of Januaryrr 28, 2023 and Januaryrr 29, 2022, respectively.

The ABL Revolving Credit Facility has availabia lity up to $500.0 million and a $150.0 million letter of credit
sub-faff cility. The availabia lity is limited to a borrowing base, which allows borrowings of up to 90% of eligible
accounts receivabla e plus 90% of the net orderly liquidation value of eligible inventoryrr plus upu to $50.0 million of
qualififf ed cash of the Company to which the Company and guarantors have no access, less reserves as determined by
the administrative agent. Letters of credit reduce the amount availabla e to borrow under the ABL Revolving Credit
Facility by their faff ce value.

On December 12, 2022, the Company amended the ABL Revolving Credit Facility to replace the LIBOR-
based rate with a SOFR-based rate as the interest rate benchmark. Interest on the ABL Revolving Credit Facility is
based on, at the Company’s option, either the base rate or Adjusted Term SOFR subject to a flff oor of 0%, in either
case, plus an appla icabla e margin. The appla icabla e margin is currently equal to 25 basis points in the case of base rate
loans and 125 basis points in the case of Adjusted Term SOFR loans.

The appla icabla e margin is adjusted quarterly based on the average historical excess availabia lity as a percentage
of the Line Cap,a which represents the lesser of the aggregate ABL Revolving Credit Facility and the borrowing base,
as folff lows:

Average Historical Excess Availability

Applicable
Margin forff

Adjd usted Term
SOFR Loans

Applicable
Margin

forff Base Rate
Loans

Less than 33.3% of the Line Capa 1.75% 0.75%
Less than 66.7% but greater than or equal to 33.3% of
the Line Capa 1.50% 0.50%
Greater than or equal to 66.7% of the Line Capa 1.25% 0.25%

The ABL Revolving Credit Facility is subject to an unused commitment feff e. If the actuat l daily utilized portion
exceeds 50%, the unused commitment feff e is 0.25%. Otherwise, the unused commitment feff e is 0.375% and is not
dependent upon excess availabia lity.



87

8. Senior Notes

FlFF oatll itt nii g Ratett SeSS nior NotNN ett s

On Januaryrr 26, 2016, the Company issued $750.0 million of unsecured senior notes in a private offff eff ring (the
“Floating Rate Senior Notes”). In Januaryrr 2021, the holders of the outstanding Floating Rate Senior Notes
exchanged $450.0 million of the aggregate principal amount of the Floating Rate Senior Notes forff a new series of
notes with a principal amount of $450.0 million issued by Scooby Aggregator, LP. Scooby Aggregator, LP, as the
new holder of $450.0 million of Floating Rate Senior Notes, contributed the principal balance to the Company. This
contribution, offff sff et by appra oximately $7.4 million of unamortized defeff rred fiff nancing costs associated with the
principal balance contributed, was recorded as an adjustment to additional paid-in capia tal.

On Januaryrr 19, 2021, the Company repaid the remaining $300.0 million principal balance of the Floating Rate
Senior Notes using a portion of the proceeds frff om its initial public offff eff ring, in addition to existing cash on hand. The
Company accounted forff the repayment as an extinguishment of debt and recognized a loss on debt extinguishment
of $4.9 million, which represents a write-offff of the remaining unamortized debt issuance costs and is included in the
accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

3.00% SeSS nior NotNN ett s

On Januaryrr 26, 2016, the Company issued senior unsecured notes in a private offff eff ring to its members, which
were last amended on September 28, 2020 to extend their maturt ity to Januaryrr 25, 2023 (the “3.00% Senior Notes”).

On Januaryrr 19, 2021, the Company repaid $4.0 million of the principal balance of the 3.00% Senior Notes.
The remaining $127.7 million of principal and $3.6 million of accruerr d interest was then contributed to the Company
in connection with its initial public offff eff ring. This contribution was recorded as an adjustment to additional paid-in-
capia tal.

9. Derivative Instruments

In March 2016, the Company entered into a series of fiff ve interest rate capa agreements with fourff counterpar rties
with a total notional value of $1,950.0 million to limit the maximum interest rate on a portion of the Company’s
variabla e-rate debt and limit its exposure to interest rate variabia lity when three-month LIBOR exceeds 2.25%. The
interest rate capsa expired and were settled in accordance with their contractuat l terms on Januaryrr 29, 2021. The
interest rate capsa were accounted forff as cash flff ow hedges because the interest rate capsa were expected to be highly
effff eff ctive in hedging variabla e rate interest payments. Changes in the faff ir value of the interest rate capsa were reported
as a component of AOCI. There were no amounts remaining in AOCI relating to the interest rate capsa as of Januaryrr
29, 2022. Approximately $10.8 million of pre-tax losses defeff rred in AOCI were reclassififf ed to interest expense
during fiff scal 2020.

In November 2022, the Company entered into a series of interest rate capa agreements to limit the maximum
interest on a portion of the Company’s variabla e-rate debt and decrease its exposure to interest rate variabia lity when
three-month SOFR as published by CME Group exceeds 4.5%. The interest rate capsa became effff eff ctive December
30, 2022 and expire on December 31, 2024.

Interest rate capsa are reflff ected in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets as folff lows (in thousands):

Liabilities Balance sheet location
January 28,
2023

Current liabia lity portion of interest rate capsa Accruer d expenses and other liabia lities $ 1,176
Non-current liabia lity portion of interest rate capsa Other long-term liabia lities 1,717
Total interest rate capsa $ 2,893

Although the Company is exposed to credit loss in the event of nonperforff mance by its counterpar rties, credit
risk is considered limited due to the credit ratings of the counterparr rties and the use of a master netting agreement,
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which permits the netting of derivative payabla es and receivabla es. The Company has not historically incurred, and
does not expect to incur in the fuff turt e any losses as a result of counterpar rty defaff ult. The notional amount of the
Company’s outstanding derivatives is not an indicator of the magnitudet of potential exposure.

The interest rate capa agreements contain provisions that would be triggered in the event the Company defaff ults
on its debt agreements (Note 7), which in turt n could impact the assessment of hedge effff eff ctiveness or cause
termination of the underlying capa agreements. As of Januaryrr 28, 2023, no events of defaff ult have occurred. There is
no collateral posting requirement outside the provisions in the debt agreements.

The interest rate capsa are accounted forff as cash flff ow hedges because the interest rate capsa are expected to be
highly effff eff ctive in hedging variabla e rate interest payments. Changes in the faff ir value of the interest rate capsa are
reported as a component of AOCI. As of Januaryrr 28, 2023, AOCI included unrealized losses of $2.7 million ($2.1
million, net of tax). Approximately $0.2 million of pre-tax losses defeff rred in AOCI were reclassififf ed to interest
expense during fiff scal 2022. The Company currently estimates that $2.5 million of losses related to trade date costs
on its interest rate capsa that are currently defeff rred in AOCI will be reclassififf ed to interest expense in the
consolidated statement of operations within the next twelve months. This estimate could varyrr based on actuat l
amounts as a result of changes in market conditions.

10. Fair Value Measurements

Assetstt and Liabilii ill tii itt es MeMM asured on a Recurrinii g Basisii

The folff lowing tabla e presents infoff rmation abouta assets and liabia lities that are measured at faff ir value on a
recurring basis and indicate the faff ir value hierarchy of the valuation techniques utilized to determine such faff ir value
(in thousands):

January 28, 2023
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets (liabia lities):
Money market mutuat l fundsff $ 156,626 $ — $ —
Investments of offff iff cers' lifeff insurance $ — $ 13,112 $ —
Non-qualififf ed defeff rred compensation plan $ — $ (18,464) $ —
Investment in Rover Group, Inc. $ 20,152 $ — $ —

January 29, 2022
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets (liabia lities):
Money market mutuat l fundsff $ 167,277 $ — $ —
Investments of offff iff cers' lifeff insurance $ — $ 14,575 $ —
Non-qualififf ed defeff rred compensation plan $ — $ (17,453) $ —
Investment in Rover Group, Inc. $ 32,819 $ — $ —

The faff ir value of money market mutuat l fundsff is based on quoted market prices, such as quoted net asset
values published by the fundff as supported in an active market. Money market mutuat l fundsff included in the
Company’s cash and cash equivalents were $145.5 million and $158.0 million as of Januaryrr 28, 2023 and Januaryrr
29, 2022, respectively. Also included in the Company’s money market mutuat l fundsff balances were $11.1 million
and $9.3 million as of Januaryrr 28, 2023 and Januaryrr 29, 2022, respectively, which relate to the Company’s restricted
cash, and are included in other current assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

The Company maintains a defeff rred compensation plan forff key executives and other members of management,
which is fundeff d by investments in offff iff cers’ lifeff insurance. The faff ir value of this obligation is based on participants’
elected investments, which reflff ect the closing market prices of similar assets.

The Company previously held an equity investment, in the forff m of multiple series of prefeff rred stock, in A
Place forff Rover, Inc., an online marketplt ace forff pet care, which was historically accounted forff as an equity security
without a readily determinabla e faff ir value. In July 2021, A Place forff Rover, Inc. completed a business combination
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with Nebula Caravel Acquisition Corp.,rr a publicly-traded special purposr e acquisition company. The combined entity
was renamed to Rover Group, Inc. (“Rover”), and the Company’s equity investment was converted into shares of
Rover Class A common stock. In September 2021, the Company received additional shares of Rover Class A
common stock in accordance with certain earnout provisions frff om the July 2021 business combination. The
Company now remeasures the faff ir value of its investment on a quarterly basis, and the resulting gains or losses are
included in other non-operating income in the consolidated statements of operations. On November 23, 2021, the
Company completed the sale of appra oximately 11% of its Rover Class A common stock forff net proceeds of $6.1
million in cash as part of its participation in an underwritten secondaryrr offff eff ring by certain Rover shareholders.

In Februar ryrr 2022, the Company amended a collabora ation agreement with a vendor, and as part of the
amendment the Company was granted a right to receive equity and warrants forff common shares of the vendor that is
subject to certain perforff mance conditions and other contingencies. The Company evaluated the agreement under
FASB ASC 705-20, Consideration Received frff om a Vendor, and no material consideration was recognized during
the fiff scal year ended Januaryrr 28, 2023.

Assetstt MeMM asured on a NonNN -R- ecurrinii g Basisii

The Company’s non-fiff nancial assets, which primarily consist of goodwill, other intangible assets, fiff xed assets
and equity and other investments, are reported at carryirr ng value, or at faff ir value as of the date of the Company’s
acquisition of Petco Holdings, Inc. LLC on Januaryrr 26, 2016, and are not required to be measured at faff ir value on a
recurring basis. However, on a periodic basis (at least annually forff goodwill and indefiff nite-lived intangibles or
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carryirr ng value of an asset may not be recoverabla e),
non-fiff nancial assets are assessed forff impairment. If impaired, the carryirr ng values of the assets are written down to
faff ir value using Level 3 inputs.

In fiff scal 2022, 2021, and 2020, the Company determined that the faff ir value of its reporting unit was greater
than its carryirr ng amount, and thereforff e no goodwill impairment charge was recorded (Note 6). In fiff scal 2022, 2021,
and 2020, the Company determined that the faff ir value of its trade name was greater than its carryirr ng amount, and
thereforff e no tradename impairment charge was recorded. There were no indications of impairment of the
Company’s other intangible assets or equity and other investments in fiff scal 2022, 2021, and 2020.

The Company recorded fiff xed asset and right-of-ff use asset impairment charges of $2.2 million, $10.4 million
$14.5 million in fiff scal years 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively. Impairment charges are primarily related to pet care
center locations and are recorded in selling, general and administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations.

11. Employee Benefiff t Plans

The Company has employee savings plans that permits eligible participants to make contributions by salaryrr
reduction pursuant to either section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code or under the Company’s non-qualififf ed
defeff rred compensation plan.

The Company generally matches 100% of the fiff rst 1% plus 50% of the next 5% of compensation contributed
by each participating employee to the 401(k) plan. For eligible participants that hold positions as director and abovea ,
the Company matches, at its discretion, 100% of the fiff rst 1% plus 50% of the next 2% of compensation that is
contributed by each participating employee to the plan. The Company match is subject to a 3-year vesting schedule.
Employees are required to complete six months of service with the Company to participate in the plan.

Under the Company’s non-qualififf ed defeff rred compensation plan, the Company matches 50% of the fiff rst 6%
of compensation contributed by each participating employee to the plan frff om the date of eligibility until the point of
time that the participating employee is eligible to participate in the Company’s 401(k) plan. Once a participating
employee is eligible to participate in the 401(k) plan, the Company match is 50% of the fiff rst 3% of compensation
contributed by the employee to the plan.
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In connection with the required matches, Company contributions to the plans were $10.7 million, $9.2 million,
and $6.6 million forff fiff scal years 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively.

12. Stockholders’ Equity

Equity-based compensation awards under the Company’s current equity incentive plan (the “2021 Equity
Incentive Plan”) include restricted stock units (“RSUs,” which include perforff mance-based stock units), restricted
stock awards (“RSAs”), non-qualififf ed stock options, and other equity compensation awards. The Company also has
an employee stock purchase plan (“ESPP”).

The Company issues new shares of Class A common stock upon exercise of stock options and the vesting of
restricted stock units. As of Januaryrr 28, 2023, there were 26.8 million shares of Class A common stock availabla e forff
issuance pursuant to futff urt e equity-based compensation awards under the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan.

The Company’s controlling parent, Scooby LP, also maintains an incentive plan (the “2016 Incentive Plan”)
under which it has awarded partnership unit awards to certain current and forff mer employees, consultants, and non-
employee directors of the Company that are restricted profiff t interests in Scooby LP subject to a distribution
threshold (“Series C Units”).

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes the Company’s equity-based compensation expense by award type (in
thousands):

Fiscal years ended
January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

January 30,
2021

(52 weeks) (52 weeks) (52 weeks)
RSUs and RSAs $ 38,146 $ 25,459 $ 1,991
Options 9,418 8,002 391
ESPP 1,274 1,034 —
Other awards 11,946 14,770 10,533
Total equity-based compensation expense $ 60,784 $ 49,265 $ 12,915
Total related tax benefiff t $ 8,160 $ 5,033 $ 329

RSUsUU and RSASS s

The Company has both time-vested RSUs and perforff mance-based RSUs. Time-vested RSUs are awarded to
eligible employees and non-employee directors and entitle the grantee to receive shares of Class A common stock at
the end of a vesting period, subject solely to the individual’s continued employment or service as a director. In most
cases, 34% of the units becomes vested on the anniversaryrr of the grant date, folff lowed by 16.5% of the units in fourff
equal semi-annual installments thereaftff er. Perforff mance-based RSUs are awarded to eligible employees and entitle
the grantee to receive shares of Class A common stock if the Company achieves specififf ed perforff mance goals during
the perforff mance period and the grantee remains employed through the vesting period.

RSU activity under the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan was as folff lows (in thousands, except per share and
contractuat l lifeff amounts):

Shares

Weighted
average
grant date
faiff r value
per share

Weighted
average
remaining
contractual
lifeff (years)

Aggregate
intrinsic
value

Nonvested, Januaryrr 29, 2022 2,587 $ 18.63 1.0 $ 47,342
Granted 7,536 15.23
Vested and delivered (1,402) 18.63
Forfeff ited/expired (919) 18.52
Nonvested, Januaryrr 28, 2023 7,802 $ 15.36 1.2 $ 91,596
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As of Januaryrr 28, 2023, unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested RSUs was $93.3 million,
which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of appra oximately 2.0 years.

RSA activity has not been material and relates to an RSA of Class A common stock granted to an executive in
March 2021. For this grant, 50% of the RSA becomes vested on each of the fiff rst two anniversaries of the grant date.

OptOO itt ons

The Company provides stock option grants, which are time-vested, as a forff m of employee compensation. In
most cases, 34% of the options generally becomes vested on the anniversaryrr of the grant date, folff lowed by 16.5% of
the options in fourff equal semi-annual installments thereaftff er. Stock options generally expire 10 years frff om the grant
date.

Stock option activity under the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan was as folff lows (in thousands, except per share and
contractuat l lifeff amounts):

Shares
subject
to options

Weighted
average

exercise price
per share

Weighted
average
remaining
contractual
lifeff (years)

Aggregate
intrinsic
value

Outstanding, Januaryrr 29, 2022 3,327 $ 18.00 9.0 $ 998
Granted 5,125 11.97
Exercised (45) 18.00
Forfeff ited/expired (593) 18.36
Outstanding, Januaryrr 28, 2023 7,814 $ 14.02 9.1 $ 3,512
Exercisabla e, Januaryrr 28, 2023 1,853 $ 18.00 7.9 $ —

No stock option awards were granted in fiff scal 2021. The faff ir value of stock option awards granted in fiff scal
2022 and 2020 was estimated at the grant dates using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the folff lowing
assumptions:

Fiscal years ended
January 28,
2023

January 30,
2021

(52 weeks) (52 weeks)
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0%
Expected volatility (1) 38.0% - 48.4% 40.4%
Risk-frff ee interest rate (2) 2.8% - 3.6% 0.7%
Expected term (3) 5.8 to 5.9 years 5.9 years
Grant date faff ir value per share $10.98 - $21.06 $18.00
Estimated faff ir value per option granted $5.46 - $8.64 $7.00

(1) The expected volatility was estimated based on the historical volatility of a select peer group of similar publicly traded companies forff a
term consistent with the expected term of the stock options.

(2) The risk-frff ee interest rates were based on the U.S. Treasuryrr constant maturt ity interest rate forff a term consistent with the expected term of
the stock options.

(3) The expected term of the stock options represents the estimated period of time until exercise and was calculated using the simplififf ed
method.

As of Januaryrr 28, 2023, unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested options was $32.1 million,
which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of appra oximately 1.8 years.
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ESEE PSS PPP

The ESPP allows eligible employees to contribute up to 15% of their base earnings towards purchases of
Class A common stock, subject to an annual maximum. The purchase price will be 85% of the lower of (i) the faff ir
market value of the stock on the associated lookback date and (ii) the faff ir market value of the stock on the last day of
the related purchase period. As of Januaryrr 28, 2023, 7.3 million shares of Class A common stock were availabla e forff
issuance under the ESPP.

Othtt er Awards

Other awards primarily consist of partnership unit awards (“Series C Units”) issued by Scooby LP to eligible
employees, consultants, and non-employee directors of the Company under the 2016 Incentive Plan, which was
establa ished in connection with the Acquisition. Series C Unit awards are restricted profiff t interests in Scooby LP
subject to a distribution threshold and have generally been issued in the forff m of time-based units that vest in three to
fiff ve equal annual installments folff lowing the grant date. In addition to acceleration upon a change in control, a
portion of grantees’ Series C Units may vest upon certain levels of direct or indirect sales by Scooby LP of the
Company’s Class A common stock, and all unvested Series C Units will fulff ly accelerate in the event Scooby LP
sells 90% of its direct or indirect holdings of the Company’s Class A common stock. No additional Series C Units
have been or will be awarded folff lowing the Company’s initial public offff eff ring.

For the Series C Units granted during fiff scal 2020, the weighted average faff ir value per unit was estimated to be
$0.44.

The weighted average faff ir value per Series C Unit was estimated at the grant date using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model with the folff lowing assumptions:

Fiscal year ended
January 30,
2021

(52 weeks)
Dividend yield 0.0%
Expected volatility (1) 60.0 - 81.9%
Weighted average volatility (1) 81.1%
Risk-frff ee interest rate (2) 0.1% - 1.3%
Expected term (3) 2.0 to 4.0 years

(1) The expected volatility was estimated based on the historical volatility of a select peer group of similar publicly traded companies forff a
term consistent with the expected term of the Series C Units.

(2) The risk-frff ee interest rates were based on the U.S. Treasuryrr constant maturt ity interest rate forff a term consistent with the expected term of
the Series C Units.

(3) The expected term of the Series C Units was based on estimated liquidity event timing.

Series C Unit activity under the 2016 Incentive Plan was as folff lows (in thousands):

Units
Outstanding, Januaryrr 29, 2022 207,178
Granted —
Forfeff ited (5,819)
Outstanding, Januaryrr 28, 2023 201,359
Vested, Januaryrr 28, 2023 151,597

Charges with respect to awards issued pursuant to the 2016 Incentive Plan are reflff ected in the Company’s
consolidated fiff nancial statements. Compensation expense related to Series C Units is generally not tax deductible.

As of Januaryrr 28, 2023, unrecognized compensation expense related to the unvested portion of Scooby LP’s
Series C Units was $9.3 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.3 years.
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Earnrr inii gs (L(( oss)s PePP r ShSS are

Shares of Class A common stock and Class B-1 common stock participate equally in the earnings and losses
of the Company and have identical rights in distribution. Basic net income (loss) per Class A and B-1 common share
is based on the weighted-average Class A and B-1 common shares outstanding during the relevant period. Diluted
net income (loss) per Class A and B-1 common share is based on the weighted-average Class A and B-1 common
shares outstanding during the relevant period adjusted forff the effff eff ct of potentially dilutive securities.

Potentially dilutive securities include potential Class A common shares related to outstanding stock options
and unvested RSUs, calculated using the treasuryrr stock method. The calculation of diluted shares outstanding
excludes options and RSUs where the combination of the exercise price (in the case of options) and the associated
unrecognized compensation expense is greater than the average market price of Class A common shares because the
inclusion of these securities would be antidilutive.

In fiff scal 2022 and 2021, there were appra oximately 6.7 million and 3.3 million potential shares, respectively,
that were anti-dilutive and excluded frff om the computation of diluted shares outstanding. In fiff scal 2020, all
outstanding stock options and unvested RSUs were excluded frff om the calculation of diluted loss per Class A and B-
1 common share, as their effff eff ct would be antidilutive in a net loss period.

Shares of Class B-2 common stock are not included in the calculation of net income (loss) per share as they
only possess voting rights. Unvested RSUs contain forff feff itabla e rights to dividend equivalent units if dividends are
paid to holders of Class A and B-1 common stock. Because the dividend equivalent units are forff feff itabla e, unvested
RSUs are not considered participating securities.

For periods prior to the Company’s conversion to a Delaware corporr ation, including fiff scal 2020 forff which a
portion of the period preceded the conversion, the Company has retrospectively presented net loss per share as if the
conversion had occurred at the beginning of the earliest period presented. The weighted average shares used in
computing net loss per Class A and B-1 common share in these periods are based on the number of Common Series
A and Common Series B Units held by members.

Prior to the conversion, the Company’s Series C Units met the defiff nition of participating securities, as they
would have participated in distributions aftff er certain appla icabla e thresholds had been met. However, such thresholds
had not been met in the periods presented, and holders of Series C Units were not contractuat lly obligated to
participate in losses of the Company. Accordingly, losses were not allocated to participating securities under the
two-class method in these periods. Following the conversion, the Company had no Series C Units outstanding.
Scooby LP’s own Series C Units (such as those granted under the 2016 Incentive Plan) do not participate in the
earnings and losses of the Company and are thereforff e not participating securities.

13. Income Taxes
Income tax expense (benefiff t) consisted of the folff lowing (in thousands):

Fiscal years ended
January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

January 30,
2021

(52 weeks) (52 weeks) (52 weeks)
Current:
Federal $ 23,141 $ 4,550 $ (29,869)
State 13,099 11,182 984

$ 36,240 $ 15,732 $ (28,885)
Defeff rred:
Federal $ 4,649 $ 39,087 $ 19,604
State (5,542) (1,346) 5,944

$ (893) $ 37,741 $ 25,548
Income tax expense (benefiff t) $ 35,347 $ 53,473 $ (3,337)
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A reconciliation of income tax expense (benefiff t) at the feff deral statutt oryrr rate with the provision forff income
taxes is as folff lows (in thousands):

Fiscal years ended
January 28, 2023 January 29, 2022 January 30, 2021
(52 weeks) (52 weeks) (52 weeks)

Income tax expense (benefiff t) at feff deral
statutt oryrr rate $26,490 21.0% $45,751 21.0% $(6,251) 21.0%
Non-deductible expenses 2,035 1.9 1,425 0.7 986 (3.3)
Equity compensation 6,754 5.4 5,988 2.7 2,212 (7.4)
State taxes, net of feff deral tax benefiff t 4,289 3.1 7,636 3.5 5,473 (18.4)
Tax credits (3,800) (3.0) (2,500) (1.1) (1,907) 6.4
Uncertain tax positions 1,142 0.9 925 0.4 4,593 (15.4)
CARES Act – carrybarr ck rate diffff eff rential — — — — (8,752) 29.3
IPO transaction costs — — (5,201) (2.4) — —
Other, net (1,563) (1.3) (551) (0.3) 309 (1.0)

$35,347 28.0% $53,473 24.5% $(3,337) 11.2%

The effff eff ctive tax rate is based on expected taxabla e income, statutt oryrr tax rates and tax planning opportunit ties
availabla e to the Company. Reserves are establa ished when positions are “more likely than not” to not be sustained if
challenged. Reserves are adjusted at each reporting period to reflff ect the impact of audit settlements, expiration of
statutt es of limitation, developments in the tax law and ongoing discussions with the tax authorities. Accruer d interest
and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions are recognized as part of the income tax provision.

On March 27, 2020, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the “Coronavirusrr Aid, Relief and Economic
Security Act” (“CARES Act”) was signed into law by the President of the United States. The CARES Act includes,
among other things, U.S. corporr ate income tax provisions related to net operating loss carrybarr ck periods, alternative
minimum tax credits, modififf cations to interest deduction limitations and technical corrections on tax depreciation
methods forff qualififf ed improvement property. The Company re-measured defeff rred tax assets related to $67.4 million
net operating losses availabla e under the CARES Act that were expected to be carried back to the fiff scal years beforff e
the Tax Act was enacted, which resulted in a benefiff t of $8.8 million that increased the effff eff ctive tax rate in the fiff scal
year ended Januaryrr 30, 2021.

During the fiff scal year ended Januaryrr 29, 2022, the Company completed its analysis of third party legal,
consulting, accounting, and other transaction costs incurred by the Company in connection with its initial public
offff eff ring on Januaryrr 13, 2021, which resulted in a benefiff t of $5.2 million that decreased the effff eff ctive tax rate in the
fiff scal year ended Januaryrr 29, 2022.



95

Signififf cant components of the Company’s defeff rred tax assets and liabia lities were as folff lows (in thousands):

January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

Defeff rred tax assets:
Inventoryrr $ 25,758 $ 21,203
Accruer d employee benefiff ts 30,847 38,670
Net operating losses, state tax credit carryfrr orff wards 5,918 5,856
Interest expense limitation carry-rr forff ward under
IRC §163(j(( ) 25,761 14,696
Lease-related items 377,270 359,677
Other 1,927 11,646

Total defeff rred tax assets 467,481 451,748
Valuation allowance (2,520) (5,863)

Net defeff rred tax assets 464,961 445,885
Defeff rred tax liabia lities:
Fixed assets (112,868) (115,621)
Intangible assets (261,333) (267,597)
Debt restrucr turt ing (1,975) (2,248)
Lease-related items (361,833) (347,501)
Investments in joint venturt es (30,073) (31,273)

Total defeff rred tax liabia lities (768,082) (764,240)
$ (303,121) $ (318,355)

In assessing the realizabia lity of defeff rred tax assets, the Company considers whether it is more likely than not
that some portion or all of the defeff rred tax assets will not be realized. With the exception to certain state net
operating losses discussed below, management believes that it is more likely than not that the Company will realize
the benefiff ts of these deductible diffff eff rences. This is based upon futff urt e reversals of existing taxabla e temporaryrr
diffff eff rences over the periods in which the defeff rred tax assets are deductible.

As of Januaryrr 28, 2023, the Company has recorded a defeff rred tax asset of $2.5 million reflff ecting the benefiff t of
$48.0 million in state income tax net operating loss carryfrr orff wards, which will begin to expire in fiff scal 2023. The
Company believes that it is more likely than not that the state net operating loss carryfrr orff ward will not be realized
and recorded a valuation allowance of $2.5 million on the defeff rred tax asset related to these state net operating loss
carryfrr orff wards as of Januaryrr 28, 2023. If or when recognized, the tax benefiff ts related to any reversal of the valuation
allowance on defeff rred tax assets will be accounted forff as a reduction of income tax expense.

The Company has appra oximately $16.4 million of unrecognized tax benefiff ts as of Januaryrr 28, 2023, of which
$4.2 million, if recognized, would impact the effff eff ctive tax rate and $12.2 million would result in an adjustment to
the net defeff rred tax liabia lity.

Changes in unrecognized tax benefiff ts, excluding interest and penalties, were as folff lows (in thousands):

January 28,
2023

January 29,
2022

Beginning balance $ 16,421 $ 16,421
Additions forff tax positions taken in prior years — —
Decreases related to lapsa e of statutt e limitation — —

Ending balance $ 16,421 $ 16,421

The Company has appra oximately $2.9 million accruer d forff interest and penalties as of Januaryrr 28, 2023 in the
consolidated balance sheets and recorded $1.3 million in interest during fiff scal 2022 in the consolidated statements of
operations. The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefiff ts as a component of
income tax expense. The Company does not anticipate that unrecognized tax benefiff ts will signififf cantly increase or
decrease over the next 12 months.
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The Company is no longer subject to examination forff U.S. feff deral income tax forff periods prior to fiff scal 2018.
The Company is no longer subject to examination by state tax authorities forff tax periods prior to fiff scal 2017. The
Company is currently under audit by various state jurisdictions forff various years. Though the estimated completion
dates of these audits are not known, it is possible that these audits will be completed within the next 12 months. In
addition, the Company does not forff esee other material changes to the feff deral or state uncertain tax positions
affff eff cting income tax expense within the next 12 months. The Company has no material forff eign operations.

14. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Changes in the balances of each component included in AOCI are presented below (net of tax, in thousands):

Derivatives

Foreign
currency
translation
adjd ustment Total

Balance at Februar ryrr 1, 2020 $ (7,903) $ (370) $ (8,273)
Other comprehensive loss beforff e
reclassififf cations (86) (905) (991)
Amounts reclassififf ed frff om AOCI 7,989 — 7,989
Other comprehensive income (loss) 7,903 (905) 6,998

Balance at Januaryrr 30, 2021 $ — $ (1,275) $ (1,275)
Other comprehensive loss — (963) (963)

Balance at Januaryrr 29, 2022 $ — $ (2,238) $ (2,238)
Other comprehensive (loss) income
beforff e reclassififf cations (2,180) 194 (1,986)
Amounts reclassififf ed frff om AOCI 127 — 127
Other comprehensive (loss) income (2,053) 194 (1,859)

Balance at Januaryrr 28, 2023 $ (2,053) $ (2,044) $ (4,098)

15. Commitments and Contingencies

Baseballll StSS aditt um NamNN inii g Righi tstt ComCC mitii mtt ent

In March 2003, the Company entered into an agreement with San Diego Ballpark Funding LLC and Padres
L.P. to name the San Diego Padres’ new stadium Petco Park. The naming rights include signage, advertising and
other promotional benefiff ts. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company pays an annual contract feff e. Fees forff fiff scal
2022, 2021, and 2020 were $4.4 million, $4.1 million, and $4.1 million, respectively. These feff es are included in
selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations, and will be adjusted by the
maximum annual change related to the San Diego consumer price index per year through the 2027 Maja or League
Baseball season.

Litii itt gati itt on

The Company is involved in legal proceedings and is subject to other claims and litigation arising in the
ordinaryrr course of its business. The Company has made accruarr ls with respect to certain of these matters, where
appra opriate, which are reflff ected in the Company’s consolidated fiff nancial statements but are not, individually or in
the aggregate, considered material. For other matters, the Company has not made accruar ls because management has
not yet determined that a loss is probabla e or because the amount of loss cannot be reasonabla y estimated. While the
ultimate outcome of the matters cannot be determined, the Company currently does not expect that these matters
will have a material adverse effff eff ct on its consolidated fiff nancial statements. The outcome of any litigation is
inherently uncertain, however, and if decided adversely to the Company, or if the Company determines that
settlement of particular litigation is appra opriate, the Company may be subject to liabia lity that could have a material
adverse effff eff ct on its consolidated fiff nancial statements.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Management’s Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that inforff mation required to be
disclosed in the reports that we fiff le or submit under the Exchange Act, is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specififf ed in the SEC’s rulr es and forff ms and that such inforff mation is accumulated
and communicated to our management, including our principal executive offff iff cer and principal fiff nancial offff iff cer, as
appra opriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required fiff nancial disclosure.

As of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our management, under the
supervision and with the participation of our principal executive offff iff cer and principal fiff nancial offff iff cer, evaluated the
effff eff ctiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act RulRR es 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e).
Based upon this evaluation, our principal executive offff iff cer and principal fiff nancial offff iff cer concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effff eff ctive at a reasonabla e assurance level as of Januaryrr 28, 2023.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible forff establa ishing and maintaining adequate internal control over fiff nancial reporting,
as defiff ned in RulRR e 13a-15(f)ff of the Exchange Act. Management has assessed the effff eff ctiveness of our internal control
over fiff nancial reporting as of Januaryrr 28, 2023 based on criteria establa ished in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. As a result
of this assessment, management concluded that, as of Januaryrr 28, 2023, we maintained effff eff ctive internal control
over fiff nancial reporting.

The effff eff ctiveness of our internal control over fiff nancial reporting as of Januaryrr 28, 2023 has been audited by
Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting fiff rm, as stated in their report that appea ars under
Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over fiff nancial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended
Januaryrr 28, 2023, which has materially affff eff cted, or is reasonabla y likely to materially affff eff ct, our internal control over
fiff nancial reporting.

Limitations on the Effff eff ctiveness of Controls

Our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over fiff nancial reporting are designed to provide
reasonabla e assurance of achieving their objectives as specififf ed abovea . Management does not expect, however, that
our disclosure controls and procedures will prevent or detect all error and frff aud. Any control system, no matter how
well designed and operated, is based on certain assumptions and can provide only reasonabla e, not absa olute,
assurance that its objectives will be met. Further, no evaluation of controls can provide absa olute assurance that
misstatements due to error or frff aud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of frff aud, if any, within the
Company have been detected.

Item 9B. Other Inforff mation.

None.
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Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

Not appla icabla e.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Offff iff cers and Corporate Governance.

Inforff mation responsive to this item is incorporrr ated herein by refeff rence to our defiff nitive proxy statement with
respect to our 2023 annual meeting of stockholders to be fiff led with the SEC within 120 days aftff er the end of our
fiff scal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Inforff mation responsive to this item is incorporr ated herein by refeff rence to our defiff nitive proxy statement with
respect to our 2023 annual meeting of stockholders to be fiff led with the SEC within 120 days aftff er the end of our
fiff scal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Benefiff cial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters.

Inforff mation responsive to this item is incorporrr ated herein by refeff rence to our defiff nitive proxy statement with
respect to our 2023 annual meeting of stockholders to be fiff led with the SEC within 120 days aftff er the end of our
fiff scal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

Inforff mation responsive to this item is incorporr ated herein by refeff rence to our defiff nitive proxy statement with
respect to our 2023 annual meeting of stockholders to be fiff led with the SEC within 120 days aftff er the end of our
fiff scal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

Inforff mation responsive to this item is incorporrr ated herein by refeff rence to our defiff nitive proxy statement with
respect to our 2023 annual meeting of stockholders to be fiff led with the SEC within 120 days aftff er the end of our
fiff scal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

1. Financial Statements

As part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the consolidated fiff nancial statements are listed in the
accompanying index to fiff nancial statements on page 62.

2. Financial Statement Schedules

Not appla icabla e.

3. Exhibit Index

The folff lowing is a list of exhibits fiff led as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or are incorporr ated herein
by refeff rence:

Exhibit
Number Description

3.1 Second Amended and Restated Certififf cate of Incorporr ation of Petco Health and Wellness Company, Inc.
(incorporrr ated by refeff rence to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, fiff led on
Januaryrr 19, 2021)

3.2 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Petco Health and Wellness Company, Inc. (incorporr ated by
refeff rence to Exhibit 3.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, fiff led on Januaryrr 19, 2021)

4.1 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Januaryrr 19, 2021, by and between Petco Health and Wellness
Company, Inc. and Scooby Aggregator, LP (incorporrr ated by refeff rence to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K, fiff led on Januaryrr 19, 2021)

4.2 Stockholder’s Agreement, dated as of Januaryrr 19, 2021, by and between Petco Health and Wellness
Company, Inc. and Scooby Aggregator, LP (incorporrr ated by refeff rence to Exhibit 4.2 of the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K, fiff led on Januaryrr 19, 2021)

4.3 Description of Securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act (incorporrr ated by
refeff rence to Exhibit 4.3 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K forff the fiff scal year ended
Januaryrr 31, 2021)

10.1† Petco Health and Wellness Company, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporrr ated by refeff rence to
Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, fiff led on Januaryrr 19, 2021)

10.2† Petco Health and Wellness Company, Inc. 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporr ated by
refeff rence to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, fiff led on Januaryrr 19, 2021)

10.3† Form of Indemnififf cation Agreement forff Directors and Certain Offff iff cers (incorporrr ated by refeff rence to
Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, fiff led on December 3, 2020)

10.4† Petco Health and Wellness Company, Inc. Executive Severance Plan and Form of Participation
Agreement (incorporrr ated by refeff rence to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K,
fiff led on September 30, 2022)

10.5† Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Petco Animal Supplies Stores, Inc., Petco
Health and Wellness Company, Inc., and Ronald Coughlin, Jr. dated December 3, 2020 (incorporrr ated by
refeff rence to Exhibit 10.23 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, fiff led on December 3,
2020)
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10.6† Employment Agreement between Petco Animal Supplies Stores, Inc. and Michael Nuzzo dated April 8,
2015 (incorporrr ated by refeff rence to Exhibit 10.4 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,
fiff led on December 3, 2020)

10.7† Amendment to Employment Agreement between Petco Animal Supplies Stores, Inc., Scooby LP, and
Michael Nuzzo dated Januaryrr 26, 2016 (incorporr ated by refeff rence to Exhibit 10.5 of the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1, fiff led on December 3, 2020)

10.8† Second Amended and Restated Special Retention Bonus Agreement between Petco Animal Supplies
Stores, Inc., Petco Health and Wellness Company, Inc., and Michael Nuzzo dated December 3, 2020
(incorporrr ated by refeff rence to Exhibit 10.13 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, fiff led
on December 3, 2020)

10.9† Separation Agreement and General Release of Claims among Petco Animal Supplies Stores, Inc.,
Michael Nuzzo, and Scooby LP dated August 30, 2022 (incorporr ated by refeff rence to Exhibit 10.2 of the
Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q forff the quarter ended October 29, 2022)

10.10† Employment Agreement between Petco Animal Supplies, Inc. and Darren MacDonald dated May 25,
2019 (incorporrr ated by refeff rence to Exhibit 10.6 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,
fiff led on December 3, 2020)

10.11† Employment Letter between Petco Animal Supplies Stores, Inc. and Justin Tichy dated September 17,
2018 (incorporrr ated by refeff rence to Exhibit 10.7 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,
fiff led on December 3, 2020)

10.12† Employment Letter between Petco Animal Supplies Stores, Inc. and Ilene Eskenazi dated July 20, 2020
(incorporrr ated by refeff rence to Exhibit 10.11 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K forff the fiff scal
year ended Januaryrr 31, 2021)

10.13† Employment Letter between Petco Animal Supplies Stores, Inc. and John Zavada dated August 21, 2016
(incorporrr ated by refeff rence to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q forff the
quarter ended April 30, 2022)

10.14† Form of Common Series C Unit Award Agreement (incorporrr ated by refeff rence to Exhibit 10.11 of the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, fiff led on December 3, 2020)

10.15† Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice and Standard Terms and Conditions under the Petco
Health and Wellness Company, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (Director Form) (incorporr ated by
refeff rence to Exhibit 99.2 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, fiff led on Januaryrr 19,
2021)

10.16† Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice and Standard Terms and Conditions under the Petco
Health and Wellness Company, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (CEO Form) (incorporrr ated by refeff rence
to Exhibit 99.3 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, fiff led on Januaryrr 19, 2021)

10.17† Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice and Standard Terms and Conditions under the Petco
Health and Wellness Company, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (Executive Form) (incorporrr ated by
refeff rence to Exhibit 99.4 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, fiff led on Januaryrr 19,
2021)

10.18† Form of Nonqualififf ed Stock Options Grant Notice and Standard Terms and Conditions under the Petco
Health and Wellness Company, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (CEO Form) (incorporrr ated by refeff rence
to Exhibit 99.5 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, fiff led on Januaryrr 19, 2021)

10.19† Form of Nonqualififf ed Stock Options Grant Notice and Standard Terms and Conditions under the Petco
Health and Wellness Company, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (Executive Form) (incorporrr ated by
refeff rence to Exhibit 99.6 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, fiff led on Januaryrr 19,
2021)
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10.20† Form of Perforff mance Stock Unit Award Grant Notice and Standard Terms and Conditions under the
Petco Health and Wellness Company, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporrr ated by refeff rence to
Exhibit 99.7 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, fiff led on Januaryrr 19, 2021)

10.21† Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice and Standard Terms and Conditions under the Petco
Health and Wellness Company, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (Retention Award Form) (incorporr ated
by refeff rence to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q forff the quarter ended
April 30, 2022)

10.22† Form of Perforff mance Stock Unit Award Grant Notice and Standard Terms and Conditions under the
Petco Health and Wellness Company, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (CEO Form) (incorporr ated by
refeff rence to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q forff the quarter ended April
30, 2022)

10.23† Form of Perforff mance Stock Unit Award Grant Notice and Standard Terms and Conditions under the
Petco Health and Wellness Company, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (Executive Form) (incorporr ated
by refeff rence to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q forff the quarter ended July
30, 2022)

10.24†* Form of Nonqualififf ed Stock Options Grant Notice and Standard Terms and Conditions under the Petco
Health and Wellness Company, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (CEO Form; 2-year vesting)

10.25†* Form of Nonqualififf ed Stock Options Grant Notice and Standard Terms and Conditions under the Petco
Health and Wellness Company, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (Executive Form; 2-year vesting)

10.26†* Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice and Standard Terms and Conditions under the Petco
Health and Wellness Company, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (Executive Form; 2-year vesting)

10.27 First Lien Credit Agreement, dated March 4, 2021, by and among Petco Health and Wellness Company,
Inc., the Lenders party thereto, and Citibank, N.A., as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent
(incorporrr ated by refeff rence to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, fiff led on
March 5, 2021)

10.28 ABL Revolving Credit Agreement, dated March 4, 2021, by and among Petco Health and Wellness
Company, Inc., the Lenders party thereto, and Citibank, N.A., as Administrative Agent and Collateral
Agent (incorporr ated by refeff rence to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, fiff led
on March 5, 2021)

10.29 ABL Guaranty, dated March 4, 2021, by and among Petco Health and Wellness Company, Inc., as
Borrower, the Guarantors frff om time to time party thereto, and Citibank, N.A., as Administrative Agent
(incorporrr ated by refeff rence to Exhibit 10.31 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K forff the fiff scal
year ended Januaryrr 31, 2021)

10.30 First Lien Guaranty, dated March 4, 2021, by and among Petco Health and Wellness Company, Inc., as
Borrower, the Guarantors frff om time to time party thereto, and Citibank, N.A., as Administrative Agent
(incorporrr ated by refeff rence to Exhibit 10.32 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K forff the fiff scal
year ended Januaryrr 31, 2021)

10.31 ABL Security Agreement, dated March 4, 2021, by and among Petco Health and Wellness Company,
Inc., as Borrower, the Grantors frff om time to time party thereto, and Citibank, N.A., as Administrative
Agent (incorporr ated by refeff rence to Exhibit 10.33 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K forff
the fiff scal year ended Januaryrr 31, 2021)

10.32 First Lien Security Agreement, dated March 4, 2021, by and among Petco Health and Wellness
Company, Inc., as Borrower, the Grantors frff om time to time party thereto, and Citibank, N.A., as
Administrative Agent (incorporr ated by refeff rence to Exhibit 10.34 of the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K forff the fiff scal year ended Januaryrr 31, 2021)

10.33 Intercreditor Agreement, dated March 4, 2021, by and among Citibank, N.A., as Revolving Credit
Collateral Agent, Citibank, N.A., as Initial Term Loan Collateral Agent, as acknowledged and agreed by
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Petco Health and Wellness Company, Inc., and the Grantors party thereto (incorporr ated by refeff rence to
Exhibit 10.35 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K forff the fiff scal year ended Januaryrr 31,
2021)

10.34 First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated December 12, 2022, by and between Petco Health and
Wellness Company, Inc. and Citibank, N.A., as administrative agent (incorporr ated by refeff rence to
Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, fiff led on December 16, 2022)

10.35 First Amendment to ABL Revolving Credit Agreement, dated December 12, 2022, by and between Petco
Health and Wellness Company, Inc. and Citibank, N.A., as administrative agent (incorporr ated by
refeff rence to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, fiff led on December 16, 2022)

21.1 List of Subsidiaries (incorporr ated by refeff rence to Exhibit 21.1 of the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form S-1, fiff led on December 3, 2020)

23* Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

31.1* Certififf cation of Principal Executive Offff iff cer Pursuant to RulRR es 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbar nes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2* Certififf cation of Principal Financial Offff iff cer Pursuant to RulRR es 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbar nes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1** Certififf cation of Principal Executive Offff iff cer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbar nes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2** Certififf cation of Principal Financial Offff iff cer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbar nes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appea ar in the Interactive Data File
because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Defiff nition Linkbase Document
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labea l Linkbase Document
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (forff matted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith and not deemed to be “fiff led” forff purposrr es of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, or incorporr ated by refeff rence into any fiff ling under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
† Management contract or compensatoryrr plan or arrangement.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the
Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Petco Health and Wellness Company, Inc.

Date: March 28, 2023 By: /s/ Ronald Coughlin, Jr.
Ronald Coughlin, Jr.
Chief Executive Offff iff cer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has been signed
below by the folff lowing persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capaa cities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Ronald Coughlin, Jr.
Ronald Coughlin, Jr.

Chief Executive Offff iff cer and Director
(principal executive offff iff cer)

March 28, 2023

/s/ Brian LaRose
Brian LaRose

Chief Financial Offff iff cer
(principal fiff nancial and accounting offff iff cer)

March 28, 2023

/s/ Maximilian Biagosch
Maximilian Biagosch Director

March 28, 2023

/s/ Cameron Breitner
Cameron Breitner Director

March 28, 2023

/s/ Garyrr Briggs
Garyrr Briggs Director

March 28, 2023

/s/ Nishad Chande
Nishad Chande Director

March 28, 2023

/s/ Christy Lake
Christy Lake Director

March 28, 2023

/s/ R. Michael Mohan
R. Michael Mohan Director

March 28, 2023

/s/ Jennifeff r Pereira
Jennifeff r Pereira Director

March 28, 2023

/s/ Sabra ina Simmons
Sabra ina Simmons Director

March 28, 2023

/s/ Christopher J. Stadler
Christopher J. Stadler Director

March 28, 2023

/s/ Maryrr Sullivan
Maryrr Sullivan Director

March 28, 2023



[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Ron Coughlin
Chairman and CEO

Maximilian Biagosch
Senior Managing Director, Global Head of Real Assets 
and Head of Europe at CPP Investments

Cameron Breitner
Managing Partner at CVC

Gary Briggs
Former Chief Marketing Officer at Facebook

Nishad Chande
Partner, U.S. Head of Consumer and Co-Head  
of Business Services at CVC

Christy Lake
Chief People Officer at Twilio

R. Michael (Mike) Mohan
Lead Independent Director; Former President and 
Chief Operating Officer at Best Buy 

Jennifer Pereira
Managing Director, Direct Private Equity  
at CPP Investments

Sabrina Simmons
Former EVP and Chief Financial Officer at Gap, Inc.

Christopher J. Stadler
Managing Partner at CVC

Mary Sullivan
Senior Managing Director and  
Chief Talent Officer at CPP Investments

MANAGEMENT TEAM
Ron Coughlin
Chairman and CEO

Amy College
Chief Merchandising Officer

Ilene Eskenazi
Chief Legal and Human Resources Officer and 
Secretary

Jason Heffelfinger
Chief Services Officer

Susanne Kogut
Petco Love President

Brian LaRose
Chief Financial Officer

Darren MacDonald
Chief Customer Officer

Katherine (Katie) Nauman
Chief Marketing Officer

Justin Tichy
Chief Pet Care Center Officer and  
Chief Operating Officer

John Zavada
Chief Administrative Officer



Petco Health & Wellness Company, Inc. 
www.petco.com

Petco National Support Center 
10850 Via Frontera 
San Diego, CA 92127

Principal Investor Contact 
Cathy Yao, VP, Investor Relations 
InvestorRelations@petco.com 
ir.petco.com

Common Stock 
Listed on Nasdaq 
Stock symbol WOOF
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